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CLEAN AIR ACT: MOTOR VEHICLE
INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE PROGRAM

THURSDAY, JUNE 29, 1995

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Environment and Public Works,

Subcommittee on Clean Air Wetlands, Private
Property and Nuclear Safety,

Washington, DC.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 1:04 p.m. in room

406, Senate Dirksen Building, Hon. Lauch Faircloth (chairman of
the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Senators Faircloth, Graham, and Chafee [ex officio].

Also present: Senator Warner.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. LAUCH FAIRCLOTH, U.S.
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

Senator Faircloth. I want to thank you all for coming today.
The chairman just arrived. Senator Chafee. I have a brief open-

ing statement, and then we will hear from our chairman.
The subcommittee will begin on what the chair anticipates will

be a series of oversight hearings on the effectiveness and imple-
mentation of the Clean Air Act. Specifically, today the subcommit-
tee will be hearing testimony on the Act's Enhanced Inspection and
Maintenance Program, the so-called I/M Program.
During the time period of these hearings, it is the chair's inten-

tion to continue to work with EPA within the existing parameters
of the Clean Air Act to ensure that the discretion given to the ad-
ministration to implement the Act effectively is appropriately exer-
cised.

The Chair strongly believes that this regulatory discretion has
not always been appropriately used. Thus, if the testimony in our
upcoming hearings indicates that EPA cannot or will not reform its

implementation of the Clean Air Act, it is the chair's intention to

recommend appropriate changes to the Act.

EPA's I/M programs have caused a near revolt when imposed on
citizens of Federal ozone nonattainment areas. Citizens in States
from California to Texas and Virginia to Maine are in an uproar
over this program. Under EPA's proposed program, car owners are
forced to get their cars inspected at inconvenient, centralized sites

at which they may spend several hours. In addition, any repairs
found necessary must be performed by a different facility before the
owner returns to the initial centralized site to have the car tested
again. In other words, in this era of privatization and decentraliza-
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tion, the EPA wants to bureaucratize and centralize yet another
function of emissions testing.

Are there remedies for the problems of EPA's I/M program? I

think so. First, and more importantly, I believe we should examine
very carefully the generic 50-percent discount for test-and-repair
programs. If EPA believes that a specific program is deficient, they
should be compelled to prove that it is and to demonstrate the ex-

tent to which it is deficient. We should remain cautious of the over-
all attitude of EPA that the burden is on the States to prove their
worthiness. That should be reversed. It should be assumed that the
States and their citizens will do the right thing. The burden of
proof ought to be placed squarely on EPA to demonstrate that a
program is defective, its participants negligent, and the citizens ac-

complices in this.

Second, the advance in quality assurance and control technology,
perhaps EPA should give States wishing to keep or start a test-

and-repair program sufficient incentives to add enhanced program
design elements—like remote sensing and videotaping of test cars.

States should be able to claim additional credit for new program
improvements, specifically designed to eliminate problem areas.

The marketplace has developed a number of vehicle verification

and fraud detection tools which would preclude any facility from
performing a compromised test. We should be encouraging the use
of these tools to provide maximum citizen convenience, while at the
same time ensuring that vehicles that need to be repaired are
being repaired.

Third, perhaps we should consider a new approach to the conflict

resolution surrounding clean air issues. Often, the most important
factors in decisionmaking are the computer models. Given the im-
portance of these models, some thought should be given to creating
a group consisting of State representatives and EPA senior officials

which will have the ability to make binding decisions on the compo-
nents of the model.

Finally, we need to address seriously the question of who is in

the best position to change the legal regime surrounding I/M. Can
EPA, which has created much of this problem through regulation,

be counted on to fix it through more regulation? Or does Congress
have a role in changing how we achieve the important air quality
goals of this Nation?

I hope this hearing will help answer some of the questions.

The Chair recognizes the distinguished gentleman from Rhode
Island and our chairman. Senator Chafee, we will be glad to hear
from you.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN H. CHAFEE, U.S.

SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND

Senator Chafee. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I am delighted you are holding this oversight hearing. I think it

is valuable. In my State, as in many of the other States, there has
been what you termed a "revolt" against the centralized inspection,

and right now the situation is more or less in limbo.

So I look forward to the witnesses that you have here, and I hope
that from this and other hearings that you will be having we can



arrive at a solution to some of these problems that are really out

there, just as you pointed out.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am looking forward to

hearing the witnesses.

Senator Faircloth. I will place in the record the statement of

Senator Inhofe, a member of this subcommittee.
[The statement of Senator Inhofe follows:]

Opening Statement of Hon. Jim Inhofe, U.S. Senator from the
State of Oklahoma

Thank you Mr. Chairman, I would hke to congratulate you on chairing this, the

first of several Clean Air Act oversight hearings. There are many problems with the

Clean Air Act, both within the statute and with how the law has been interpreted,

and I hope these hearings will provide the necessary information to guide us in

amending the law.

I would like to throw out two statistics. First, half of all regulations issued are

from the EPA, and second, half of all EPA regulations are Clean Air regulations.

The Clean Air Act of 1990 has been the most "command and control" environmental
statute ever passed. It runs counter to everything we have learned about environ-

mental protection in the past 25 years. Just as Congress, the EPA, businesses and
environmentalists all over the country began turning to pollution prevention and in-

novative approaches to environmental protection. Congress passed the most strin-

gent, dictatorial statute possible, the 1990 Clean Air Act.

The Clean Air Act set the benchmark for smog standards to 1988, the hottest

summer in the past century. The NESHAP standards were set equal to the best 20-

percent facilities in the country, without regard to where the facilities were located.

The Act has had the unintentional effect of encouraging companies to maintain old,

out-of-date facilities instead of incurring the added air control costs involved in

building new facilities, thus keeping old polluting plants in operation. And the man-
dates imposed upon the States have proven to be enormous, and the subject of to-

day's hearing on the Inspection and Maintenance Program is just one example.
I would like to thank today's witnesses in advance, particularly from the States.

I am sure we will hear today of the problems encountered with the mandated EPA
program on the States in Virginia and California, the fact that Colorado is here to

support the program tells me that the States are divided and adds to my belief that

the Federal Government cannot dictate to the States the specifics of a State-run pro-

gram such as automobile inspection and maintenance. If every State had the same
problems and concerns then we could conclude that the EPA program is wrong and
needs adjusting. But since the State response is mixed, I must conclude that we
shouldn't be mandating a specific approacn at all. We need to loosen our regulatory

grip on the States and provide them the flexibility to craft a program which meets
their needs. This was the principle behind the Unfunded Mandates debate that oc-

curred earlier this year, and is at the heart of the Regulatory Reform Debate occur-

ring on the Senate floor even as I speak.

I look forward to this hearing and additional hearings on the Clean Air Act.

Senator Faircloth. I will now ask the first panel of witnesses
to be seated, if you will come up.

We are going to have six witnesses who will be testifying today.

Although we do not have the members of the subcommittee with
us, we expect Senator Graham to be coming momentarily.
We will be delighted to hear the testimony you have to give

today, Ms. Dunlop.

STATEMENT OF HON. BECKY NORTON DUNLOP, SECRETARY
OF NATURAL RESOURCES, COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINL\;
ACCOMPANIED BY JOHN D. BOWDEN, REGIONAL COMPLI-
ANCE AND MOBILE SOURCE MANAGER FOR NORTHERN VIR-
GINIA, DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Ms. Dunlop. Well, thank you so much, Mr. Chairman and mem-
bers of your subcommittee, for inviting me here today to present
testimony on automobile emissions inspection and maintenance. I



am honored to be here today representing Virginia and our Gov-
ernor, George Allen, as well as our many citizens.

Virginia and a growing number of States across the country—

I

will now have to add Rhode Island, I guess, to my list, just hearing
from Senator Chafee about the problems that you're having—be-

lieve that the Clean Air Act has veered off course. The Federal bu-
reaucrats administering the Act, mainly the EPA, are wrong-
headed in their mandates of a "one-size-fits-all" prescription for

clean air, to the detriment of our citizens, jobs, and, frankly, to the
goal of clean air.

Let me state once again in very clear language that like most
Americans, I am for clean air. Governor Allen is for clean air. In

fact, most Virginians are for clean air. The question that is ripe for

debate is how best to achieve improvements in air quality and the
need for practical, reasonable, cost-effective, science-based ap-
proaches. I would argue that too much brain-power at the State
and Federal level which could be focused on improving air quality
is being diverted to paperwork exercises that do nothing to improve
our air quality.

The regulatory structure of the Clean Air Act serves neatly as a
microcosm of many environmental regulatory structures: Congress
passes a well-meaning but nebulously drafted law; EPA begins to

promulgate regulations which at first are only complicated, but
which over time become progressively more detached from the in-

tent and language of the original statute—as well, I might add, as
any common sense approach—and finally. States, businesses, and
citizens are left trying to decipher and implement the maze of law
and regulations.

Ultimately, the only remedy left is to attempt to relegislate the
issue. The Hydra-like regulations are impossible to untangle, and
it becomes apparent that the law is not working toward its stated
goal in a consumer-friendly, cost-effective manner.

This is the stage at which we presently find ourselves with re-

spect to the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, especially as they
pertain to automobile emissions inspection and maintenance pro-

grams.
I will be succinct in discussing this, but I would ask that my full

testimony be inserted in the record.

Senator Faircloth. It will be.

Ms. DUNLOP. Thank you. Thank you very much.
We believe there are several defects with EPA's approach to

I/M which have rendered the program unworkable in its current
form.

First, is the program's lack of emphasis on the most important
element of any program involving the public: public acceptance. It

is unfortunate that EPA did not attempt to build a program around
this premise, which hinges on consumer convenience. As States
have moved from planning to implementation, the ping-pong ef-

fect—problems associated with testing; the extreme cost of the pre-

scribed equipment; and other practical difficulties—have begun to

shift public focus away from cleaning up the air, and to the defects

of the EPA-created, centralized, "test-only" approach.
Many States have long shared EPA's initial understanding that

public support is the only method for achieving compliance with



programs, such as I/M, that affect large segments of the public.

Conversely, loud threats of punitive measures and sanctions breed
resentment and tend to confirm a general and growing belief

among the public that the program must, indeed, be significantly

flawed. Very few people have to be bullied into doing what they be-

lieve to be right.

Despite public concern over yet another function being absorbed
by Government bureaucracy, EPA decided to move ahead with
mandated. In the rulemaking they stated emphatically that "it is

not possible for a decentralized test-and-repair program to meet the

performance standard for enhanced I/M, regardless of the test type
or vehicle class coverage."

In the Clean Air Act Amendments, Congress directed EPA "to

provide the States with continued reasonable flexibility to fashion

effective, reasonable, and fair programs for the affected consumer."
Congress, in our opinion, clearly envisioned that some States would
adopt decentralized test-and-repair systems, or continue and im-
prove already existent test-and-repair systems. EPA ridiculed and
undercut this congressional intent.

After announcing that it could not accept any of the currently op-

erating decentralized programs as "equally effective to centralized,"

EPA closed the noose by making "past performance" the only meth-
od by which equivalency could be judged. In other words, even be-

fore anyone got to demonstrate anjrthing, EPA had already deter-

mined that they would fail based on past performance.
Frankly, we think that Virginia's existing program is now the

best in the country. Virginia's program is characterized by well-

trained emission inspectors and compliance officers, a reliance on
technically advanced information systems, and rigorous auditing
and enforcement. Our data suggest that Virginia's program effec-

tiveness is substantial. Furthermore, based on our improving air

quality in Northern Virginia, I believe that some credit should be
given to Virginia's Department of Environmental Quality employ-
ees responsible for improvements in this program.

Mr. Chairman, I have with me today Mr. John Bowden, who is

the head of our enforcement program in Northern Virginia, and he
advises that he would be happy to take any of you or your col-

leagues along with him for a day to demonstrate how effectively

our team works.
EPA's discount seems based on a simple predicate: Government

workers or contract employees are somehow more likely to be hon-
est than private sector garage mechanics or owners. I reject this as-

sumption, and most of us in Northern Virginia do also.

You have no doubt heard much recently about EPA's recent con-

version to flexibility in policy—a new willingness, if you will, to

grant the States flexibility in implementing I/M programs. Well, let

me say that EPA's new views are indeed welcome but, in our view,

a day late and a dollar short. EPA remains steadfast in denying
one of the most important elements the States want, full credit for

an effective test-and-repair option. By adhering to its arbitrary 50-

percent discount for test-and-repair programs, EPA continues to ef-

fectively foreclose this as an option for States. By keeping it, EPA
intentionally thwarts the will of the people in many States and ig-
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nores the will of the Congress as expressed through the Clean Air
Act Amendments of 1990.
The statutory and regulatory framework of the Clean Air Act

Amendments could be changed to accommodate States' needs and
the imperative to desigii an emissions reduction program which our
citizens will find acceptable, and which State governments will be
able to administer. Let me just mention a few ways in which we
believe this could be put into place.

Most importantly, the arbitrary discounts should be eliminated.
As it currently stands, the States must approach EPA as suppli-

cants, hoping that their programs will be granted equivalency. We
in Virginia reject this as imbalanced and unfair government. We
know that our citizens in Virginia support Virginia's standing up
for them in this regard. Given the advances in technology, we be-
lieve that EPA should amend the inspection and maintenance regu-
lations to encourage States to develop programs employing a test-

and-repair network which meets the goals outlined in the Clean
Air Act Amendments.
Perhaps the most salient new technology affecting this issue is

remote sensing. Again, EPA has been dragged to this new tech-

nology. They have not embraced it willingly. Even now, they have
yet to tell the States how much credit can be received for various
levels of commitment to remote sensing programs.

Ideally, an in-use emissions control program would be based on
identifying and correcting gross polluters in our areas. The tech-

nology which could perform this identification, remote sensing, is

clearly the most effective and consumer-friendly.
In the long term, we want to move away from strict reliance on

command and control regulatory policies and devise ways to incor-

porate incentives to encourage beneficial behavior that enhances
our air quality. Some ideas in this regard are that we could give
tax breaks for those businesses which purchase enhanced testing or
diagnostic equipment, either before it is required, or testing equip-
ment that is better than the required equipment.

Second, we can offer financial incentives for those testing station

owners who run exemplary programs.
Third, by utilizing remote sensors as screening devices, we can

waive tests for those drivers who keep their cars running clean and
in proper maintenance.
And fourth, we need to look for incentives to improve mechanic

expertise so that cars will be better maintained, and therefore run
cleaner.

Finally, it appears to be exceedingly unlikely that EPA, which
has clung tenaciously to the concept of "one-size-fits-all" regulatory
policy, will be willing to abandon it. Therefore we believe that Con-
gress should reopen the Clean Air Act and make changes to the
statutory foundation of this program.
Mr. Chairman, we in Virginia are committed to improving air

quality, and we have demonstrated this, but we need legislative re-

lief from regulatory obstacles that prevent us from pursuing this
goal.

As even one of EPA's principal staffers on this issue acknowl-
edged, "If we could turn back the clock, it is obvious that EPA
would redesign its program."



Well, you can turn back the clock and redesign this program, and
I encourage you to do just that.

Thank you for this opportunity to appear before you today, and
we look forward to working very closely with you in searching for

ways that the Clean Air Act may be improved.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Ms. Dunlop.
Now we will hear from Mr. Tom Getz, director of the Division of

Air Quality, Colorado Department of Public Health and Environ-
ment.
Mr. Getz.

STATEMENT OF TOM GETZ, DIRECTOR, DIVISION OF AIR
QUALITY, COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH
AND THE ENVIRONMENT
Mr. Getz. Thank you very much. I would like to thank you for

the invitation to appear before this subcommittee this afternoon. In

particular, I appreciate being able to present the perspective of the

Colorado Department of Public Health and the Environment on the

issue of centralized versus decentralized emission testing, and
EPA's policy of granting only 50-percent credit for State programs
which do not rely exclusively on centralized inspection testing.

Our enhanced inspection and maintenance program has been de-

signed to meet the air quality needs of Colorado. It was designed
with the basic tenet of protecting public health and welfare in

mind. The program conforms with the basic emission reduction

goals which are set out in the Clean Air Act, but foremost, it rep-

resents a program which represents the needs of Colorado.

The State remains committed to maintaining the goals of the

Act. While we believe States should have the flexibility needed to

design approaches which work best in their States, we have not

wavered from the goals of the Clean Air Act and the need to

achieve and maintain our air quality standards.

In the metropolitan Denver carbon monoxide nonattainment
area, an enhanced I/M program utilizing the IM240 test began Jan-
uary 2, 1995. This program is a hybrid program. It is a centralized

biennial inspection, with exemption for the first four model years.

Pre-1982 vehicles are inspected in private inspection stations,

using the Colorado idle test. A basic decentralized program is used
for vehicles in less serious nonattainment areas in the Fort Collins-

Colorado Springs area.

One of things that I really would have to say regarding our pro-

gram is that it's a carbon monoxide program, which is different

than ozone. In our area, over 80 percent of the inventory of emis-

sions is from mobile sources. We really don't have the flexibility of

trading reductions for mobile source emissions with stationary

source emissions. This is an important distinction that should be

considered that carbon monoxide problems are different than prob-

lems associated with ozone control.

As far as our program is concerned, we did have startup prob-

lems. The Colorado Enhanced Program, however, is beginning to

achieve some of the air quality goals which were initially set out

for it. The program is detecting vehicles with excessive emissions

and is causing these vehicles to be repaired.
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At the present time we are getting a 58-percent reduction in car-

bon monoxide and a 48-percent reduction of emissions for hydro-
carbons from vehicles that are repaired. We feel that this is criti-

cal. As the program gets fine tuned and as time goes on, the pro-

gram will become even more cost-effective and more effective in re-

ducing these emissions.

The major problems, with the introduction of the program, oc-

curred due to the limited number of inspection stations completed
at the program onset. There were also some problems with equip-

ment durability, which have been worked on, and one of the key
problems was staff inexperience of the contractor.

Excessive wait times for some motorists may have occurred, with
some vehicles being incorrectly inspected. As the system has been
built out of the initial design and equipment and personnel prob-

lems have been mitigated, the problems encountered during start-

up of the program have been dramatically decreased. Average cus-

tomer wait time has been reduced, and there has been a declining
number of violations of our 15-minute average wait time standard.
Compared to Colorado's old decentralized program, the new pro-

gram is much more effective in identifying old problem vehicles.

Vehicles such as the mid-1985 Ford Escorts which are having high
failure rates in our current program were largely missed by the old

program. We also found that other vehicles which were being iden-

tified as having high emissions in the old program are passing the
I/M 240 test. We think that this test is a better test for identifying

vehicles which have high emission characteristics.

Additionally, the use of this test is allowing the State to develop
repair procedures for these problems which have not been identi-

fied in the past.

As I have mentioned before, we are operating both a centralized

and a decentralized I/M program. Colorado has long experience
with decentralized programs and the problems connected with
them, such as incorrectly conducted inspections and the conflict of

interest which results from test-and-repair inspection stations.

Based upon this experience, our department encourages that air

quality credits be based on true air quality benefits received. We
favor an approach which provides credit for real world air quality

reductions. Centralized test-only programs which provide greater
air quality benefits than others, such as decentralized test-and-re-

pair programs, should receive more credit.

It is our opinion that EPA's 50-percent discount is reasonable
based on currently available scientific information. The State be-

lieves it is important to promote the public health and welfare
goals that are incorporated in the Clean Air Act. The air quality

standards must be met, and they must be based on good science;

they are designed to protect the public's health, and we need to

maintain these.

We also recognize the need for flexibility in technology and the
need for flexibility of the States to take approaches which fit their

specific needs. For Colorado, the IM240-based program is best
suited for our needs, which are based primarily on carbon mon-
oxide exceedances. For other States with ozone problems, this may
not be the case. Each State, however, should be given the oppor-
tunity to develop their own approaches which meet the standards



set forth in the Act. The credits in these programs should be based
on air quality benefits received, with science-based alternative

credits available for innovative strategies.

In summary, Colorado has developed an enhanced I/M program
based on the most technically correct information that is available,

and is very hesitant to compromise the criteria used in that devel-

opment. As such, the State recommends the following:

EPA should continue to develop appropriate procedures to evalu-
ate the effectiveness of centralized versus decentralized programs,
and based on this, appropriate discounts should be developed;
Standards set by the Clean Air Act should be maintained;
States should have maximum flexibility in adopting approaches,

and flexibility in technology which meets these standards;
Air quality credits must be based on true air quality benefits re-

ceived, with science-based alternative credits for innovative strate-

gies;

The conflict of interest of test-and-repair is eliminated in central-

ized inspection-only stations, and credit should be given for this;

and
EPA's 50-percent discount for test-and-repair programs is justi-

fied at this time, pending further study in this area.

As I mentioned before, our problems are carbon monoxide-based.
We have developed a hybrid program which was submitted to EPA
for approval in early 1995. Our program has been working. We
have a lot of flexibilities in our program which have been developed
which meet our needs, yet also meet the air quality goals of our
program, and we would appreciate it if this flexibility would be al-

lowed; however, it is very critical that we maintain the air quality

reductions needed.
Thank you.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Mr. Getz.
We have been joined by the very distinguished Senator Warner

from Virginia, who is head of our Transportation Subcommittee.
Senator Warner.
Senator Warner. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Chairman

Chafee and others here.

I certainly want to join in welcoming Secretary Dunlop, but
equally important is the fact that Secretary Dunlop's husband is in

the hearing room, George Dunlop. Some years before you came
here he was the chief of the Agriculture Committee, a subject about
which you have some knowledge.
Senator Faircloth. Yes. I am aware that he was a good friend

of our liberal Senator from North Carolina.
[Laughter.]
Senator Warner. No, no, easy does it. Easy does it here.

Anyway, we welcome you, Madam Secretary. You know how sup-
portive I have been and will continue to be of Governor Allen's ini-

tiative in this area, backed up by your own expert advice as his

principal adviser on this issue. I can only say to our distinguished
visitor from the EPA that this committee will be relentless in try-

ing to achieve the ultimate goals of the Clean Air Act. Speaking for

myself and, I think, a number of the members of this committee
in the last few months of change here, we want to give more rec-

ognition to the right of the States to make the determination as to
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how to get from A to B. I hope that message is sinking in where
you draw your paycheck, because we feel very strongly about it.

We want to get to clean air standards which are envisioned by
the Clean Air Act as much as any other people in any other State.

We also pride ourselvts in the ability of the administration of our
State, be it Democrat or Republican, to get from A to B, and I am
going to be very insistent on that.

I thank the chairman.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Senator Warner.
I will begin with
Senator Warner. Mr. Chairman, I am in a markup of the Armed

Services Committee and I must return shortly, so I regret the ab-

sence.

Senator FAIRCLOTH. Thank you for coming.
We will begin with questions. I have just a very few questions

for Ms. Dunlop and one or two for Mr. Getz.

Ms. Dunlop, has Virginia's General Assembly adopted a central-

ized testing plan yet?
Ms. Dunlop. No, sir, they have not. They actually voted in 1994

to hold off signing any contracts until the Allen administration
could review the program. It was during that review of the pro-

gram that we determined that the test-and-repair program, en-

hanced, would actually achieve our goals. In this last General As-
sembly session they affirmed that decision that we made by voting
in support of a decentralized test-and-repair program.
Senator FAIRCLOTH. Is Virginia currently conducting an evalua-

tion of the effectiveness of its current testing program?
Ms. Dunlop. Well, we do an ongoing evaluation. As I indicated

to you, I have the director of the Enforcement Program here. Of
course, part of his performance standard as a Government em-
ployee is to try to make certain that he is tracking the work of his

compliance inspectors every day. We have a very rigorous enforce-

ment program. We have teams of people out doing both direct au-
dits and covert audits of the program. There are punishments for

people who do not engage in proper activity, or even make mis-
takes; there are punishments for people who even make mistakes.
Mr. Bowden is a former police officer and is very proud of the

fact that his record over the past 5 years has been improving in-

creasingly.

Senator Faircloth. Well, maybe we'll hear from him before we
get on.

Ms. Dunlop, how many businesses in Virginia are currently en-

gaged in decentralized emissions testing? How many stations?

Ms. Dunlop. We have approximately 385 service stations that
are doing testing. Of course, there are many more than that that
also do repairs, but those 385 may also do repairs if the consumer
chooses. The consumer does have a choice about where to have the
vehicle repaired.

Senator Faircloth. Did you say that all of the 385 that do test-

ing offer repairs?
Ms. Dunlop. Yes, they offer repairs.

Senator Faircloth. They can fix the problem if it exists?
Ms. Dunlop. That is correct.
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Senator Faircloth. If you went to centralized testing, how many
sites do you think you would have?
Ms. DuNLOP. Based on the calculations that were done, the budg-

etary numbers, it appears that we would have about 12 sites in all

of Northern Virginia for running 600,000 tests annually.
Senator FAIRCLOTH. Twelve?
Ms. DuNLOP. Twelve.
Senator Faircloth. For
Ms. DuNLOP. For 600,000 tests.

Senator Faircloth. How often does this testing have to be done?
Ms. DuNLOP. Biennially. That means 600,000 different vehicles

annually would have to go through these 12 sites. I dare say. Con-
gress' business would probably be held up because you have a num-
ber of employees who live in Virginia and they would probably be
sitting in long lines; then when they fail, they would have to go get
their car repaired and then go sit in line again.

Senator Warner. But that's if it was centralized?

Ms. DuNLOP. Correct.

Senator Warner. Let's make that clear. Under the present pro-

gram, we can accommodate those employees of Capitol Hill

Ms. DuNLOP. We can, indeed.

Senator Warner [continuing]. And at the same time achieve
clean air standards?
Ms. DUNLOP. Our air quality is improving dramatically. In 1988

we had 72 exceedances; last summer, we had 7.

Senator Warner. Now, that's very important. If I might inter-

ject, she somewhat lightly touched on that, but the statistical data
curve is very clearly that Virginia is making substantial gains in

meeting the goals of the Clean Air Act.

Ms. DuNLOP. That is absolutely correct, and we are improving
our enforcement with our current test-and-repair program. We also

are looking for opportunities to have economic growth in Northern
Virginia so that those people who drive those polluters can trade
up into a car that no longer pollutes.

Senator Faircloth. I'm sure the dealers will be in favor of that.

Are most of these testing stations in franchised automobile deal-

erships, or independent garages, or a lot of both?
Ms. DuNLOP. I would say both.

Senator Faircloth. Franchised dealers and independent garage
owners?
Ms. DUNLOP. Yes. We have many small businessmen in Northern

Virginia who do have independent garages, and of course, this is

an important program for them.
Senator Faircloth. Do you have any idea what the cost of adopt-

ing a centralized testing program would be to the State of Virginia

in terms of jobs, revenue, taxes, and inconvenience?
Ms. DuNLOP. Well, I don't think that anybody has actually done

a calculation with respect to the inconvenience, but respect to all

the other numbers, those calculations have been run and I would
be happy to supply them to you. I don't recall them off the top of

my head.
[Information to be supplied follows:]
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Additional Information Supplied by Virginia Secretary of Natural
Resources Dunlop

Regarding State enhanced vehicle emissions inspection programs, the question
asked of Secretary Dunlop was, "What would it cost to set up a test-only vehicle

emissions inspection program in Virginia?"

In answering the question, two assumptions will be made. First, that the question
was in reference to the enhanced inspection program required in the Northern Vir-

ginia area only, and second, that the question was in reference to the potential, in-

cremental cost above that of a comparaole test-and-repair program.
The program which would be implemented in Northern Virginia, regardless of

network design, would be a biennial program and cover about 1.2 million vehicles.

A test-onlv network would have approximately 12 inspection stations (versus ap-
proximatelv 250 ^ in a test-and-repair program) and a total of 55-60 lanes. The test

fee would be $20 regardless of network design. The motorist is charged a fee of $4
per vehicle per 2-year test cycle at the time of registration for oversight costs the
State must bear. This amounts to a basic cost for each vehicle of $24 per biennium.
A retest is free if performed within 14 days. A passing certificate or a waiver is good
for 2 years.

If a test-only design is implemented, inspection stations would be fewer in number
but have more inspection lanes per station. This means that there is a potential for

increased driving distance to the inspection station. Since Northern Virginia is such
a congested area, a small increase in drive distance can translate to a significant

increase in drive time. It is estimated that the average motorist could expect to

drive an extra 30 minutes to get to a test-only inspection station and also a return
trip of an additional 30 minutes. At an hourly labor cost of $15, this amounts to

an extra cost of $18,000,000 for the 1.2 million motorists every 2 years.

Perhaps the most distressing aspect of a test-only network design is the fact that,

after failing a test, the motorist must drive to a different location to obtain repairs
and then back to the inspection station to get retested. This has been dubbea the
"ping-pong" effect. This driving exercise may take the average motorist a half a day
to accomplish. We assume that approximately 20 percent of motorists will fail the
test and require repairs. For the 240,000 motorists who would be expected to fail,

this extra 4 hours of time at $15 per hour would cost $14,400,000 every 2 years.

Another particularly egregious aspect of test-only designs is that the repair facil-

ity may not be able to assure the motorist that the repairs will definitely cause the
vehicle to pass the retest. Consequently, as the State of Maine experienced, there
is a retest failure rate of approximately 40 percent. That is, 40 percent of those vehi-

cles which get repaired ana are submitted for retest will fail again, the repair hav-
ing been ineffectual. This means the motorist will have to return to the repair facil-

ity for additional repairs and then go back to the test facility once more. This third
test will cost the motorist $20 and the ping-pong effect will occur again. For the
96,000 vehicles which will fail the retest, the ping-pong drive time will cost

$1,440,000 and the $20 retest fee will total $1,920,000.
The grant total for these factors is $35,760,000 more than our citizens are cur-

rently paying and the goal is to improve just 7 hours or even days of ozone
exceedances.
One final factor which affects a smaller population is potential job loss among ex-

isting emissions inspectors. There are approximately 1,000 licensed emissions in-

spectors in Northern Virginia. By the service industry's estimate, half of their labor
time is spent on safety inspections. This means that 50 percent of these jobs, or 500
people, are full time emissions inspector jobs. A test-only program would employ ap-
proximately 330 inspectors [6 inspectors per lane in 55 lanes (this includes any re-

quired management personnel)]. Six inspectors are required because the stations
would work two shifts and have multiple inspectors per lane. This factor could
eliminate approximately 170 private industry inspector jobs.

Ms. Dunlop. But I can tell you, Senator, that I have had many
people who ordinarily disagree with the Allen administration on
points of philosophy who have come to me privately to remind me
that the value of an individual's time is seldom calculated when we
think in terms of the cost of some of these "sit and wait" programs.

'There are 385 test-and-repair stations participating in Northern Virginia's current program.
The Virginia Department of Environmental Quality estimates that the most expensive testing
equipment required in its proposed enhanced test-and-repair program will cause a reduction in

the number of operators.
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And then we talk about issues such as "environmental justice;"

I know that's an important term being heard in the Capitol these

days. Of course, oftentimes we find that the people who have the

older vehicles that are more likely—although not always—the gross

polluters are those on the lower end of the income scale, the hourly

wage employees who are least able to spend time sitting in a long

line, and then taking their car elsewhere to have it repaired. So we
think that the cost to the consumers in terms of their time, prop-

erly calculated, would actually be the highest cost of this program.

Senator Faircloth. That's the reason I asked the question.

One last question, and it's a hypothetical question. If you could

change one element of the Clean Air Act to make it work better in

Virginia, what would it be?
Ms. DUNLOP. Gosh, that's a very tough question. Obviously, Sen-

ator, I would have to say, as we're looking at the sanctions provi-

sions of a number of aspects of the Clean Air Act—this is probably

the most troubling to us—we think there are Constitutional ques-

tions. We have raised this in the court system through lawsuits,

and we believe that that would probably be the area that needs to

be fixed most quickly.

Senator Faircloth. Mr. Getz, I'm using up my time and I'm

going to go to the other Senators, but I have one quick question for

you, and then I'll end that.

Did I understand you correctly? Did you say the States should

have the right to select whatever method they want to do this in-

spection?
Mr. Getz. Yes, sir, I did. I said that the most important thing

is to meet the air quality objectives of the non-attainment area.

The State should be required to demonstrate the air quality reduc-

tions to meet those objectives, whether it be a centralized program
or a decentralized program. In our viewpoint the reductions must
be based on good, sound science.

Senator Faircloth. Thank you.

Senator Chafee.
Senator Chafee. Senator Warner, I know you have a markup to

attend, and I would be perfectly glad to wait if you want to go

ahead.
Senator Warner. If I may, thank you very much.
I just would like to ask our Secretary this. EPA has announced

a new approach to evaluating the State plans. What do you feel

this new approach may achieve?
Ms. DuNLOP. Well, as always we are hopeful. Senator Warner.

Our Chief of Enforcement for the Northern Virginia area recently

made a presentation to the new director of the Mobile Source Of-

fice, and we have high hopes that we will be granted 100-percent

credit for what we think is a very effective program.
Senator Warner. Good.
Mr. Getz, I'm interested in how your State overcame the problem

of inconvenience. I want to spell that out a little bit more in my
question. I didn't mean to be trite when saying we're trying to ac-

commodate the employees of the Hill. Of course in my State, in

Northern Virginia, all the citizens are concerned with air pollution,

and certainly the test models show that in this area of Northern
Virginia, which is now overburdened with its mobility—every road
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is clogged—suddenly, if we took and centralized one of these
things, we would have lines that go to the horizon, in our judg-
ment.
So it is a matter of inconvenience in a highly congested metro-

politan area. I have some knowledge of your State; some of my
family are resident there. I don't know of any parallel in Colorado
to the congestion and concentration of people that we have in Vir-

ginia.

So what you are experiencing in overcoming inconvenience is im-
portant, and I would like to know how you went about it.

Mr. Getz. Yes, sir. I think we still have more work to do in this

area. We are not there yet. We are not entirely happy with out
wait times

Senator Warner. Which is how much now, your wait time?
Mr. Getz. Our average wait time is 9 minutes. The average

when the program started was approximately 14 minutes, on an
average. Now, that can be misleading because there is about a 12-

hour time period, and there were certain times early on in the pro-

gram when the 10 o'clock to 2 o'clock time period was very con-
gested and wait lines could have gone as high as 45 minutes for

an individual person.
One of the things that the contractor did in order to reduce the

wait time, was to discount the cost of the test at the beginning of
the day and at the end of the day. This strategy reduced the num-
ber of cars being inspected in the middle of the day. We have about
as many people going in for inspections early in the morning as we
do during the lunch hour rush hour.
We also had a provision within the contract to say that if we did

experience wait times, the stations would be designed to accommo-
date additional lanes. Early in the program we found out that we
did have a need for expansion, and it is occurring right now. With-
in the next 30 days we will have an additional six or seven lanes
added to the system.
Senator Warner. Are you familiar enough with Northern Vir-

ginia to say that your centralized feature is in an area quite dif-

ferent from what we have in Northern Virginia?
Mr. Getz. I would say there would be some people in the Denver

metropolitan area who would say that the roads are too congested
right now. Senator. I lived in Northern Virginia a number of years
ago so I am familiar with the area. I would say that your densities
would probably be greater here than in Colorado.
Probably one of the complaints with the Colorado program was

the citing of the stations. There were concerns that more stations
should be located in Denver.
We did, however, meet all the criteria that 85 percent of the pop-

ulation has to

Senator Warner. I appreciate your concurrence in my view, that
you don't have anything quite like Northern Virginia.

Secretary Dunlop, do you feel that Colorado's baseline of experi-
ence with centralized inspection could overlay in any way what you
could have done in Northern Virginia? And specifically, what kind
of wait times did you calculate for Northern Virginia?
Ms. Dunlop. Let me say first of all that I am very pleased to

learn that the Colorado plan is working for Colorado. Of course, our
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whole goal, as you and I have discussed, is that every area should

be able to design a plan that we believe will work best for that

area, and that is one of the points that we've made.
As we developed the contract for a centralized program, we wrote

into that contract that there would be no longer than an average

wait time of 15 minutes or the contractor would be fmed. But as

my colleague here pointed out, averaging out wait time makes it

look a lot more "average," if you will. And as you well know and
the other Senators well know, our work force in Northern Virginia

is pretty much a "9 o'clock to 5 o'clock at the office" work force, and
probably more like 8:30 to 7 o'clock. We would have expected that

we would have had long lines early in the morning, however early

we had the stations open; slack times during the day; and then

long lines in the evenings and on the weekends, and those wait

times would be very long, while during the day you may have no
wait time. So when you averaged it out, the contractor might well

be able to come back and say, "Well, the average wait was only 15

minutes," but of course that does not make happy the consumer
who sat in line for 2 hours and then had to take his car elsewhere

to have it repaired.

Senator Warner. Other than being just wasted time, it's wasted
personal and family time. That time is getting more precious now
because in so many families both parents are working and there's

so little time left for job and family.

Now, I guess we can't ask EPA, but I'll have a question relative

to their comment that Virginia has now reached 7 days last

year-
Ms. DUNLOP. Actually, it would be 7 hours.

Senator Warner [continuing]. I mean 7 hours. That's pretty

good.

Thank you very much.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Senator Warner.
Senator Chafee.
Senator Chafee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Dunlop, why are you here? You are satisfied with what you

have done there, and you are objecting to not getting full credit, is

that it? You object to the 50-percent provision?

Ms. Dunlop. We do in Virginia. Of course, I'm here because I

was asked to come.
[Laughter.]

Senator Chafee. Well, I know you're here because you were
asked. It's like in the Supreme Court, they once asked a lawyer,

"How did you get here," through what circuit, and so forth. "Well,

I came up on the Southern Railroad."

I know you are here because you were invited, but you are here

because you believe that your system has proven effective as far as

you can tell, and therefore you don't like the 50-percent discount

that you receive because you don't have the centralized testing. Is

that it?

Ms. Dunlop. Yes, that's correct. We have other concerns; for in-

stance, we think remote sensing should be able to be a more well-

used component for which one would get credit to identify gross

polluters. But with respect specifically to the decentralized versus
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centralized, we think our decentralized program deserves 100-per-

cent credit.

Senator Chafee. Now, I am interested in this remote testing fa-

cility. You yourself, I think in your testimony, suggested that it's

got a lot of problems with it. Frankly, I've never seen one. I've seen
the dynamometer; it's pretty impressive but very expensive. I guess
those things go a couple hundred thousand dollars, don't they?
Ms. DUNLOP. Well, I am told the IM240 equipment, which in-

cludes the dynamometer, runs about $140,000, and of course for a
service station, that would be a lot of money.
Senator Chafee. How much would it be?
Ms. DUNLOP. About $140,000.
Senator Chafee. What do you say, Mr. Getz? Is that about right?

Mr. Getz. If you include all the hardware, including the dyna-
mometer, that's true. You can get that cost lower, but that's the
ballpark figure. You have to look at the whole system, though.

Senator Chafee. Where I saw it, actually, was in Mexico City
where they have a very strict system. You get a sticker on your car,

and if you're supposed to have a red sticker but you've got the blue
period from the past period, you have to come back.
But on the remote sensing, how have you found that working,

your folks? You indicated that you had some reservations about it.

Ms. DuNLOP. Well, I have heard concerns expressed. I can tell

you that Arizona has begun using it, and they are telling me they
are very pleased, and I believe you have a witness later who will

speak more specifically to remote sensing.

Senator I will tell you that on July 29 we are having an innova-
tive technology fair at Springfield Mall in Northern Virginia, and
Mr. Bowden informed me as I arrived today that he has arranged
to have remote sensing there. So we invite you to Springfield Mall
to see some innovative technology to help us improve air quality in

Northern Virginia, and one of those pieces of equipment will be re-

mote sensing equipment.
Senator Chafee. Well, I would be very nervous about coming be-

cause I have a Ford Escort
[Laughter.]
Senator Chafee. It sounds interesting. I noticed that Mr. Getz

laid considerable stress on the conflict of interest when you have
your local filling station man do the work. What do you say about
that, Ms. Dunlop? By the way, we have a safety inspection system
we've had in operation for many years in my State which is per-

formed by the local filling station. I don't want to be cynical, but
I think the approval rate is about 99.9 percent of everybody that
comes through any of those stations, particularly if you're a regular
customer.
So I have some skepticism about the validity of the local station

doing it. What's been your experience?
Ms. Dunlop. Well, in Virginia we have a high degree of con-

fidence in the integrity of our service station personnel, both own-
ers and emissions inspectors. I would say that by and large they
live in the area and they want to improve the air quality, and most
of them understand that it is the improperly maintained auto-
mobile that contributes gross amounts of pollution. So I recognize
you may have a staff member or two who lives in Northern Vir-
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ginia and perhaps who has been passed when they should have
been failed

Senator Chafee. No, I wasn't talking about your State. I was
talking about my State, and now I am confident my car will be re-

jected the next time I go there.

[Laughter.]
Ms. DUNLOP. Let me just say that we believe that by and large,

our service station owners and inspectors are honest people of in-

tegrity. However, let me simply say we have a very strong enforce-

ment program, and our enforcement people do not hesitate to take

action against people who are not handling their work properly.

Senator Chafee. How does the enforcement program work? In

other words, you find somebody who has passed, and then you
check on that individual? Or do you pick that individual up in some
fashion, and then check back with the station—what do you do,

give them a sticker if they've passed?
Ms. DuNLOP. May I ask my expert to come up and answer these

questions?
Senator Chafee. Sure. We are delighted to have him.

Ms. DuNLOP. This is Mr. John Bowden, and he is a champion en-

forcement person, although not related to Bobby Bowden, the

champion football coach.

Senator Chafee. All right. Thank you.

Mr. Bowden. Senator Chafee, in Virginia we do have a very

strong enforcement program, and the key is to hire competent, pro-

fessional, well-trained, dedicated compliance staff, and they serve

as a sounding board and a resource to the public. We get calls for

a variety of reasons all the time, every day; citizens are calling us

because they want to check on the validity of their tests, or they

have some reason to doubt. People will fail, and they want to know,
"Did I actually fail?"

So we have a response mechanism. We will conduct referee in-

spections, and we will thoroughly and fully investigate—and we do

this all the time—any citizen who has a complaint or an inquiry

regarding the validity of their test or repairs. Our staff is well-

trained and fully qualified in automotive technology, in the equip-

ment that is being used. We audit these stations continuously. In

Virginia we have conducted over 2,000 audits every year on these

stations on a regular basis.

Senator Chafee. How does an audit work? You mean that you
bring in an automobile and have them check it out?

Mr. Bowden. Yes, sir. We have what are called covert audits

where we will fix a car to fail in a variety of ways. It's an under-

cover officer, and it has regular tags and everything. We will bring

that car into the station and see how they perform the inspection

or any other aspects of the procedure. We record that data, and if

we see things that are done inappropriately, then we are right back

out there the next day taking enforcement action. It's a big deter-

rent.

We also have what we call regular audits. We audit each station

at least four to five times a year; right now, we're averaging about

five times a year, on a regular basis. We go into that station and
we do a complete check of their equipment, of all their licensing,

of their inspectors, and everything that they do from A to Z.
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Senator Chafee. How many people do you have on your staff,

sir?

Mr. BOWDEN. I have a staff of 12 in Northern Virginia; that in-

cludes the office staff.

Senator Chafee. Are you responsible just for Northern Virginia?

Mr. BowDEN. Yes, sir.

Senator Chafee. I see.

Mr. Getz, in your remarks you indicated that you were a com-
bination of—that you are operating both centralized and decentral-

ized I/M programs. Now, how does that work as far as the credit

goes?
Mr. Getz. We have two different sets of credits for the outside

part of our nonattainment—there are actually a couple of non-
attainment areas, one in Colorado Springs and one in Greeley, and
they have a smaller air quality problem, so they operate a decen-
tralized program and they do not get full credit like we do in the

centralized area within Denver, where we get the full IM240 credit.

Also, within the centralized I/M program we sort of have a hy-

brid program where we have a centralized contractor-run program
for the newer vehicles, and then for the older vehicles we allow pri-

vately owned test-only stations, which are smaller facilities, to test

the older fleet. So we have a hybrid program, and I think we have
the best of both worlds.
Senator Chafee. I suppose when you get an average, as you say,

of—what did you say, you were down to 9 minutes or something,
that's an average, but the waits could be longer than that. You
could probably get—you said 45 minutes is about your maximum
wait?

Mr. Getz. Yes, sir. If you look at the overall time period, we find

that about 97 percent of the time the average wait is less than 15

minutes. It's only that 3 percent of the time period within the
month when we have problems.

Senator Chafee. Then once you're in the testing, how long does
that take?
Mr. Getz. The testing cycle can last as long as 6 minutes to do

the testing, although we have a provision called "fast pass," and we
have a second-by-second analysis of the program. We can actually

put somebody out prior to the 6 minutes; we can actually pass
somebody within the first minutes. There are other times, too,

where we may have to go over the trace again, so that it may take
longer. So the time within the testing can range probably between
5 and 20 minutes, somewhere in there.

Senator Chafee. And if somebody fails, then they come back?
Mr. Getz. Yes.
Senator CHAFEE. And there's a free retest if they come back

within the first 10 days.
How much does the test cost?
Mr. Getz. The test is $24.50.
Senator Chafee. In your situation, it's left up to the individual

station owner?
Mr. Bowden. No, sir. The maximum fee they can charge is

$11.40. They can charge anything less than that, but no more.
Mr. Getz. Let me follow up. Our test is a biennial inspection, so

it's $24.50 every 2 years.
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Mr. BOWDEN. As is ours.

Senator Chafee. I think I'll get my test in Virginia, Mr. Getz.

[Laughter.]
Senator Faircloth. Did you say yours is every 2 years?
Mr. Getz. Yes, sir.

Senator Faircloth. How often is Virginia?
Mr. BowDEN. Every 2 years. Once every 2 years.

Senator Faircloth. So the inspection lasts for 2 years.

Senator Chafee. And then, also, there is no inspection on the car

during the first x years of its life?

Mr. BowDEN. That's correct. If a vehicle has been purchased
after October 1994, there are no inspections for 4 years. The only

time you would have to get your car inspected would be if you sold

it, and then the new owner would have to get the car inspected.

So there's a provision in our act that requires vehicles on change
of ownership to get the vehicles retested.

Senator Chafee. Do you have anything like this remote sensing
device that Ms. Dunlop was talking about?
Mr. Getz. We have used remote sensing in the past in Colorado.

As part of our contract with our contractor, there is a provision

that we have to spend on the order of $450,000 this year on a re-

mote sensing approach. We are designing a program right now to

implement in the fall. We are looking at it in three different ways.
We are trying to determine the possibility of using remote sensing

in the Greeley area. In this way we can determine the emission fac-

tors in a basic program versus decentralized program.
One of the things we feel very strongly about in remote sensing

is the ability to calculate fleet-wide emissions of the car fleet to try

to determine the overall emission levels of a fleet of vehicles. We
will be using this approach to compare our centralized system ver-

sus the basic program. We are also looking at remote sensing to

conduct correlation studies on IM240 versus remote sensing, and
third, we are also going to be looking at remote sensing for a way
to pick out clean cars. We have been studying the California data
very closely, and it appears that one of the strongest correlations

with remote sensing is to find clean cars. This might be one way
to make the program more consumer-friendly, that is to use remote
sensing to show that a vehicle is clean and thereby avoiding an in-

spection cycle.

Senator Chafee. How does the remote sensing—just briefly,

what is it?

Mr. Getz. Remote sensing is a way that you can catch the carbon
monoxide, NOx, and hydrocarbons which

Senator Chafee. Does the vehicle have to be in a stationary posi-

tion? How do you do it?

Mr. Getz. The current way that most people do it is that the ve-

hicle drives by the sensor. The sensor has to be in a single lane,

and there must be adequate space between the previous car; other-

wise, you can be measuring the emissions from the vehicles.

One of the things that we're concerned about with remote sens-

ing is that it is an emissions snapshot of a vehicle. A vehicle has
different emissions characteristics during different driving condi-

tions. In order to assess a vehicle during these conditions we will

be evaluating a program in Ontario where they have a number on
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ramps and off ramps. In this way we can evaluate down remote
sensing in some controlled driving modes.
There are some problems with remote sensing, but I think there

needs to be more work and more investigation done to look at that
technology.

Senator Chafee. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Senator Chafee.
I see where Mr. Getz was in Rhode Island for about 16 years or

so.

Mr. Getz. Yes, sir. And I would also have to observe Senator
Chafee's comments about the private garage system. One of my
first tasks in Rhode Island was to look at the inspection and main-
tenance program in the State. As you mentioned, there were some
problems.
Senator Faircloth. Mr. Getz, I have a copy of a letter here from

the Colorado Democratic Caucus and the Colorado Department of
Revenue and the Department of Public Health and the Environ-
ment, and I will enter the letter into the record.

[The referenced letter follows:]
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Mr. Fagan and Ms. Shwayder

Page 2

(1) determine how waiting ;imes will be reduced to 15 minutes or less at all testing

stations, including a plan to process vehicles from auto dealers and other fleets in

a manner that does not impact individual motorists. This plan should include a

provision for free testing if the l5-minute waiting time is exceeded,

(2) correct problems with faulty dynamometers,

(3) make sure that computer software operates properly and consistently so vehicles

are tested accurately,

(4) provide additional training for employees so that all are adequately trained in the

use of equipment and correct processing of paperwork.

The delays and damages to vehicles are inexcusable. The report last week that

Envirotest plans to require more training of employees is too little, too late. We urge you

to impose the maximum fines on Envirotest for the inconvenience they have caused

thousands of Coloradans.

We take very seriously our duty to the people of Colorado. Clean air and customer

service will continue to be the Democratic Caucus' bottom line on this issue. In order to

fulfill our obligation, we believe it is necessary under the current circumstances, to ask

you to take bold action in order to force Envirotest to meet its contractual obligations.

If the company is unwilling to make the necessary corrections within the next thirty days,

we recommend that Envirotest's contract be terminated.

Peggy Kerns

House Minority Leader

Peggy Reeves

House Minority Caucus Chair

Diana DeGette

Assistant House Jv44fionty Leader

alenda Swartson Lyie

House Minority Whip
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Senator Faircloth. From the tone of this letter, it seems that

a lot of people in Colorado are having a much worse time with this

IM240 program than you might have indicated here today, so much
so that the House Majority Leader and other Democrats demanded
the Departments of Revenue and the Environment to immediately
suspend mandatory centralized emission testing and take bold ac-

tion to decentralize the testing, that the people doing the testing

are poorly trained technicians, and many problems with it.

Would you care to respond to that? And are you familiar with the

letter?

Mr. Getz. I am not familiar with the letter, but I can certainly

go through the legislative experience in the State of Colorado this

year and shed some light on the thinking of the legislature, if you'd

be interested in that. Senator.

This year there were a number of bills—I would say three or four

bills which would have killed the program. The Colorado Senate
and House in every case rejected those bills. There were concerns

raised early on in the program, and there were hearings in Janu-
ary and February concerning these problems. One of the start-up

problems was the inability to produce zoning permits in a timely

fashion for a number of sites. Therefore the construction of the fa-

cilities was delayed. This caused a lot of the problems with the

startup of the program.
The legislature acknowledged the start-up problems and wanted

to give this program a chance to sort out its problems. The legisla-

ture told the contractor loud and clear that they will give him this

year to work on those problems, and if they are not resolved, then
the issue will be reviewed. I think everybody in the last 4 months
has been working very hard to mitigate the problems. There has
been a lot of changes in the contractor in order to make positive

changes in the program.
Senator Faircloth. I thank you, Mr. Getz.

Do you have any other questions. Senator Chafee?
Senator Chafee. Yes, just one quick question, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Getz, if the differential between the credits given for central-

ized versus decentralized were eliminated, would that kill the cen-

tralized effort?

Mr. Getz. I think it would have severe ramifications within the

State. No. 1, if they just eliminated that difference, it would be the

wrong decision. We have to make the decision based on sound
science. We have seen problems within our own program which
would, in our mind, indicate that there is a difference between the

two programs, and I think
Senator Chafee. In other words, you believe that the centralized

system, using the equipment—that is quite sophisticated—that you
are achieving a greater reduction in emissions?
Mr. Getz. There's no doubt in my mind, Senator, that that's true,

that the IM240 test is a much more sophisticated test, and we will

get more emission reductions.

If we went to a basic program, my concern would be that we
would not meet our clean air objectives in carbon monoxide. As I

mentioned before, we don't have the ability to reduce emissions
from stationary sources and to look at regulations on the stationary

sources.



24

Senator Chafee. Any other States doing centralized that you
know of? As you pointed out, in your State you have centralized in

some nonattainment areas but not in others.

Mr. Getz. Yes, that's correct.

Senator Chafee. Other States, Arizona, California

Mr. Getz. I believe Arizona has a centralized program. I believe
Wisconsin is moving in that direction. Connecticut is also moving
in that direction, too.

Senator Chafee. But absent the differentiation in the credit

Mr. Getz. Excuse me, I didn't hear your question. Senator.
Senator Chafee. Absent the differentiation in credit, not getting

the 50-percent credit, that's the incentive for pushing toward cen-
tralized?

Mr. Getz. Well, I think the issue really comes down to emission
reductions, yes. Whether it's 50 percent, 45 percent, or whatever
that number is, certainly m our minds the IM240 technology shows
us we can get additional credits, and we need those credits to meet
our carbon monoxide standard.

Senator Chafee. Thank you.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you. Senator Chafee.
My question is this. You say the 50-percent reduction if you use

decentralized—^you only get credit for 50 percent of your reduction
if you use decentralized testing, is that the way it works?
Mr. Getz. Yes.
Senator Faircloth. I understand that. Well, why not get credit

for the reduction you produce? Why a percentage of it?

Ms. Dunlop, if you are reducing your pollution in Virginia by 75
percent, why not get credit for 75 percent?
Ms. Dunlop. Well, Senator, that's what we feel very strongly

about in Virginia. We have come a long way in terms of improving
our air quality and reducing emissions, and we think that our cur-

rent program has done a very good job. We have made representa-
tions to EPA about our willingness to enhance our program and
use more sophisticated equipment, although not the IM240 equip-

ment, and strengthen our training programs for mechanics and in-

spectors. We believe that by enhancing our program and using re-

mote sensing to both identify the gross polluters, who are really the
biggest part of the problem in the mobile sources, as well as elimi-

nating the need to test clean cars, that you will have the result

that we all seek, which is improving the air quality.

Senator FAIRCLOTH. Well, that's what we're after. It seems ludi-

crous to me that you only get credit for half of your reduction if

you do it with one machine rather than another.
Now, Senator Chafee, you will be much surprised to know that

I have owned many dynamometers and know how to run one.

[Laughter.]
Senator Faircloth. So I just can't see the credit you would get

because of the type of machine you use.

Ms. Dunlop. Another big difference. Senator, if you will, is the
cost differential. These pieces of equipment are incredibly expen-
sive. It would very much discourage local service station operators
from purchasing them and putting them in their garages—if they
could fit them in their garages—so you would end up increasing
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the cost to get any additional reductions you might get by quite an
enormous sum of money.
Mr. Getz. Senator, I would agree with you that it's appropriate

to get the appropriate credit, based on the technology that you're

using. I think that's the issue. I don't think we should be worrying
about the numbers. I think it's up to the States to show what kinds
of emission reductions we get.

There is a difference, though, however, on the technology of ma-
chines. The IM240 tests vehicles under load, and I think that's one
of the reasons why we feel very positive about it. Under our old

program we were missing a lot of vehicles that had emission char-

acteristics that we were saying were clean cars; under the IM240
we found out that these cars are actually a lot dirtier than they
were. Also, under the old idle tests we found out that a lot of the
vehicles were showing up as dirty, and under the IM240, which is

actually pressing the engine and making it drive under typical

driving conditions, we're finding out that they were clean.

So the question comes down whether the technology really can
identify different kinds of vehicles, and your emission credit should
be dependent upon the dirty vehicles that you find, and also how
they are being repaired.

Senator Faircloth. One quick question. What you're saying is

that testing it under load conditions, which is what a dynamometer
does—we use them on trucks, and then you, by water pressure,

force the vehicle to pull as if it were climbing under great stress

and strain, and you can actually stall it.

So you're saying that the difference is an idle test or a stress

test?

Mr. Getz. Yes.
Senator Faircloth. All right. Thank you.
We will move on to the next panel.

Thank you, Ms. Nichols.

EPA has expressed concern about the integrity—Ms. Nichols, do
you have an opening statement?

Ms. Nichols. I do, Mr. Chairman, but I would be happy to waive
it. You have been listening to the information here.

Senator Faircloth. No, go ahead. How long is it?

Ms. Nichols. Well, let me tell you. It is about 5 pages, and I will

try to summarize if I can.

Senator FAIRCLOTH. All right. Go right ahead.
Ms. Nichols. Thank you.

STATEMENT OF MARY NICHOLS, ASSISTANT ADMINISTRATOR
FOR AIR AND RADIATION, ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
AGENCY
Ms. Nichols. Mr. Chairman, air pollution continues to be a

major public health problem in nearly every major city across the
United States. Many citizens who live and work in our urban areas
are exposed to unhealthy levels of carbon monoxide and smog. Like
cars and trucks, air pollution also travels hundreds of miles.

The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 established a carefully

balanced and comprehensive approach to protecting our health by
reducing the threat of air pollution. The law requires every sector

to contribute its fair share in lowering emissions of harmful pollut-
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ants: factories, power plants, large and small businesses, auto mak-
ers, fuel providers, and individual car owners have also been asked
to do their part.

Automobiles continue to be a significant source of pollution. The
vehicle inspection and maintenance program is a critical element
in our national effort to improve air quality and to protect human
health.

The goal of this Administration is to implement the I/M program
(inspection and maintenance program) in ways that make both eco-

nomic and environmental sense. The three most common-sense and
cost-effective ways to control air pollution from motor vehicles are
(a) cleaner cars, (b) cleaner fuels, and (c) better maintenance. To
achieve cleaner cars, we have been working with the auto manufac-
turers to improve new car technology and, of course, tremendous
progress has been made. New cars today emit 90 percent less pollu-

tion than they did 20 years ago, but the sad fact is that cars dete-

riorate as they age, and even the highly sophisticated computer-
controlled and fuel-injected cars that are being produced today
often pollute between 2 and 17 times as much as the new car
standards which they were designed to meet.
An inspection program is the cleanest, cheapest, and smartest

way to identify those cars that would benefit from repairs and en-
sure that the repairs are made effectively, thereby protecting public
health.

Congress first required States to begin inspection and mainte-
nance programs in the 1977 amendments to the Clean Air Act.

Some States chose to implement programs with stations that only
perform tests, while other States adopted programs that allow auto
repair shops to perform both the testing and repairs. At the time,
under the 1977 amendments, EPA policy gave equal emissions re-

duction credit both to the test-only and to the test-and-repair net-

works.
Over the past 15 years, EPA and States have collected and ana-

lyzed a vast array of data on inspection and maintenance effective-

ness and how it relates to program design. We found that test-and-
repair programs are much less effective in reducing emissions lev-

els for protection of public health than test-only programs. The
Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 specified that serious, severe,

and extreme ozone nonattainment areas—in other words, the ones
with the worst air pollution—and all the large cities within the
Northeast Ozone Transport Region improve or enhance their exist-

ing I/M programs. This includes 83 cities in 23 States.
Enhanced I/M programs, required in the most polluted areas, re-

duce VOC emissions at a cost of about $500 per ton. This compares
very favorably with other measures, such as stationary source con-
trols, which cost anywhere from $2,000 to $10,000 per ton of VOCs
reduced.
Maintaining our investment in testing and maintaining cars is a

common-sense approach to protecting public health. In fact, imple-
menting effective I/M programs instead of alternative controls on
factories or further controls on new cars will save over $1 billion

annually and increase the number of people employed in the auto-
motive repair industry by between 4,000 and 11,000 people, so
there is an upside even to the repairs in terms of jobs created.
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Now, the most controversial element of the inspection and main-
tenance program in the 1990 amendments is without a doubt the
statutory requirement that enhanced I/M programs be test-only,

unless a State can demonstrate that a test-and-repair program is

equally effective. Congress saw that in the 1980's, test-and-repair
I/M programs suffered from improper testing problems, and that
despite many attempts. States were unsuccessful in correcting
these problems.
EPA relied heavily on the results from actual program perform-

ance data from California and other States in developing the dis-

count for test-and-repair programs. EPA also conducted audits
of I/M programs, as have the General Accounting Office and our
own Office of the Inspector General. These audits involved over
10,000 separate undercover car runs and showed that a majority
of the time, cars were being passed that should not have passed the
test.

EPA realizes that some test-and-repair programs may be achiev-
ing greater effectiveness than these levels, and we are prepared to
give more credit to States that can show greater effectiveness with
actual operating data. EPA is working with several States to evalu-
ate current program data to determine the appropriate levels of
credit for those programs, and I'm happy to say that that includes
the Commonwealth of Virginia.
EPA Administrator Carol Browner announced 6 months ago, that

the EPA would create a new, low-enhanced performance standard
that will be substantially less stringent than the current perform-
ar^e standard. These changes were proposed in the Federal Reg-
ister on April 28, and a public hearing was held on May 17. Under
this approach. States will not have to implement test-only pro-
grams if they do not need the higher level of emissions reductions
that such programs provide.

In addition, EPA's new policy allows for hybrid systems that
combine some test-only and some test-and-repair components. The
hybrid approach offers greater public convenience possibilities and
supports businesses currently involved in I/M testing and repair.

Several States are also pursuing this approach, including the State
of New Jersey.
For the majority of motorists who keep their cars reasonably

well-maintained, the 15 minutes twice a year to get your car tested
will be the extent of their involvement with inspection and mainte-
nance. These cars will pass and they will be on their way, and the
cars that do not pass will get needed repairs.

In closing, I have found that the vast majority
Senator Faircloth. Did you say twice a year, or every 2 years?
Ms. Nichols. Every 2 years, I'm sorry. It's a biennial test. That

was unclear.
Most people accept that they have a responsibility to maintain

their cars in a reasonable manner and not to remove or disable the
emissions controls. Most people—and this has been shown in a va-
riety of different polls and focus groups and, I think, in terms of
the way the programs have been accepted—most motorists agree
that spending about $20 or 15 minutes every couple of years is a
small price to pay for cleaner air and better health, provided that
that test is accurate, fair, and convenient.
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Thank you, and I would be pleased to answer your questions.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Ms. Nichols.

We have now been joined by the Senator from Florida, the very
Honorable Bob Graham, who I understand has been tied up on the
Senate floor and is now with us.

Senator Graham, would you care to make a statement?
Senator Graham. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do not have an

opening statement, and in light of my late arrival, I won't take any
more time.

Senator Faircloth. Thank you. Senator Graham.
Ms. Nichols, I have some questions, and I will try to be brief so

the others will have an opportunity quickly.

EPA has expressed concern about the integrity of mechanics and
the possible fraud associated with test-and-repair facilities. It both-
ers me to a degree, as a long-time private businessman, that for

the integrity of the business community of this country and their

employees, this is somewhat a slap in the face to the American
worker to imply or indicate—for EPA to imply or indicate—that
they are not trustworthy, that to really get this job done right, you
have to have Government workers or those tested. These are the
workers who are paying the tax dollars to support EPA, and yet
EPA is saying they aren't really to be trusted; you've got to go an-
other way.

I don't find that I like that. Would you like to respond to it?

Ms. Nichols. Senator Faircloth, I'm not happy either, and it's

quite ironic in some ways that the results have shown what they've

shown. This is not something that EPA set out to try to establish.

As I indicated, these tests that have been done over the years, both
by States and EPA, were done on a wide variety of stations in

many tests, and not all States have had the problem to the same
degree. That's why we're going back now and working with individ-

ual States that have done a better job of enforcement.
But the basic question as to why this happens, I think, is a little

bit surprising. You might assume, as I did—when I was first learn-

ing to drive and first driving around in New York State, they had
a safety test. You would go in for your annual safety test and, lo

and behold, the mechanic would say, "Oops, you need new wind-
shield wipers," or you need something, and you always ended up
having to pay a little something to get your sticker.

Senator FAIRCLOTH. I understand that.

Ms. Nichols. Now, in this program, it's the opposite. What we
found, and what these tests have shown over and over again, is

that in the average testing situation the incentive seems to be for

the service station to simply sell the person a sticker, in effect; not
to flunk them because they don't want them to go to the inconven-
ience of having to get the repairs.

Now, is this always a fraud? Is it a deliberate ripoff kind of thing
on the public? I tend to think not. I think there are certainly some,
and some have been prosecuted. In California, where I have lived

for the last 25 years, there has been a very active program and
some station owners have been prosecuted for literally being in ca-

hoots with some used car dealers. But this is not the major prob-
lem
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Senator Faircloth. May I ask you a question? What kind of test-

ing program does EPA have on the testing of the integrity of its

own employees?
Ms. Nichols. EPA does not hire Inspectors, Senator, and we

don't advocate a program where the Government would have to run
the testing program. I think there is perhaps some confusion about
this term "centralized station." A test-only station can be run by a
single contractor. A State can franchise the test-only station. It is

not something that has to be done.
Senator Faircloth. Well, maybe we can move on to another

question.

Ms. Nichols, as you may be aware, there is a draft bill in the
House prepared by Representatives Istook and Mcintosh which
seeks to expose to the light of day Federal Government grants to

lobbying groups. This draft bill was the subject of a Wall Street
Journal article on June 23, and I am delighted to see this bill and
will seek to work with other Senators to see that it passes in the
House.
Ms. Nichols, could you tell me, how much money does EPA give

to advocacy groups each year to promote the Clean Air Act? And
by advocacy groups I include nonprofit groups—supposedly non-
profit, such as AAEP and the American Lung Association. You tell

me how much money you give them.
Ms. Nichols. I don't have that information with me, Senator. I'd

be happy to provide it, but I can assure you we don't provide any
money to groups for the purpose of lobbying Congress or the EPA
on the Clean Air Act. We do provide grants from time to time to

nonprofit organizations—as I understand the tax laws, groups that
are 501(c)(3) can spend up to 10 percent of their funds to do lobby-
ing, but those funds cannot be funds that they receive from the
Federal Government, and we would not be giving groups funds for

that purpose.
Senator Faircloth. Do you audit the use of the funds?
Ms. Nichols. We do. Our grants, both
Senator Faircloth. You mean you audit AARP, what they do

with their

Ms. Nichols. I personally don't. I don't believe we give any
money to AARP.

Senator Faircloth. EPA does?
Ms. Nichols. I don't believe EPA has grants with AARP. I'm not

aware of any such grants.

Senator Faircloth. You don't believe what, I'm sorry?
Ms. Nichols. I don't believe that EPA has any grants with the

AARP, to my knowledge. I would be happy to check that for you,
but in my personal knowledge, we don't.

Senator Faircloth. I understand, for example, that EPA has
given money to the lobbying groups for the I/M folks, the Coalition

for Safer, Cleaner Vehicles, or one of its subsidiaries or associates,

and AARP receives at least $20 million per year from EPA. The
Senior Environmental Employment Program, $20 million a year.

This is nearly half of the $45 million budgeted annually for this

program, $20 million of it going to AARP.
It is inconceivable to me that EPA, always talking about not hav-

ing enough money to do their job, constantly wanting more money,

92-530 0-96-2
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is giving these vast amounts of money to other organizations. Do
you have any explanation of it?

Ms. Nichols. Senator Faircloth, as I indicated, I am not familiar
with AARP grants. I don't believe those are in the air program, but
I will check that for you.

With respect to the Coalition for Safer, Cleaner Vehicles, I recall

that that question has been asked with respect to a program that
we had with this group to do mechanic training so that when cars
flunk at an I/M program, they can be properly trained to per-

form
Senator Faircloth. That's AARP training the mechanics?
Ms. Nichols. No, no. This was the Coalition for Safer, Cleaner

Vehicles.

A note was handed to me. The only thing I can think of with re-

spect to AARP is a clerical staff program where we hire retired

former Federal workers. They are called AARPs, and I didn't re-

member the acronym. I know I have one employed in my office who
answers the phone early in the morning, before the other people
get to work, and does Xeroxing and other clerical tasks for us on
a very inexpensive basis, up to the limit that they are allowed to

earn under their Social Security. These are retired workers. That's
the AARP program that I am familiar with.

Senator Faircloth. How many people have you employed, or do
you have in your office, that are opposed to the EPA programs and
the I/M testing program?
Ms. Nichols. I have no idea. Senator. I don't take a loyalty oath

from my employees about any program.
Senator Faircloth. Ms. Nichols, I am surprised that you don't

know about the AARP. Members of my staff have spent a great

deal of time trying to determine where your grants really go and
these enormous amounts of money and what the money is really

used for, and so far we haven't been able to determine it. Appar-
ently EPA has no systematic way to track the use of the programs
or the grants, and we want to find out why this is.

I won't go into it deeper today. I'm going to give the others a
chance to ask questions, but I would like for you to provide me
with a comprehensive written answer to the questions I've asked
on this as to where it goes, who gets it—I mean, pretty infinite an-

swers.
[Information to be supplied follows:]



31

!> £% \ UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

I 2J2J ^ WASHINGTON, D.C. 20460

AUG I 1995

OFFICE OF
AIR AND RADIATION

The Honorable Lauch Faircloth
Chairman, Subcommittee on Clean Air, Wetlands,

Private Property and Nuclear Safety
Committee on Environment and Public Works
United States Senate
Washington, DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

Enclosed are responses to the questions you asked in
your letter of July 20, 1995, regarding vehicle emissions
inspection programs. I hope these responses are useful to
you and members of the Subcommittee

.

My staff and I are ready to assist you further in any
way possible. Please contact us if you have additional
questions
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Responses by Mary Nichols to Questions from Senator Faircloth

epa's emissions model

Question 1. Briefly describe all of EPA's evidence that conclusively demonstrates
real world emissions reductions resulting from centralized I/M programs, and com-
pare this to emissions reductions from fleet turnover and stationary source controls.

Answer. Initially, EPA conducted a large-scale study of the effectiveness of Or-
egon's centralized I/M program in 1979 and 1980 that showed that the program re-

duced CO emissions among subject vehicles in Portland, Oregon, by 36 percent and
HC emissions by 20 percent compared to similar vehicles in Eugene, Oregon, where
there was no I/M program. EPA conducted vehicle tampering surveys from 1979 to

1990 in urban areas all over the country, including areas with centralized programs,
decentralized programs and no I/M programs. These surveys found that rates of

tampering with emission control systems on vehicles were lower in areas with cen-

tralized VM. programs than in areas with decentralized programs.
EPA has been conducting an extensive study of the effectiveness of the IM240 test

at test lanes in Indiana and Arizona including verification that commercial repairs

of vehicles which fail IM240 yield significant emissions reductions. EPA has also

compared the emissions of vehicles subject to California's test-and-repair I/M pro-

gram with emissions of vehicles subject to Arizona's test-only program and found
emissions of Arizona cars to be lower. This comparison is detailed further in the

"EPA Response to the California I/M Review Committee Report on I/M Effective-

ness," which is enclosed. Additionally, a recent study of the effectiveness of Min-
nesota's test-only I/M program by Sherman Engineering showed significant emission
reductions from that program.
With regard to fleet turnover, it is important to note that turnover will only re-

duce fleet emissions as long as new car standards are continually being reduced and
as long as vehicles are maintained to retain those lower emission levels. It is impor-
tant to note that the introduction of Tier 1 standards in 1994 was the first tighten-

ing of new car standards since 1981, and that no further reductions in standards
are required by the Clean Air Act. The emission reduction potential of I/M relative

to stationary source controls depends on the relative contribution of mobile and sta-

tionary sources to the air quality problem in a given area. In some areas mobile
sources contribute well over half of the ozone precursors, hence, the attainment
strategy for such an area would need to rely heavily on mobile source control strate-

gies, of which test-only enhanced I/M is the most effective, and most cost-effective

presently known. On the other hand, there are areas where stationary sources con-

tribute heavily to the air quality problem, hence, the attainment strategy would
need to rely more on stationary source controls. One of the primary goals of EPA's
flexibility rule on I/M is to give States the freedom to make such choices.

As you requested, the above information represents a brief response to your ques-

tion. There is, of course, a large amount of technical data available on this issue.

We would be pleased to have our staff explain the data to Subcommittee staff if that

would be useful.

Question 2. Has EPA run any complete I/M evaluation program using real world

(not model) data from roadside or other surveys to demonstrate that any centralized

1M240 program achieves EPA's own performance standard?
Answer. There are two IM240 programs currently in operation. Both have been

operating for less than a year and, hence, are too new to have had a complete eval-

uation. EPA will continue to review data from these programs as they become avail-

able. As was stated at the Subcommittee hearing on June 29, all I/M programs, re-

gardless of network type or test type, will be carefully evaluated with actual emis-

sions data to determine whether their emission reduction targets are being met.

Question 3. Has the accuracy of EPA's mobile source emission model been dem-
onstrated by scientists outside of EPA? If so, please identify each scientist or sci-

entific organization, and provide a copy of each accuracy report and conclusion.

Answer. A number of independent studies have been done checking the accuracy

of EPA's models. The tunnel studies that have been performed in the last 8 years,

particularly the Van Nuys study (1987) and the Fort McHenry and Tuscarora Moun-
tain studies (1992), have been used to examine the ability of the model to estimate

emissions under the conditions represented by such studies. Tunnel studies are

somewhat limited as a check on the accuracy of the model since they measure emis-

sions under a very specific set of conditions in terms of roadway type, traffic speed
and other variables. Reviews of the equations and assumptions in the model have
been done by Sierra Research and Systems Applications International (SAD under
contract to the American Petroleum Institute. EPA has used these studies in devel-
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oping recent revisions to the MOBILE model. These studies, their findings, and im-
plications for the MOBILE model are summarized in the enclosed EPA white paper,
Highway Vehicle Emission Estimates—II."

THE CREDIT DISCOUNT

Question 4. When asked if EPA would give full credit for actual emissions reduc-
tions, regardless of the type of plan a State used, you responded EPA would give
full credit. Will EPA give full credit for a State implementation plan (SIP) prospec-
tively if a State can demonstrate that its proposed enhanced program, irrespective

of network type or equipment, will reduce emissions? If EPA favors imposing the
credit discount prior to the development of program specific data on the enhanced
programs, please explain the basis for this policy.

Answer. EPA intends to give States full credit for actual demonstrated emissions
reductions from their I/M programs. EPA is prepared to give credit prospectively to

States implementing test-and-repair or hybrid enhanced I/M programs based upon
the effectiveness of their current test-and-repair I/M programs as demonstrated by
actual program data. EPA is working with the States of Utah and Virginia to de-

velop a protocol for evaluating the effectiveness of current test-and-repair programs.
Once complete this protocol could be used to evaluate current programs in any other
State.

Question 5. Immediately after your testimony on June 29, 1995, that States would
receive full credit for their emissions reductions. Dr. Lynn Scarlett testified that
California was told by EPA on June 28, 1995—the day before your testimony—that
California would not receive full credit for its reductions under its submitted SIP.
Please explain, in detail, the discrepancy between EPA's opposing positions.

Answer. See enclosed letter of July 11, 1995 to the Honorable John H. Chafee.

Question 6. How will EPA address the question of evaluation criteria for test-and-

repair programs? Will EPA jointly develop these with the States and use a uniform
set of criteria to evaluate programs nationwide? What are EPA's proposed program
and evaluation protocols?

Answer. EPA is developing an evaluation protocol cooperatively with officials in

the States of Utah and Virginia to evaluate the effectiveness of their current test-

and-repair programs based upon emission test data and other factors. EPA is still

in discussions with these States and plans to seek other input on the protocol before

considering it final. Once it is final it can serve as a standard for evaluating any
current test-and-repair program.

Question 7. Considering the recent Utah and Virginia experiences, would EPA ob-

ject to changing the presumptive equivalency policy to allow States to claim up to

100 percent of the performance standard for SIP purposes and allow States up to

2 years to evaluate program performance?
Answer. Utah and Virginia have provided data to EPA that suggest their current

testing programs have overcome past problems of improper testing of cars when
first presented for inspection. However, the analyses in Utah and Virginia regarding
overall program effectiveness are still under way. Important questions of repair ef-

fectiveness and second test accuracy need to be resolved.

Question 8. During the hearing, you mentioned that EPA performed an audit of
Virginia's I/M program in 1990. How many of the audited vehicles received pass cer-

tificates, and what was the sample size compared to total annual tests performed
in Virginia's program.
Answer. EPA covertly audited 36 inspection stations. Of those only 5 properly

failed the vehicle, 25 improperly passed a vehicle with a missing catalytic converter,

and 29 improperly passed a vehicle with disconnected evaporative hoses. The Vir-

ginia program had 354 licensed stations as of January, 1990, hence, this sample rep-

resented about 10 percent of the licensed stations.

Question 9. In light of recent Utah and Virginia experiences, how will EPA modify
its test-and-repair discount policy? Will this include changes in: (1) the Mobile5a
model, and (2) 40 CFR 51.353?
Answer. The evaluations in Utah and Virginia are still under way. EPA has not

yet been able to draw any overall conclusions about the effectiveness of those two
programs.

STATE IMPLEMENTATION PLANS (SIPS)

Question 10. Please detail the status of SIP sanction clocks for State enhanced 1/

M programs based on the most recent information, including the July 15, 1995, SIP
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submittals. Please include information on: the status of each submittal; State nego-

tiation status; sanction actions being considered, taken, or scheduled; and third-

party lawsuits.

Answer. Enclosed is a summary report detailing the status of SIP submittals and
related actions for each enhanced I/M State. Overall, we have been very successful

in working with States to meet the clean air planning requirements while avoiding

sanctions. In fact, while over 1900 separate State plan revisions have become due

since 1991, only seven resulted in sanctions and four of these have been corrected.

Only one State—Vermont—is under sanction for failure to submit an I/M SIP. Two-
to-one stationary source offsets are in effect; highway sanctions will not take effect

because the affected area is not designated nonattainment. All other States have ei-

ther submitted I/M SIPs, or are expected to submit them prior to the expiration of

their sanctions clocks.

SANCTIONS

Question 11. What is the current EPA policy on enhanced I/M sanctions; has it

been published; and has it been made generally available?

Answer. EPA recognizes that States wishing to take advantage of the new flexibil-

ity rules will need to make adjustments to their programs and is working to help

those States avoid sanctions in the meantime. EPA is working with the States to

help them submit SIPs meeting the requirements for completeness. Once the SIP

is submitted a completeness finding by EPA stops the sanctions clock thereby lifting

the threat of sanctions from the State. EPA then has up to a year to approve or

disapprove the SIP. The State can also revise its SIP at any time after turning it

in to EPA. EPA has communicated this policy to the affected States through on-

going working groups dealing with SIPs. A written explanation of this policy has

also been placed on the Technology Transfer Network (TTN) electronic bulletin

board where it is accessible to State program personnel and the general public.

Question 12. Does EPA currently have the regulatory flexibility to delay sanctions

against States that may technically be in violation of SIP provisions but have agreed

to specific actions to implement enhanced I/M, or does EPA need changes in its reg-

ulations or the Clean Air Act statute itself to achieve this type of flexibility?

Answer. All States affected by the enhanced I/M requirement are in a position to

be able to turn in a complete SIP to EPA before their SIP clocks expire, and EPA
is working with each State to identify the necessary steps to do so. At this point

the agency has every indication that all States required to do enhanced I/M that

are actively developing programs will be able to submit SIPs to EPA, enabling EPA
to stop their sanctions clocks before those clocks expire.

Question 13. Since final rulemaking on the proposed flexibility regulations is not

due until August, how will EPA evaluate the enhanced SIP elements submitted on

July 15, 1995? Will sanctions be issued even if the topic causing the sanction is

under regulatory review?
Answer. EPA's first action, when a SIP is submitted, is to determine whether or

not it is complete. This action stops the sanctions clock. The agency then has up

to a year to review the SIP to determine whether or not the SIP can be approved.

In the interim, the State can revise its SIP submittal. Hence, the complete plan that

stops the sanctions clock might be different from the plan that is ultimately ap-

proved and implemented. No State with a sanctions clock due to expire in the next

few weeks is expected to incur sanctions.

THE WAIVER

Question 14. Is it correct to assert that the waiver burden will fall most heavily

on those least able to pay? Please discuss the environmental justice ramifications

of the waivers. Do you think that, for the economically disadvantaged, $500 spent

on health care, or better food, or books, might result in longer, more productive lives

than $500 spent chasing the last remnant of automobile pollution control?

Answer. It is true that older vehicles are more likely to fail an I/M test than new
vehicles, and it is true that lower income people generally own older vehicles. Con-

sequently, an equity issue could exist with the statutory requirements regarding

waiver eligibility. It should be pointed out that program data from Phoenix, Arizona,

and Denver, Colorado, show that IM240 failures are being repaired at an average

cost of around $160, and that waiver rates are low. Hence, most motorists are not

being subject to repair costs of $450 or more. Also, our data suggests fuel economy

improvements resulting from repairs can offset most, if not all, of the repair cost.

EPA's flexibility rule gives States additional options such as the phase in of the re-

pair cost limit and allowing greater use of extensions. The new low enhanced per-
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formance standard can also be used to grant exemptions or extensions to groups of
economically disadvantaged individuals and substitute reductions from other
sources, if substitution is needed to meet other clean air targets. Finally, States can,

and have adopted special provisions to assist low income motorists in paying for nec-

essary repairs. EPA expects that States will use the additional flexibilities to ad-
dress the equity issues your question indicates.

PUBLIC ACCEPTANCE AND COST

Question 15. In the initial rulemaking, EPA discussed the importance of public
acceptance of the program. Yet, EPA has built a program seemingly designed to en-

courage public hostility. Could you describe how EPA has taken public acceptance
into account, especially focusing on those States which have never had a centralized
test-only program.
Answer. The experience of States implementing centralized, test-only I/M pro-

grams in the late 1970's and early 1980's, when I/M programs were being imple-
mented for the first time, indicated that the public is willing to accept such pro-

grams under a couple of conditions. The first is that testing networks be designed
to offer convenient service; i.e., to assure convenient hours of service, short driving
distances, short wait times, and certainty of service. The second is that the public
receive detailed information on how the program will work and why it is being im-
plemented. With that experience in mind, EPA included requirements in the I/M
rule that States demonstrate that test networks will provide convenient service to

motorists, and that State implementation efforts include a public information and
outreach effort. In addition, EPA has provided States substantial flexibility in de-
signing effective programs that are also consumer friendly. For example, ^few Jer-

sey decided to generally allow retests to be provided by the service facility.

Question 16. One of the elements of the test-and-repair program that EPA ap-
pears to have concerns with is the possibility of conflict of interests. Do you think
that test-only State-contracted facilities will face political pressure to keep lines

short and failure rates low, and economic pressure to keep contractor award fees

high and budgetary stress minimal?
Answer. EPA is aware of the possibility that improper testing can occur in test-

only programs as well as test-and-repair. Audits are required of all I/M systems, in-

cluding test-only programs. While EPA's audits of test-only programs have occasion-
ally found operational problems, those problems were generally found to be cor-

rected in follow-up audits, whereas follow-up audits of test-and-repair programs gen-
erally found problems persisting from previous audits.

Question 17. In your testimony, you mentioned that with enhanced I/M, VOC
emissions can be reduced at a cost of $500 per ton. Please provide a step-by-step
calculation of how EPA derived the $500 per ton figure.

Answer. The derivation of this figure is detailed on pages 79 to 81 of EPA's report
entitled "I/M Costs, Benefits, and Impacts," which is enclosed.

EPA EXPENDITURES RELATED TO I/M

Question 18. Please list the date, amount, and purpose for all contracts, grants,
interagency agreements, cooperative agreements, or other funding mechanisms used
by or issued under the auspices of the Office of Mobile Sources subsequent to the
Enhanced I/M Rule's issuance on November 5, 1992. Please also identify the same,
from November 1989 to the present, for the following organizations.
Answer.

Organization
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Organization
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Senator Chafee. Well, I'm not so sure—is that totally understood
by each of the States? In other words, it seems to me that the Vir-
ginia folks are saying, "We're doing an excellent job; we are mon-
itoring the system, but we think we ought to get 100-percent credit
instead of 50-percent credit."

Ms. Nichols. Senator, I think there are two answers to that
question.
The first is that under the old regulations, prior to the proposal

that EPA put out in April, EPA in essence could not allow States
to vary from the IM240 test-only system unless they had data of
a very narrow kind which essentially made it difficult for States to

do a different kind of program.
Since that proposal came out we have made it very clear that

States can establish additional credit for a number of different

kinds of enhancements other than just switching their programs to

get up to the full credit, as well as being allowed, if they wish to

—

for example, if a State has other ways of getting the necessary re-

ductions in VOCs, they can go with a low-enhanced program and
really not do any significant changes to their existing basic pro-
grams. So States really have both of those choices.

The one thing that we haven't been able to figure out how to do,

and frankly don't think we should do, is to "cook the books" in

terms of assigning numbers that we don't know how to assign with-
out any real data. But as soon as we get the data, once States start

these programs, whatever they choose to do, we will be happy to

give them credits in terms of adjusting their SIPs, adjusting their
attainment demonstrations, to meet the real world credits that
they are generating. So in a sense, we're in sort of a hypothetical
argument, I think, with some of the States about whether we will

up front give them the credit. As I said, we are trying to give credit

for anything we can find in their programs that we can give credit

to, but we cannot say that 50 percent is 100 percent, or that any
decentralized program is as good as a centralized program. We
need to have some data to look at.

Senator Chafee. I'm not sure I totally understand this. Let's say
that you have two States—let's just take Virginia's decentralized
program that's wonderful, it's well-monitored and it does the job in

a splendid fashion. Now, you have another State with a centralized
program, but it's badly run and the equipment doesn't work and so

forth. Now, the one with the centralized program, as I understand
it, gets 100-percent credit for having adopted this enhanced I/M;

am I correct?

Ms. Nichols. No, not exactly, and let me try to explain.

Prior to 1990—and I'll use Virginia—the data that EPA and the
State of Virginia had, and these tests were done by the States,

EPA in 1990 audited Virginia's I/M program, and at that time,

prior to the passage of the 1990 amendments, they visited 36 sta-

tions. They found that five stations falsely passed a car on a tail-

pipe test; 25 stations falsely passed a car on a catalyst check; 29
stations falsely passed the car on a check of the evaporative system
hose, as well as a number of other omissions or failures in the test-

ing program, for an 85-percent failure rate in terms of the number
of opportunities that that inspection system had to correctly inspect
cars.
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Now, since that time, and since the amendments were passed,
Virginia has apparently greatly expanded its system of covert au-
dits and its enforcement, as you heard from the witness earlier,

and they now claim to have data based on several years of new
data that shows that their system is much more effective.

Now, based on the old audit data that we had for Virginia, we
should be giving them 15-percent credit for their I/M program. We
instead developed a set of regulations that laid out a model I/M
program using state-of-the-art dynamometer equipment and using
a test-only system, and called that the "ideal world," and then dis-

counted from that to various other kinds of things that States
might actually choose to do. If Virginia were to leave its plan in-

tact, they would get 50-percent credit, but
Senator Chafee. But they can't get over 50?
Ms. Nichols. Well, no, they can, actually, because now under

our new proposed regulations they have additional data that shows
they deserve better, so we will review that data with them and we
will give them more.

Senator Chafee. I think that's also what the Gregg amendment
does, that went on our National Highway System bill.

Ms. Nichols. Yes, that's correct.

Senator Chafee. One quick final question. I know Senator Gra-
ham is waiting.

This is in connection with California. As I understand it, Califor-

nia didn't want to go to a centralized program, and EPA allowed
them to do a study on the effectiveness of the decentralized pro-

gram. So they submitted the study to EPA, and EPA hasn't yet
acted on it—or, they haven't approved it yet. Action is needed be-
cause pretty soon California is facing sanctions.

So my question to you is, what's the status of the California
study? And can a decision be expected soon, before the sanction
clock ticks further?
Ms. Nichols. California is under a clock to submit their final

I/M plan to EPA by the end of the month, and the board has
passed a plan which we are awaiting. The study that you referred

to was a study that was a part of a memorandum of agreement
with the State of California which showed that the State, with all

of the various improvements that they will make and have made
in equipment and enforcement and monitoring and so forth, that
they could do a program which was a hybrid program in which ap-
proximately 36 percent of the cars would go to a test-only system
and the rest would go to a test-and-repair system, and they were
targeting which cars would go to which kind of a system.

If the State submits the plan to us with that provision in it, we
will be able to approve it and it will pass the completeness test

based on the studies that they have submitted. We have not yet ac-

tually received the plan.

Senator Chafee. It was my understanding that they had submit-
ted some kind of study to you and were awaiting approval of the
study, and they were quite anxious to get that approval quickly be-

cause of sanctions about to be levied on them.
Ms. Nichols. That's not quite accurate. We had indicated that

the study was acceptable to us, and now we're just waiting for the
plan.
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Senator Chafee. OK, fine. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you. Senator Chafee.
Senator Graham.
Senator Graham. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Nichols, I am looking at section 182(c)(3) of the Clean Air

Act Amendments of 1990, which contains the enhanced vehicle in-

spection and maintenance program statute. It has now been 5
years since these amendments were adopted, and approximately 2
to 3 years since States were under the mandate to have a plan for

implementation.
With that degree of experience, would there be any modifications

in the statute that you would recommend for Congress to consider?
Ms. Nichols. Senator Graham, I think that despite the difficul-

ties of startup of these programs and the delays, which in part
were caused by EPA's slowness in getting the initial regulations
out and then the shifting approach which really came about as a
result of greater interaction with the States and some of the dif-

ficulties that they were experiencing in designing programs that
would work for them, I think we are on track now with most of the
States to get programs up and running which will greatly improve
the state of vehicle inspection and maintenance in this country in

the areas that need these programs. I don't know of any State
where the process has been completely simple—possibly your own
State of Florida, which I understand has a centralized I/M pro-

gram, although it is an attainment State and seems to have had
a good experience with the program. It might be the exception. But
in most States, any type of change in what people have to do with
their cars is a very difficult process for the legislature, for the ad-

ministration, and so forth.

But we are now moving forward, I think, quite successfully in

the States that have their programs under way—Arizona, Con-
necticut, the midwestern States are moving forward. A number of

States have just made the decisions about the kind of programs
they want to do, such as New Jersey and New York. Maryland,
after a pause, is beginning to get ready to startup their program.
We still have a couple of States where we have to work out the

details of the programs with the States, but overall I feel that we
will be in a situation by the end of this year in which all the States
that needed enhanced inspection programs will be well under way
to improving those programs in ways that they find acceptable and
that will really improve the air for their citizens.

So it is not my feeling that we need legislative amendments to

accomplish that result.

Senator Graham. In terms of that ultimate goal, improving the
quality of air for citizens, what are the principal indicators you look

to to assess whether in fact that goal is being attained, particularly

indicators that would assess the impact of vehicle emissions on the
attainment of that goal?
Ms. Nichols. Well, ultimately, of course, the test of all of our ef-

forts is whether the air, as it is monitored in the communities, is

getting cleaner. And happily, it is.

In terms of assessing the contribution of any individual program
to that overall air quality improvement, it's a little bit more com-
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plicated. But with automobiles, the real world data that we should
look to, I believe, is the emissions test. I think we should take cars
and audit them in terms of how they do on a real world-type test,

such as the test that they were originally certified on, using the
Federal test procedure. And we can, then, once programs have been
underway for a period of time, actually see whether we're getting
the reductions on those automobiles that we anticipated from the
I/M programs. We are beginning to get some of those kinds of data,
and they are, I think, supporting the effectiveness of the programs.
But it is early in the process.

Senator Graham. Using those types of performance indicators,

what is your evidence that as a general rule a centralized system
using the stated equipment, which is currently predominant, is su-

perior to a decentralized system? What is your assessment of the
degree of superiority?

Ms. Nichols. There are two studies that we can look at. One is

a study that was done by Radian Corporation, which also did the
California study that was cited earlier, for British Columbia, using
a test-only, but not an IM240. They used an ASM test and found
that the program was achieving the performance goals

Senator Graham. If they were using British Columbia as their

model for a centralized system, what was their comparable for a
decentralized system to give a comparative effect?

Ms. Nichols. That program only looked at the program com-
pared with its predicted performance. The comparative data that
we have at this point would compare Arizona, which has a central-

ized IM240, with California, which at this point is using a decen-
tralized program with a BAR90. And we do have now some data
that compared the 326 vehicles that California studied with 1,143
vehicles that were evaluated in Arizona. I have a chart here which
I will provide to the committee which shows a differential.

It depends on the model year of the car. It ranges from about .1

grams per mile for the 1993 cars, to something closer to .8 grams
per mile going back to the 1984 cars. But across the model years,

it indicates that the Arizona cars are cleaner than their exact coun-
terparts in California, and since you've got two States with com-
parable climates and comparable fleets, that's a pretty good com-
parison that would indicate that the Arizona program is working
better than California's current program. Now, that doesn't take
into account the fact that the California new car standards are ac-

tually cleaner than Arizona's. New cars sold in California are re-

quired to be somewhat cleaner than they are in Arizona, so the fact

that the Arizona fleet is turning up cleaner on these inspection and
maintenance tests is a pretty significant indicator, I think, of the

fact that the Arizona program is a better program.
Now, I would hasten to say that California recognizes that they

need to upgrade their program, and they are moving in that direc-

tion. This is based on the old program, not their new, enhanced
program.
Senator Graham. Is the new program also going to be a decen-

tralized program?
Ms. Nichols. The new program will be a hybrid, a mixed pro-

gram, with some of the cars going to test-only. Mostly, the older
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cars are the ones that are expected to be the gross emitters, and
the newer cars will go to decentralized.
Senator Graham. New cars going to the decentralized, and old

cars are required to go to the centralized
Ms. Nichols. Will have to go to the centralized system, right.

That's California's choice. It doesn't have to be done that way, but
I believe they feel it is more effective to target the gross emitters,
and they are most likely to be the older cars, or cars that have
failed on a remote sensing test. There are various other criteria

that they are using to try to assign cars to the centralized stations.

But they will allow consumers to choose, actually; if a customer
wants to go to a centralized station, they will be allowed to do so.

Senator Graham. One final question, if I could, Mr. Chairman.
Are there any other studies that are currently under way or con-

templated that will do a comparative assessment of centralized and
decentralized?
Ms. Nichols. Senator Graham, we are in the process of conven-

ing an outside panel of people from academia. States, the auto in-

dustry, the fuels industry, to give EPA technical advice about a
number of issues relating to evaluation of our programs and our
data. One of the issues that we are going to be asking them to ad-
dress is to help us design a program that will help to answer many
of the questions that have been raised about the effectiveness of in-

spection and maintenance programs. I think that, given the
amount of controversy, particularly in States that have had exist-

ing test-and-repair systems that have now been moving or partially

moved into centralized, that it is very important that we design a
test that has some independent peer review and hopefully will help
to answer many of those questions.

Senator Graham. Mr. Chairman, that concludes my questions. If

I could make an editorial comment, I am a strong believer, whether
it's in environmental areas or education or health or whatever
other area of public programs, to evaluate based on performance as
opposed to process. I would suggest that this section, section
182(c)(3), which is highly process-oriented, as we look forward to

the next Clean Air Act Amendments, that it would be helpful if the
Department, applying some of the experience that it has and is

gaining in terms of how to approach regulation through perform-
ance rather than through process, might apply some of that learn-
ing in terms of restructuring this relationship of EPA to the States,
to be one of telling the States, "Here are the standards of perform-
ance upon which you are going to be judged; it's your responsibility
to figure out a program that makes the most sense in order to ac-

complish those, and if you do so, that's fine with us, whatever the
program is. If you don't meet that performance standard, then we
are going to reserve the right to come in and tell you how to do
it." But the initial responsibility ought to be at the State level

against a clear set of performance standards.
Ms. Nichols. Senator, we agree with you that that's the objec-

tive and that is the way the program should work. I think we will

be assisted by the fact that the States that are doing enhanced pro-
grams, that were required to enhance their programs under the
Clean Air Act, are doing an evaluation of those programs. That's
actually part of the existing regulations. So within 2 years of the
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time that the program begins, they will start generating data about
the effectiveness of their programs, and that will give us a base to

respond to.

Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Ms. Nichols.
Thank you, Senator Graham, and I agree totally with your edi-

torial comment.
Ms. Nichols, I would like to ask you one quick question because

time is moving on and we have other panelists, and if it's possible,

I'd like a yes or no answer.
Are you telling us that if any State reduces emissions by 80 per-

cent, that that State would get full credit for all of its reduction in-

stead of—it would get credit for all of the 80 percent, no matter
how they tested for it?

Ms. Nichols. Yes.
Senator Faircloth. All right. Thank you so much.
Senator Chafee. Now, Mr. Chairman, one point. As I understand

the Gregg amendment, which we adopted—again, I'm replaying
this back to the National Highway System bill that we passed a
week or so ago—that covered the situation that Senator Graham
is discussing. In other words, it is results rather than process, as
I understand the Gregg amendment. Therefore, if the achievements
are only a 10-percent reduction, then that's all they get credit for;

if it's an 80-percent reduction, then they get credit for it.

Now, the problem with the Gregg amendment is that it hasn't
passed the House yet; and indeed, they haven't dealt with their Na-
tional Highway System bill yet. Also, was it suggested that that
amendment only apply for a year, did you say? Are you familiar

—

take a look at it.

Ms. Nichols. Yes. We have looked at the amendment. We think
it's consistent with the approach that EPA is now taking under the
proposed amendments to the inspection and maintenance regula-
tions.

Senator Chafee. So what you're saying is that you don't even
need the amendment?
Ms. Nichols. Well, we believe that the approach that we are

now taking in our discussions—with Utah, for example, and with
Virginia—you will see when the results are done that in fact we
are capable of giving credit based on the real world performance of

their existing programs.
Senator Chafee. Well, that seems to make an awful lot of sense.

Thank you.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Senator Chafee, and thank you,

Ms. Nichols.
I ask that our third and final panel come to the witness table.

I would like to welcome Dr. Lynn Scarlett from The Reason
Foundation in Los Angeles, California; Dr. Doug Lawson of The
Desert Research Institute in Reno, NV; and Mr. Michael Walsh, a
private consultant based in Arlington, VA.

If I may ask, in view of the hour and time—it's almost 4 o'clock,

and I understand we have a vote at 5 o'clock or thereabouts—if you
would limit your opening statements to about 5 minutes, and we
would be happy to enter any additional statement into the record.

Dr. Scarlett, we will begin with you and your opening statement,
if you have one.



43

STATEMENT OF LYNN SCARLETT, THE REASON FOUNDATION,
LOS ANGELES, CA; ACCOMPANIED BY DOUGLAS LAWSON,
THE DESERT RESEARCH INSTITUTE, RENO, NV
Ms. Scarlett. Thank you, Senator.
Just a clarification for the record. I actually have completed my

Ph.D. exams and coursework but I have not finished my disserta-

tion, so in the lingo I'm what's called "ABD," a not-quite-doctor.
"ABD" is "all but dissertation."

[Laughter.]
Ms. Scarlett. I am Lynn Scarlett, chair of California's Inspec-

tion and Maintenance Review Committee. I would like to thank
Senator Faircloth for holding hearings on these issues, which are
critical to the State of California.

Briefly, I want to tell you what the function is of the I/M Review
Committee in California. We are independent from any agency. We
are not part of the Bureau of Automotive Repairs, the Air Re-
sources Board. We were independently appointed by the Governor
and the State Legislature. Our function is to recommend to the
State of California, after reviewing immense amounts of data from
several pilot studies that we put in place, and make recommenda-
tions to the State on what kind of I/M program might be expected
to achieve real world reductions in vehicle emissions in the most
cost-effective manner.

I want to emphasize, as Secretary Dunlop emphasized, that our
goal is in fact clean air. We want, however, to measure that goal
in the real world and achieve real reductions, not measure our-
selves against a hypothetical model.

I want to make a few comments on our views of what is required
for program success. There is no magic bullet, whether it's IM240,
whether it's centralized testing, whether it is, indeed, remote sens-

ing. We believe that success is a function of a complex set of fac-

tors, especially for a State like California. You've heard some fig-

ures on vehicles out there. We have 20 million vehicles in the State
of California, all of which in one way or another need to be tested

or examined.
There are five components, in our minds, that are important to

the success of our program.
The first is identifying gross polluting vehicles. By that I mean

that that, of course, is the test; how do you identify the cars?

I want to point out—Mary Nichols made the point that there are
vehicles out there that are currently at two times the FTP stand-

ard. That is a tiny, insignificant amount of emissions when you
might understand that there are cars out there with emissions of

eighty—80—times the FTP standard. Our concern is those cars,

finding those gross emitting vehicles.

The second component is to diagnose what it is that's causing
those cars to have high emissions.
Third is, of course, to repair those. Simply doing the test does not

do the job. One must repair those vehicles.

Fourth, one wants to verify that those repairs endure over time.

One of the things we have seen is the "clean for a day" phenome-
non; that is, on the day of the test cars do go in and they get tem-
porarily repaired, but folks have an incentive to get a certificate,

not to get their cars repaired in an enduring fashion. So we think
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you need to monitor in between tests, whether it's in between those
2-year tests or in between those 1-year tests, a constant monitoring
of whether vehicles are in fact continuing to have those emission
reductions.

Finally, as was suggested by Secretary Dunlop, we need to pro-

vide a context that creates incentives for folks to clean their cars,

not just get a certificate. We are examining the prospects of having
a "clean screen" for cars that are operating clean so that it gives

people an incentive to have their cars clean. If they go by a remote
sensor and it reads their car as clean several times, we might
screen them out of the program and exempt them. That gives them
an incentive to keep their cars clean.

Does the EPA enhanced program satisfy these five criteria that
I have set forth? We would suggest that it does not.

First of all, the EPA enhanced program focuses all of its atten-

tion, or a great deal of its attention, on the test, all the bells and
whistles in an expensive IM240 test, notwithstanding the fact that
our own pilot study in which we examined different test types sug-
gests that many different tests, some of which are much less expen-
sive, actually fairly well identify these gross emitting vehicles. Test
type is not the significant factor in identifying gross emitters.

The second point, EPA's ideal program, as has been suggested,
targets all vehicles equally rather than simply dirty cars. If you
recognize that many of the cars out there are clean, and clean all

the time, what you want to focus on is that subset that is as much
as 80 times the FTP.

I see that yellow light on, so I am going to scurry forward here.

Senator Faircloth. No, you need not rush. Just stick close to the
5 minutes. We'll work it out.

Ms. Scarlett. I do that at the stop signs, too.

[Laughter.]
Ms. Scarlett. Finally, the EPA program ignores motorist incen-

tives to just pass the test. By the way, this motivation to just pass
the test is a phenomenon that we see in both test-only programs

—

notwithstanding all the comments you heard from the State of Col-

orado and from Ms. Nichols—we find this phenomenon of just pass-

ing the test a problem in both test-only programs and in test-and-

repair programs.
I want to make a point about the State of Arizona, which was

mentioned. The State of Arizona has a test-only centralized pro-

gram. An Auditor General's report for that State, in a survey of

auto technicians, reported that 88 percent of auto technicians in

that test-only program said that consumers asked them simply to

repair their cars to pass the test for the day. A fourth of consumers
surveyed in that State said that they do readjust their cars after

the test, so the test-only program does not overcome that problem.
Why do we see EPA's current regulations on oversight of inspec-

tion and maintenance as a problem for the State of California and
other States? I would suggest to you that, notwithstanding what
you've heard about EPA's commitment to flexibility, that that flexi-

bility is illusory. Currently they do not—and notwithstanding Ms.
Nichols' final comments, they will not—approve a program and give
full credits ahead of time. Once your program is under way and
after you've had it in place for several years, if you can dem-
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onstrate with real world data, you may get increases in the credits

allotted to you. The State of California was informed yesterday that

the program that we are proposing, which is a hybrid test, will not

receive full credits. This I heard last night at about 12:30.

I want to note also, just so we don't have any illusions, that none
of the programs currently under consideration, including EPA's en-

hanced I/M model, have really been tested in the real world. These
are all new programs, new designs, new efforts to achieve air qual-

ity. So EPA's program is as hypothetical as the hybrid programs
that the State of California is examining.
EPA continues to rely—and this is a fundamental problem—on

a mobile emissions model, not real world evidence of program per-

formance, to assess equivalence. Why is this a problem? I want to

state a few points about that model.
The model is only as good as the assumptions within the model

and the degree to which the model reflects reality. We would sug-

gest that based on our examination, the model does not meet a re-

ality test. Consider two brief points. Model results do not match
well with actual ambient air data that have been observed by Doug
Lawson and others; that is, when you run the model, you get cer-

tain emissions and expected emissions reductions. When you com-
pare that to the real world, they do not match up. In fact, the
model understates actual emissions ambient air data by two- to

three-fold, and yet this is what EPA relies on to develop program
equivalence.

Second, the assumptions in the model are not always based on
empirical evidence. We have a commitment in the State of Califor-

nia to science, and that is why we developed the I/M Review Com-
mittee, which is independent and which hired independent sci-

entists to help us understand these. Most notably, the 50-percent

discount that EPA applies to test-and-repair programs is not

based—again, notwithstanding what you heard earlier today—not
based on science. To my knowledge, the California Inspection and
Maintenance Review Committee is the only committee that has un-
dertaken an independent review of all of the data that EPA has
utilized, the audit data that have been cited, the tampering survey
data, and all other emissions data. We are the only ones who have
done an independent review of those data to see whether they in

fact demonstrate a 50-percent discount.

Specific findings, very briefly. We find among the different test-

only versus test-and-repair States no significant difference in tam-
pering rates; that is, the degree to which vehicles have been tam-
pered with, whether they're in a test-only or a test-and-repair

State.

Second, we find that
Senator Faircloth. What do you mean by tampering?
Ms. Scarlett. Vehicles whose emissions equipment, catalytic

converters, have been tampered with, hoses that are disconnected,

that sort of thing that might be associated with high emissions
from a vehicle. You find a fair amount of that on cars, particularly

when you do random roadside pull-overs of cars and look under the
hood and so on.

Now, tampering is not always deliberate. The word "tampering"
is used both for undeliberate
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Senator Faircloth. Now, how did it come up? How did you get
into using the word "tampering"? You said there is no significant

difference between the test-only and the test-and-repair States as
regards tampering?
Ms. Scarlett. That's correct. Doug Lawson, who is here as my

technical consultant, is actually going to show a chart on that. But
essentially, there have been many roadside pull-over programs in

which vehicles have been pulled over and examined to see the de-
gree to which there is tampering or not. Those data for many vehi-
cles in both test-only States and test-and-repair States demonstrate
no significant difference in tampering rates between the two kinds
of programs.

Second, the State audits
Senator Faircloth. Are you about through with your statement?
Ms. Scarlett. Almost done. One minute.
Also, State audits do not demonstrate the superiority of test-only,

and I will refer you to the I/M Review Committee's report for that
analysis.

Finally, emissions data—also, you heard a lot about Arizona com-
pared to California. We did look at those data and we found that
in its analysis EPA failed to control for such things as the fact that
one State had oxygenated fuel and one did not, which results in

significant differences in emissions. They did simply not control for

confounding variables, if you will. We find no difference between
Arizona emissions in a test-only State and California's test-and-re-
pair.

I am going to conclude with the bottom line. At issue is not
whether we pursue clean air goals; we are committed to that. At
issue is not whether we have an I/M program. The State of Califor-

nia is committed to that. At issue is what program will work best.

It is the State of California's view that the EPA approach, which
targets all vehicles with a high-tech, sophisticated test, will be a
high-cost option. We think we can do better. We think we can do
better with a hybrid program, and to do that we need flexibility

and we need full credit for the program that we're going to imple-
ment, and we need that up front. Then we want to put our feet to

the fire and actually measure our performance, see how we do, and
adjust our program accordingly.

Thank you.
Senator FAIRCLOTH. Thank you, Dr. Scarlett.

Now we will have an opening statement from Mr. Walsh.
Again, if you could keep it short, because time is running on.

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL WALSH, CONSULTANT,
ARLINGTON, VA

Mr. Walsh. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the com-
mittee. I will keep it short. I will submit my full statement for the
record.

Senator Faircloth. Well, thank you. We are not rushing you,
but we have three Senators who would like to ask questions.

Mr. Walsh. I understand. You can always read the statement
afterwards.

Let me go right to the heart of the matter, then, and try to ad-

dress what I think are three questions that seem to be of interest
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to you. First, what is the real world potential of the centralized, or
test-only, I/M programs?

Second, can well-designed test-and-repair programs likely

achieve the same potential?

And third, what is the role that remote sensing should ultimately
play in these programs, potentially as an alternative, which some
people have suggested?

In my experience over many years, I think the difference be-

tween centralized and decentralized programs has tended to stand
out. I had a similar experience to Senator Chafee. I used to work
for the city of New York a number of years ago, and I think you
had to bribe somebody to pass the program, it was such a
Senator Chafee. Now, I didn't get that far.

[Laughter.]
Mr. Walsh. I know. I know. I didn't say I did, either

[Laughter.]
Senator Chafee. I've been brooding over what I said, and what

I said was that there is a very high rate of passage. But I never
mentioned the word "bribery" in there.

[Laughter.]
IMr. Walsh. The point is that the programs in Portland, OR, in

Phoenix and Tucson, AZ, and in New Jersey for a number of years
stood out as examples of very successful programs, compared to

—

in the case of New Jersey, it was being compared to the New York
City program, and comparable comparisons with the others.

I think the most recent example of a good centralized program
was touched on briefly by Ms. Nichols, and that is the program in

British Columbia. The program started in 1992 with an I/M pro-

gram in the Lower Fraser Valley. It incorporated what was then
a state-of-the-art inspection and maintenance program. It tested for

hydrocarbons, carbon monoxide, oxides of nitrogen, using the so-

called acceleration simulation mode test, and it demonstrated in a
recent audit—now we have a couple years' experience to see how
well it worked—that emissions have been reduced in that program
by approximately 20 percent for hydrocarbons, 24 percent for car-

bon monoxide, and 3 percent for the oxides of nitrogen. They found
in the audit that fuel economy for the failed vehicles, when they
were repaired, improved by approximately 5.5 percent, for a sub-

stantial savings for each of those vehicles per year. It also dem-
onstrated that the centralized program was resulting in a high-

quality test. After reviewing over 2 million tests, the auditor con-

cluded that only in 1.1 percent were incorrect emissions standards
applied to these vehicles, and not one instance was found where a

vehicle was given a conditional pass or a waiver inappropriately.

Available data also indicate that many of the vehicles that failed

and were repaired successfully passed the retest when they went
through in the following I/M cycle, over 53,000 vehicles in that cat-

egory.

Overall, I think these data confirm the conclusion that I/M pro-

grams, when properly performed—and that doesn't indicate that

you can't do a centralized program badly—but when they are prop-

erly performed in a centralized facility using a loaded mode test

procedure, there is real world data that says that these programs
work.
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Looking at some of the enhancement that EPA has called for for

these programs, such as including an evaporative test, going be-

yond the ASM test to IM240, and so forth, one would expect that
you would get additional benefits from such a program.
Now, as we look at combined test-and-repair programs, they are

seen to have many advantages over the centralized program. More
convenience has been mentioned, lower cost, more flexibility. Most
importantly, if a person fails, they could get the vehicle fixed right

away and not face this ping-pong effect that we all are concerned
about.

I must say, as a citizen of Virginia, having lived there for 20
years and gone through their program—and I commend the State
for improving that program and I think making it one of the better

decentralized programs—I wouldn't argue that it's a more conven-
ient program. It is a rare occasion for me to go through that pro-

gram and not take at least an hour, waiting. Each vehicle takes 20
minutes, at least; pull into the bay, get the inspection, pull out of

the bay, get the paperwork done, the next car pulls in. So unless
you're the first car there in the morning—which I guess I don't get

to be—it usually takes—you know, if you're third in line, it takes
you an hour. That's typical, and I think it's something you live

with. In a centralized program I think the waiting times generally

are less, and I had the experience in New Jersey, where I lived for

a couple of years. I perhaps gamed it properly, but I knew to go
at the early part of the month, and I tended to get through those
inspections quite rapidly.

There are some fundamental problems with the test-and-repair

program that I don't think anyone has adequately overcome. Even
in the State of California, which in comparison to Northern Vir-

ginia has over 600 State employees inspecting the inspection pro-

gram, I think it's the most intensely looked-after program in the
country. When you look at what the problems are; first, the poten-
tial for good quality control in a garage environment where you
have tools and lubrication oils spilling occasionally and grease on
the floor and so forth, the ability to quality-control the inspection

itself is much harder than it is in a facility that mass-produces in-

spections and just brings vehicles through in a high volume.
Second, the ability to prevent fraud is much more difficult in that

environment. That's not to say there aren't a lot of very honest peo-

ple doing that work, but as pointed out to me in some discussions

I had when I chaired a California peer review committee a couple
of years ago with the District Attorney, it is inherently easier to

police 200 lanes than it is to police 8,000 lanes. It's just an inher-

ently more difficult problem.
Finally, the cost-effectiveness of doing high-volume tests in a

throughput lane is just inherently easier and more cost-effective

than it is one by one in a private garage-type environment.
Let me jump and just say that of all of the data that I have ever

seen, I have yet to see a program—and I held out California as the
state-of-the-art—I have yet to see a decentralized or combined test-

and-repair program get reductions, demonstrated reductions, real

world reductions, that are anything like what we now see from the
British Columbia program.
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Finally, remote sensing has been held out as a tool that has
great promise for complimenting—and perhaps substituting for

—

an I/M program. Proponents have argued that it's a very useful tool

to screen cars for subsequent in-depth inspection. They argue that
it is uneconomic to test all cars when only a fraction are expected
to be high emitters, and remote sensing can identify those vehicles.
There are several logistic and technical concerns in this regard.

The primary concern is, how do you remotely sense the majority of
the population? In its current.use, remote sensing requires that ve-
hicles pass the sensor in a single line, in single file. It has not been
shown to be practical to constrict heavily traveled roadways to a
single lane during rush hours, for example. Concepts of how remote
sensors could be used in multiple lane situations have yet to be
adequately tested. In addition, remote sensing cannot yet measure
evaporative hydrocarbons, which are an important source. I am op-
timistic that they will be able to test NOx, but not yet. They have
not been demonstrated to be able to do that.

The best program of that type has been carried out in Sac-
ramento just a few months ago. While it expected to test most of
the vehicles in Sacramento, it was really unable to test very many
of the older vehicles, some of which are very high-polluting.

I think I will conclude by just saying that as I look at the avail-

able data, it does say that the prospects of cost-effective and effec-

tive inspections and repairs tend to be much greater with central-

ized than with decentralized, and the use of remote sensing as a
compliment to I/M holds out very high promise, but not as a sub-
stitute for I/M.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Mr. Walsh.
Dr. Scarlett, I have just a couple of very quick questions, and I

will move on to the other Senators and give them an opportunity.
This is more of a statement than a question, but maybe you can

respond to it. I asked this to Ms. Nichols as the last question,
whether EPA would give full credit to a State for all of its credits;

that is, would you get 80 percent if you test 80 percent? And she
said that they would, that that was the policy. Now, if I understood
you correctly, you said that California was informed last night that
it cannot get full credit for its testing program. Did I hear both of

the statements correctly?

Ms. Scarlett. I believe you heard both statements correctly, and
I think the confusion is that, at least as we understand it, EPA
currently will not give full credit prospectively; that is, at the out-

set of a program you will not get full credit. I think what thev are
perhaps contemplating is that after your program has been up and
running, and if you measure the reductions and can demonstrate
them, then sometime down the road you may get your credits ad-
justed. That, of course, is not good solace for States that are facing
sanctions in the meanwhile; they will have to find those credits

from somewhere else.

Senator Faircloth. For right now, for the first round, I am going
to go to Senator Chafee and see if he has some questions.

Senator Chafee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Lawson, you are here to back up Dr. Scarlett and help her,

is that it?
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Mr. Lawson. Yes. I had actually prepared a 5-minute statement.
There was a misunderstanding between staff and us, I think, about
that.

Senator Chafee. I'm sorry, did you have an opening statement?
Mr. Lawson. Yes.
Senator Faircloth. I was informed that you did not. I'm sorry.

Please go ahead and give it. I was of the opinion that you did not
have an opening statement, but we would be delighted to hear it.

I didn't mean to ignore you. Thank you.

Mr. Lawson. Thank you. That was a misunderstanding on my
part.

STATEMENT OF DOUGLAS LAWSON, THE DESERT RESEARCH
INSTITUTE, RENO, NV

Mr. Lawson. Good afternoon. Senators. I appreciate your holding
this hearing this afternoon.

I would like to mention a few points, just summarize and take
a few minutes here. My presentation will consist of the following
components.
As an introduction, my name is Doug Lawson. I'm a research

Professor at The Desert Research Institute in Reno, NV. We're part
of the University of Nevada System, and we're serving as consult-
ants to the California I/M Review Committee.

I would like to summarize in my presentation the following
points.

First, I want to discuss the use of mobile source emission models;
second, I want to summarize mobile source emission characteris-
tics; then we want to discuss real world observations of I/M pro-

gram effectiveness; next we want to discuss results from the Cali-

fornia pilot study that was just completed; we then want to discuss
the test component of I/M programs, and following that the repair
component of I/M programs; and fmally, brief conclusions.

Senator Faircloth. All in 5 minutes.
[Laughter.]
Mr. Lawson. First I would mention that EPA's mobile source

emissions model has not been independently verified for accuracy.
Every time we have performed comparisons of real world data with
the model—and I've been involved personally with that—we see

that the model greatly underpredicts mobile source hydrocarbon
and carbon monoxide emissions. It also overstates the effectiveness

of I/M programs.
Also, the model is used to construct emissions inventories, which

are the cornerstone of our Nation's air pollution control policies and
programs. Therefore, costly and ineffective control strategies are
enacted by Government agencies if the official inventories are in-

correct. Also, incorrect and inefficient I/M program policies are en-

acted if the model itself is incorrect.

Next, if we look at mobile source emissions characteristics them-
selves, what we observe in the real world when cars are warm and
in stable operating conditions is that at least half of the carbon
monoxide comes from fewer or less than 10 percent of the vehicles;

also that in the case of hydrocarbons, exhaust hydrocarbons, again,
more than half of the hydrocarbon emissions come from less than
10 percent of the vehicles.
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We don't know much about nitrogen oxide emissions and how
they are distributed among vehicle, but we suspect also there is a
skewedness in those emissions, as well as some data analysis that
we have done.
What we don't know is the absolute magnitude of evaporative hy-

drocarbon emissions. We don't know that information, although the

EPA model says they are half of the mobile source emission inven-

tory. Therefore, since what we do know should be the focus of the

program, I/M programs should really focus on the high-emitting ve-

hicles.

Now, let me talk about I/M program effectiveness. I have a graph
here that I want to present, first saying that EPA's model says that

decentralized or test-and-repair programs are only half as effective

as centralized programs. Let me put up our poster here.

These are real world data from EPA's tampering surveys, con-

ducted between 1985 and 1990, from 44,000 vehicles stopped na-

tionally as they were driven on the road. What we observe here

—

I know the printing is a bit small—the top row is newest vehicles

that were stopped in that survey; the middle row is the middle-

technology vehicles, from 1975 to 1980; and then—excuse me, from
1980 to 1984—and the bottom row is the oldest vehicles, from 1975

to 1979 model years.

Then the data are divided into columns, where we have the new-
est cars, as far as odometer, in the left column; the oldest cars, as

far as odometer readings, in the right column.
Within each panel here I've divided it into a tampering rate or

broken failure rate of "N," which is program cars from non-I/M

areas; the "D" stands for tampering or broken vehicle rates in de-

centralized areas; the "C" is data from cars that are from central-

ized areas. As you move across each row you see that tampering
rates increase as mileage increases on the odometer. Also, the old-

est cars have the highest tampering rates.

What is most noteworthy, however, is that centralized and decen-

tralized failure rates are nearly identical, but the most disturbing

feature is that those program types are not much better than no

program at all. So what we observe here as far as broken vehicle

failure rates is that these failure rates are nearly identical between

centralized and decentralized areas, and those two program types

are about the same as no I/M program at all. That's very different

from what EPA's model says, and these are real world data.

So there is no basis in fact for the 50-percent discount in effec-

tiveness that EPA's model gives to decentralized I/M programs.

Next I want to summarize just briefly the findings from the Cali-

fornia pilot study, and I'll do that just quickly.

First, the majority of vehicles—and I'm saying about 70 to 80

percent of vehicles—that currently fail I/M tests are only marginal

emitters. We've learned that half of these vehicles' emissions actu-

ally increase after repairs, in the real world.

Second, more than half of the total excess or repairable emissions

of hydrocarbons, carbon monoxide, and nitrogen oxide emissions

come from only 20 percent of the failing vehicles. Let me repeat

that. More than half of the repairable emissions that come from

failing cars come from only 20 percent of those vehicles. So if we
have an I/M program that is failing about 20 percent of its vehicles,
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then 20 percent of 20 percent is 4 percent, so we should only be
concerned about targeting as little as 4 percent of the fleet to find

at least half of the repairable emissions of hydrocarbons, CO, and
nitrogen oxide. It's a very small part of the fleet.

Again, the focus on I/M, as Lynn Scarlett mentioned, should be
on quickly identifying high emitters, diagnosing them properly, re-

pairing them, and verifying the repairs. We call this an IDR pro-

gram.
The third point is that we learned that all of the emissions tests

are nearly equivalent in identifying high emitters. For carbon mon-
oxide and hydrocarbons, idle tests and all the dynamometer tests

are nearly equivalent. For nitrogen oxides, all the dynamometer
tests are nearly equivalent.

The issue in the current I/M debate has been on the tests, such
as loaded mode tests versus idle tests or the testing scenario, that
is, centralized versus decentralized. It appears that this is the least

important issue. The test itself does not reduce emissions, as has
been implied here earlier today. That's just an inspection. So $20
plus 15 minutes every 2 years does not clean the air; that's simply
a test. Again, what's most important in the lack of success in I/M
are hypotheses about human behavior and motorists' desires to

pass the test.

Also, the costs of I/M are greatly underestimated. Ms. Nichols, in

her testimony, mentioned a $500 per ton cost for hydrocarbons.
Our data from the new California program indicate that the costs

will exceed more than $5,500 per ton for the combined pollutants.

So there is an order of magnitude between what we observe in the

data and what Ms. Nichols mentions. This needs to be fully inves-

tigated.

Finally, we have learned from the recent study that to repair

broken vehicles, it costs much more than previously reported. In

the recent California study it was costing about $400 per vehicle

to repair cars that were broken. We just completed a study in Or-
ange County, CA, where the costs were probably exceeding more
than $500 to $600 per car.

The common-sense approach to reducing mobile source emissions
is to spend the limited resources on rapidly identifying and diag-

nosing and repairing vehicles instead of just emphasizing the test.

There is a tremendous economic potential for qualified, competent,
and honest technicians to repair vehicles.

Finally, and maybe most importantly, there needs to be real

world evaluation of I/M program effectiveness so that corrections

and adjustments can be made if those are needed so that we can
improve the effectiveness of the programs. These can be done by
several methods, such roadside surveys, remote sensing surveys,

and tunnel studies, where we actually measure the emissions of ve-

hicles as they drive through the tunnels. As Senator Graham said,

performance should be mentioned and measured.
In my opinion, there are no provisions for I/M program evalua-

tion provided for by the 1990 amendments to the Clean Air Act.

They are simply not there.

To summarize, mobile source emission models are not sufficiently

accurate for evaluating I/M program effectiveness.
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Second, mobile source emission characteristics show a very
skewed emission distribution, even among faihng vehicles.

Third, there is no scientific basis for the 50-percent discount in

program effectiveness for decentralized test-and-repair programs,
as stated in EPA's model.

Fourth, although I believe that I/M programs must be doing
something, we can't see any effect of any I/M program type in re-

ducing tampering or real world emissions.

And fifth, I/M should focus on rapid identification, diagnosis, and
repair of vehicles, with verification of those repairs, because as lit-

tle as 4 percent of the fleet may be the part of the fleet that is most
important to be targeted in these programs.
Thank you.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you, Mr. Lawson.
I have a question for Dr. Scarlett, if I may. As I said earlier, time

is moving on; if you will concentrate on keeping your answers brief

so that we can finish up here this afternoon.

Has an appreciable difference in air quality been obtained as a
result of centralized testing in any area that has implemented it

in the country, as opposed to the other types of testing?

Ms. Scarlett. Briefly, I would suggest that we have not seen

data to indicate that, but I would like to defer to Dr. Lawson be-

cause he has reviewed those data carefully.

Senator Faircloth. Dr. Lawson?
Mr. Lawson. Yes. Given that we don't see much of an effect from

the different program types on reducing failure rates in vehicles,

it would be very difficult to observe a change in ambient air qual-

ity. In fact, there is work that has been done by investigators at

the University of Minnesota that indicates at most about a 1-per-

cent decrease in ambient carbon monoxide due to Minnesota's cen-

tralized I/M program. So there's very little indication that you can

actually observe any noticeable or attributable effect to improving

air quality from I/M programs.
Senator Faircloth. Dr. Scarlett, in 1988 the country was in the

grips of a once-in-a-century heat wave. Because of that, many EPA
programs were devised to allegedly alleviate the poor air quality we
recorded during the heat wave. Dr. Scarlett, do you know what has

happened in these so-called "poor air quality areas" since 1988?

Has it continued to be poor? Or as the weather has abated, has it

become better?

Ms. Scarlett. Well, as we know, never say "always" with the

weather.
You are quite right to point out those data. Some of the figures

used to push additional air quality programs and emissions reduc-

tions were based on kind of a spike in weather conditions that

made air particularly bad. In intervening years, the air quality

does appear to have been somewhat better. However, I must say

—

and certainly in the State of California, notwithstanding the 1988

weather conditions, we do continue to have an air quality problem

that does need some addressing. Now, whether that is more gener-

alizable over the rest of the country is less clear, but our problem

has been so acute that it continues even when the weather condi-

tions are more favorable.

Doug may have a comment on that, too.
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Mr. Lawson. Yes. There are a number of areas that are now cur-

rently in attainment that weren't, based on that hot summer of

1988. I know there has been some consideration of how that might
influence possible revisions or changes or modifications to the 1990
amendments.
Mr. Walsh. Can I make an observation on that, Senator?
Senator Faircloth. Yes, you may.
Mr. Walsh. I think it is important to note that already this

year—and it's not even July yet—we have had a number of viola-

tions in this part of the country of the ozone standard. I note, for

example, Detroit is one of the cities that Dr. Lawson refers to that
we hoped was going to be in attainment, but they now have had
a couple of violations already this month, so the weather is turning
on us again, unfortunately, and it does indicate that the problems
are not solved, by a long shot.

Senator Faircloth. Do you think there is any possibility that an
inch of rain every other day has had any effect on it?

Mr. Walsh. The last week, it has.

Senator Faircloth. I ask Senator Chafee if he has any ques-
tions, but let me comment very quickly

Senator Chafee. Sure.
Senator Faircloth [continuing]. On something you asked about.

When Mr. Walsh or Dr. Scarlett mentioned tampering, if you look
under the hood of an automobile, particularly those that might
have a little age on them, 5, or 6, or 7 years, when this first air

pollution control came out, it is a maze of pipes and tubes and
equipment under there, and some of it was not as well thought-out
as it might have been when it was put on there, and it was not
as well put on or installed, and as this car or vehicle ages this stuff

gets loose and floppy and tends to make it not run as well, so a
lot of people simply reach in and take it out and simplify the
carburation of the automobile.

Senator Chafee. I was going to say, that's spoken like somebody
who has had some experience in it.

[Laughter.]
Senator Chafee. Mr. Chairman, first of all, I want to thank you

for holding this hearing, and I'd like to hearken to the statistics

that Mr. Walsh gave us because I think they are very significant,

and I think they call to mind why we're doing this. This isn't just

some big exercise that a bunch of bureaucrats are imposing on us.

I refer to page 2 of Dr. Walsh's testimony. These statistics, by the
way, I have heard before, and thus I have reason to believe that
they are accurate, and perhaps you could give us your source, Mr.
Walsh. But let me just read this:

"In 1990 there were 50 million more cars on U.S. highways than
there were in 1970." In other words in 20 years, 50 million new ve-

hicles have been added to the number of vehicles—not total vehi-

cles, cars only—on the roads of the country. Now, where is that
from?
Mr. Walsh. That's from the American Automobile Manufacturers

Association.

Senator Chafee. OK. Now, with 50 million more vehicles, there
has been a reduction in carbon monoxide—I'm sorry you didn't give
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these in percentages—but the carbon monoxide has been reduced
from 67.9 tons per year
Mr. Walsh. Senator, the last line has it in percentages. It's a 60-

percent reduction in CO.
Senator Chafee. OK. In 20 years, with 50 million more vehicles,

the carbon monoxide has been reduced by 60 percent; the hydro-
carbons have been reduced by 70 percent; and the NOx has been
reduced by 46 percent.

Now, you might say, "What do we care? What difference does it

make?" Well, I think it has a lot to do with the condition of those
who live in areas where the pollution is heavy. If you look on page
3, Mr. Walsh has pointed out that motor vehicles remain the larg-

est single source of pollution in this country; this is especially true
in the most polluted areas. And who lives in the most polluted
areas? The poorest people in our society. And where are our chil-

dren who have possibilities of risk under this? They are in the most
congested areas, and they are from the lowest income groups in our
society.

So there's a lot of talk around the Senate about regulations and
Government and all the wicked things such as that, but I call at-

tention to these extraordinary statistics that Mr. Walsh has
brought to our attention. Remarkable things have been achieved.

They weren't all done by Government, but Government told the
manufacturers, "You reduce the pollutants that come from the ve-

hicles you produce."
Was it you, Mr. Walsh, who said that a modern vehicle today has

90 percent less pollution than a vehicle built several years ago?
Was that you, Mr. Walsh?

Mr. Walsh. No, it wasn't, but the standards for new vehicles are

90 percent lower. The actual reduction is less than that, but still

quite dramatic.
Senator Chafee. The other point is a very interesting one and

gets to cost efficiency, and that's the point that Mr. Lawson was
making. As I understood your point, Mr. Lawson, it is that if you
really want to get to this problem, get to the high emitters; don't

fiddle with the others; you're just working around the edges. And
if you correct the high emitters, you're taking care of the greatest

percentage of your vehicles. Now, you have the high emitters down
to 4 percent. How did you do that? Wasn't it you that gave
Mr. Lawson. High emitters down to 4 percent? Could you clar-

ify?

Senator Chafee. Somebody had the percentage of getting it

down, 20 percent of 20 percent—wasn't that you?
Mr. Lawson. Oh, yes. My statement was that it looks like

about—as small as maybe 4 percent of the entire fleet is respon-

sible for half of the repairable or reducible emissions of hydro-

carbons, carbon monoxide, and nitrogen oxides.

Senator Chafee. It's too bad that we don't have some kind of a

system that you could go through quickly and determine whether
you're an emitter, or you're a severe emitter. Somebody, maybe Dr.

Scarlett, mentioned a "clean screen" that you could go through and
determine whether you're a problem-causer. It seems to me that if

we had some kind of a system where you could get off the highway
and go through this clean screen, and if you're clean, you get your
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sticker and you're on your way without delaying things, without
going through the testing that Mr. Walsh was describing where you
wait some time.

Is there such a thirg as a clean screen?
Mr. Walsh. Senator, there are efforts underway to develop such

technologies in the future where you could remotely sense—the on-
board diagnostic system on the vehicle—so that you could remotely
identify whether there are defects on vehicles. Unfortunately, I

think this is a technology that isn't here today. It may be here in

the next 5 or 10 years, then will take 10 years or so to become the
dominant part of the fleet. I think in the interim we have to deal
with the vehicles that we have today.

Senator Chafee. Isn't California—aren't some States involved in

buying up the clunkers? Isn't that true?
I'm calling you "Doctor Scarlett" because I figure you're going to

pass your orals, or do you have to write your thesis?

Ms. Scarlett. I have to write that darned thing.

Yes, California does have a buy-back program for vehicles. One
of the problems with the program is that it does not necessarily

target dirty cars; it targets old cars. But what Dr. Lawson and oth-

ers have found is that not all old cars are dirty. So what you want
to do is better target that to the really dirty cars, the ones that are
as much as 80 times their standard, for example.

I would like to disagree slightly with Mr. Walsh in that we do
think there is some role right now in technology in the form of re-

mote sensing—not as a magic bullet, not to be used all by itself,

but we are exploring the prospects of putting remote sensors either

at test sites, at our small component of test-only sites, so that cars

as they go in there and go by can get a quick screen with the re-

mote sensor. We have done some work on that and have found that

the remote sensor does a very good job of screening out the clean

cars in a predictable fashion again and again and again. So we
think that that is an option that is here now. It obviously can be
refined.

Senator Chafee. Now, with this type of remote sensing, you
must have to use it in a setting that is relatively unpolluted by
other vehicles, don't you? You can't just do it with a car going by
like with a hand-held radar, can you?
Ms. Scarlett. Doug can describe the technology, but what we

have in mind with the pre-screen would be to actually do it at a

test site, so they would be relatively free of other cars all going all

over the place.

An alternative is to have remote sensors on the road, but have
them on single lanes where you're not likely to have multiple cars

going by at once. We do agree with Mr. Walsh that there are prob-

lems with doing that, but we think there's still an option here to

use this as a clean screen.

Mr. Walsh. If I could just add to that, I think we agree. I don't

think we disagree on that. I think remote sensing is a wonderful
device and it has a great utility—again, as a supplement, though,
not as an alternative to the inspection program. It can help focus

you on these very dirty vehicles.
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Senator Chafee. Do you agree, Mr. Walsh, that if you identify
the high-emitters and get them out, you've gone a long ways to-

ward solving your problem?
Mr. Walsh. Yes, definitely, but I don't think it's 4 percent of the

vehicles. I think there are probably 20 percent of the vehicles that
we can productively cleanup. It's finding those 20 percent that's the
real challenge and getting them cleaned properly. As Dr. Scarlett
has pointed out, it's not just finding them; it's getting them re-

paired properly, and I think a good inspection test after the repair
is also a critical element in this program—not just identifying
them, but making sure they are repaired properly.

Senator Chafee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Faircloth. Thank you. Senator Chafee.
A quick question. Were you thinking about offering the Escort to

the California program?
[Laughter.]
Senator Faircloth. I want to thank the current panel members

and all of those who have been with us today who have testified.

I think we are all going away a lot smarter and with a lot better
understanding and a sounder basis for what we're trying to do. I

think we're all headed in the same direction; it's just the method
by which we get there. We all agree that we have to clean up the
air, we have to eliminate the pollution as best as practical and pos-

sible, so we are headed the same way.
The American Automobile Association and a number of groups

have had great problems with centralized testing as opposed to

testing in individual stations. I don't know that we've heard a lot

here today to say that there's a lot of advantage to be gained from
centralized testing. The data will be analyzed, we will look at it,

and we will probably be back in touch with some of you to try to

finalize the results before we start writing law. But I tend to agree
that centralized testing sounds pretty cumbersome, and I think it's

maybe not the way to go.

But I thank you all for coming, and we will be back in touch. I

thank you.
Senator Chafee. Mr. Chainnan, could I just say one other thing?

I think it was Mr. Lawson—we got into the cost per ton of vehi-

cles as opposed to the cost per ton for cleaning up from a stationary

source. The statistics I had was that it costs $500 per ton for vehi-

cles as opposed to stationary, but somebody said it was $5,000. Was
that you?
Mr. Lawson. Yes, I did say that.

Senator Chafee. Well, that's some jump from $500, but still half

of the stationary source if it costs $10,000 per ton to clean up from
stationary sources. Do you agree with the $10,000?
Mr. Lawson. I am not an expert on the costs of stationary source

control, but I will say that if we were to use the approach to test

and inspect every car, we're looking at least at an order of mag-
nitude higher cost than what EPA, what Ms. Nichols wrote in her

testimony, and that discrepancy needs to be resolved.

Second, if in fact you focus the limited or finite resource, which
is our dollars, toward repairing the high emitters, we would see

that the overall costs would be significantly less than the more
than $5,000 per ton.
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Senator Chafee. And the challenge being finding the high
emitters?
Mr. Lawson. Yes, and we know how to do that.

Senator Fairclotf. Again, thank you for coming. You've served
your civic duty. Thank you.

[Whereupon, at 4:48 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned, to

reconvene at the call of the chair.]

[Additional statements submitted for the record follow:]

Statement of Becky Norton Dunlop, Secretary of Natural Resources,
Commonwealth of Virginia

I. introduction

Thank you Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee for inviting me to

present testimony on automobile emissions inspection and maintenance. I am hon-
ored to be here today representing Virginia and our Governor, George Allen.

Virginia and a growing number of States across the country oelieve that the
Clean Air Act has veered off-course. The Federal bureaucrats administering the
Act—mainly the EPA—are wrong-headed in their mandates of a one-size-fits-alT pre-
scription for clean air—to the detriment of our citizens, jobs, and, frankly, to the
goal of clean air.

Let me state, once again in very clear language that like most Americans I am
for clean air. The Governor is for clean air and Virginians are for clean air. The
question that is ripe for debate is how best to achieve improvements in air quality
and the need for practical, reasonable, cost-effective, science-based approaches. I

would argue that much brain-power at the State and Federal level, which could be
focused on improving air, is being diverted to paperwork exercises that do nothing
to improve air quality.

The regulatory structure of the Clean Air Act serves neatly as a microcosm of
many environmental regulatory structures: Congress passes a well-meaning, but
nebulously drafted law; EPA begins to promulgate regulations, which at first are
only complicated, but which over time become progressively more detached from the
intent and language of the original statute (as well as any common sense approach);
and finally. States, businesses, and citizens are left trying to decipher and imple-
ment the maze of law and regulations in a timeframe that fails to consider interim
changes in site and situation specific circumstances and the continually changing
regulatory regime.

Ultimately, the only remedy left is to attempt to relegislate the issue—the
Hydralike regulations are impossible to untangle and it becomes apparent that the
law is not working toward its stated goals.

This is the stage at which we presently find ourselves with respect to the Clean
Air Act Amendments of 1990, especially as they pertain to automobile emissions in-

spection and maintenance programs.

II. problems

To be succinct, we believe that there are several defects with EPA's approach to

I/M which have rendered the program unworkable in its current form.

Public Acceptance

First, there is the program's lack of emphasis on the most important element of

any program involving the public—public acceptance. In its 11/5/92 rulemaking,
EPA stressed the important relationship between public approval and convenience;
each is necessary to assure the success of any automobile emissions inspection and
maintenance program. They stated crisply and correctly that "I/M programs need
to be accepted and supported by the public to be successful; therefore, public incon-

venience associated with I/M programs needs to be minimized." 57 Fed. Reg. No.
215 at 52959. This prediction was on target (as subsequent events in Maine, Penn-
sylvania, Texas, Maryland, and other States have shown); it is unfortunate that
EPA did not attempt to build a program around this premise. As States have moved
from planning to implementation, the ping-pong effect, problems associated with
purge and pressure testing, the extreme cost of laboratory-grade equipment, and
other practical difficulties have begun to shift public focus away from clean air and
to the defects of the EPA-created I/M-240, centralized, test-only approach.
Many States have long shared EPA's initial understanding that public support is

the only method for achieving compliance with programs, such as I/M, that affect
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large segments of the public. Conversely, loud threats of punitive measures and
sanctions breed resentment and tend to confirm a general and growing belief among
the public that the program must be significantly flawed. Very few people have to

be bullied into doing what they believe to be right.

In Maine, the program was terminated after only 2 m.onths of operation due to

a stunningly obvious lack of public support. Was the lesson learned? Not really. In
assessing the flaws of the program, EPA concluded that the citizens had not been
properly educated about the program.

In addition to mentioning test frequency as "the single most significant factor in-

fluencing I/M convenience", EPA added "cost, driving distance, certainty of service,

hours of operation, wait times, and necessity for multiple trips" as "other influential

features" that affect public acceptance of the program. (57 Fed. Reg. No. 215 at

52959.) Given these criteria (which we believe are valid), we are unable to com-
prehend EPA's conclusion that a centralized test-only system is the best in all places

and at all times. Simply put, for many States, Virginia among them, a test-and-re-

pair program is the only program that will generate the public support necessary
for program success. And, program success means reduction of mobile emissions.

EPA was obviously aware of the warning signs, but simply refused to heed them.
In their rulemaking, for example, one of the essential criteria mentioned by EPA
was the avoidance of multiple trips. Yet EPA itself recognized that, "centralized pro-

grams necessarily require owners of failed vehicles to make an extra trip to obtain
repairs . . . while "[a]t the stations that do have an engine/emission repair capabil-

ity, the vehicle may be able to complete the test-repair-retest process in one trip."

57 Fed. Reg. No. 215 at 52959-60. On this point, EPA has indicated that they ex-

pect a 40-percent rate of repair failure, which would of course involve a second re-

pair and then a third test. With respect to the driving distance criteria, EPA stated

that "[t]he station-to-vehicle ratio ... in service station based networks is typi-

cally on the order of 1 to 1,000," while the ratio in centralized networks "is about
1 to 35,000". Fed. Reg. No. 215 at 52959.

The Use of Past Performance

Despite all this, and despite likely public concern over yet another function being

absorbed by government bureaucracy, EPA decided to move ahead with mandated
centralized testing. In the rulemaking, they asserted that, "it is not possible for a
decentralized test-and-repair program to meet the performance standard for en-

hanced I/M regardless of the test t3T)e or vehicle class coverage." 57 Fed. Reg. at

52959.
In the CAAA, Congress directed EPA to "provide the States with continued rea-

sonable flexibility to fashion effective, reasonable, and fair programs for the affected

consumer." 42 U.S.C. 7511a(a)(2)(B)(ii). Congress clearly envisioned that some
States would adopt decentralized test-and-repair systems—or continue and improve
already existent test-and-repair systems—when it stated in the Act that States were
to be provided an opportunity to "demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Adminis-
trator that a decentralized program will be equally effective" as a centralized sys-

tem. But even before any demonstration was attempted, EPA ridiculed and under-

cut this congressional intent by pronouncing that:

EPA believes it could not accept any of the currently operating decentral-

ized systems as equally effective to centralized. With these effectiveness

losses, it is not possible for a decentralized test-and-repair program to meet
the performance standard for enhanced I/M, regardless of the test type or

vehicle class coverage. 57 Fed. Reg. at 52959.

After announcing that it could not accept any of the currently operating decentral-

ized programs as equally effective to centralized, EPA closed the noose by making
"past performance" the only method by which equivalency could be judged. In other

words, even before anyone got to demonstrate anything, EPA had already deter-

mined that they would fail based on past performance.

Credit Discount

I will not extensively address EPA's arbitrary decision to impose a 50-percent pen-

alty on all test-and-repair networks. This issue is critically important to Virginia,

along with a host of other States. We believe that the discount is based on an insuf-

ficient data set. For example, in Virginia EPA performed covert audits on 35 vehi-

cles 5 years ago. Only 5 cars were improperly passed, which means that about 85

percent of the tests performed correctly failed the inspected cars. But the real point

is that the entire covert audit universe was only 35 data points. Moreover, the audit

was assessing the performance of our basic test-and-repair program. EPA wants to

extrapolate that data—35 tests out of 650,000 performed annually—and use it to
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predict our future performance under an enhanced program. Beyond that, they have
taken this limited data that indicates that we correctly failed 85 percent of the test-

ed cars and want to use it to justify a 50-percent credit discount.

I bring this to your attention not to argue for 85-percent credit, but rather to dem-
onstrate the limitations of EPA's approach. We believe that each program's credit

should be dependent on how they perform relative to other programs. To be truly
meaningful, one would have to compare our covert audited rate of improper passes
and fails with Maryland, New Jersey, and other States that use centralized systems.

Frankly, we think that our program is now the best in the country. Virginia DEQ
now handles enforcement. To safeguard against possible abuses through intention
or neglect, Virginia's program is characterized by well-trained emissions inspectors
and compliance officers, a reliance on technically advanced information systems, and
rigorous auditing and enforcement.

Virginia initiated a comprehensive emissions inspectors training course in July
1990. To our knowledge Virginia is the only State that requires any formal training
whatsoever for emissions inspectors. Each member of the compliance staff has been
employed in the automotive technology industry, and each has received specialized
training in emissions control technology and quality assurance in decentralized ve-

hicle emission programs. To meet the technical assistance needs of emissions inspec-
tors, the Department of Environmental Quality has a duty officer or hot line officer

available everyday during business hours.
Our data suggests that Virginia's program effectiveness is substantial. Results of

covert compliance efforts in 1993 indicate that 92 percent of the covertly audited
stations correctly detected equipment tampering; 92 percent of the stations executed
the major inspection procedures correctly; and 88 percent of the stations performed
other minor inspection procedures correctly. In 1992, 85 percent of the stations cor-

rectly detected equipment tampering; 90 percent of the stations executed all major
inspection procedures correctly; and 85 percent performed all minor inspections pro-

cedures correctly.

Additionally, enforcement was swift and sure. There were 116 enforcement actions
pursued in 1993 (out of approximately 375 inspection lanes). Almost 65 percent of

these actions resulted in suspensions of inspection authority or civil charges. Fur-
thermore, based on our improving air quality, I believe some credit should be given
to the DEQ employees responsible for the improvements in this program.
As a final note, EPA's discount seems based on a simple predicate: government

workers or contract employees are somehow more likely to be honest than private
sector garage mechanics and owners. I reject this assumption, as I am sure many
if not all of you do.

You have also no doubt heard much recently about EPA's recent conversion to

flexibility in policy—a new willingness to grant the States flexibility in implement-
ing I/M programs. EPA's new views are welcome, but a day late and a dollar short.

EPA remains steadfast in denying one of the most important elements the States
want—full credit for the test-and-repair option. By adhering to its arbitrary 50-per-
cent discount for test-and-repair programs, EPA continues to effectively foreclose

this option. The bottom line is simply this—test-and-repair appears to be among the
most favored approaches by significant fractions of the population of the largest
States in the Union. California, Pennsylvania, Texas, perhaps even New York and
Massachusetts, might proceed expeditiously with a program if the discount were lift:-

ed. By keeping it, EPA intentionally thwarts the will of the people in many States
and ignores the will of the Congress as expressed through the Clean Air Act Amend-
ments of 1990.

III. SOLUTIONS

How should the statutory and regulatory framework of the CAAA be changed to

accommodate States' needs and the imperative to design a I/M program which our
citizens will find acceptable and State governments will be able to administer?

First, and most importantly, the arbitrary discounts should be eliminated. If EPA
believes that a specific program is deficient, it should be compelled to prove that
it is and to demonstrate the extent to which it is deficient and that its deficiency

is harming the air quality. As it currently stands, the States must approach EPA
as supplicants, hoping that their programs will be granted equivalency. We in Vir-

ginia reject this imbalanced and unfair government. We know that our citizens sup-
port Virginia's government standing up for them.
The default credit assignment encoaed in the MOBILE model should be 100 per-

cent, and only when EPA can prove that an individual program deserves less, for

reasons unique to that program, should less than 100-percent credit be assigned. In
changing the law to reflect this belief, we should remain cautious of the overall atti-
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tude of EPA—that the burden is on the States to prove their worthiness. That para-
digm should be reversed—it ought to be assumed a priori that the States and their
citizens will do the right thing. The burden of proof ought to be placed squarely on
EPA to demonstrate that a program is defective, its participants negligent, and the
citizens accomplices. Moreover, such a demonstration should be judicially

reviewable.
Given the advances in quality assurance and control technolo^, we believe that

EPA should amend the inspection and maintenance regulations in 40 CFR 51 Sub-
part S to encourage States to develop programs employing a test-and-repair network
which meet the total mobile source emission reduction goals outlined in the CAAA.
In cases where EPA challenges the adequacy of a. State's program, the final deter-

mination should include deterrence measures, detection measures, enforcement
measures, and compliance rates.

After Virginia's experience with EPA, we believe that all changes should be placed
in the statute. At a minimum, the language m the amended final rule at Section
51.353(b)(1) and (2) should be revised as follows:

(b) Provisional Equivalency. (1) Enhanced I/M areas may choose to imple-
ment a decentralized, test-and-repair network and shall be granted pre-

sumptively equivalence. EPA shall bear the burden of demonstrating that
such a program does not deserve to be considered presumptively equivalent.

If EPA makes such a demonstration, which shall be judicially reviewable,

the State in question may submit a plan meeting the requirements of this

paragraph.
(2) Test-and-Repair Evaluation. The SIP shall include a commitment to

submit to EPA an assessment of the program which includes, in part, the

evaluation testing required in Section 51.353 as well as compliance reports,

deterrence reports and any other information which the State believes to

be necessary tor EPA to properly evaluate the program.

Second, States should be allowed in future programs to take credit for all en-

hanced program design elements which were not present in the basic test-and-repair

programs previously extant. EPA rules ostensibly provide the ability to demonstrate
equivalency of test-and-repair systems by providing:

Better surveillance, more rigorous enforcement and the like will reduce the

egregious levels of improper testing found in these programs. . . . There-

fore, EPA will consider SIP submissions designed to demonstrate that de-

centralized, test-and-repair programs are equally effective to a centralized

f)rogram in meeting the performance standard by using the criteria estab-

ished for case-by-case equivalency. 57 Fed. Reg. at 52959.

However, the case-by-case equivalency section continues with the statement that

"smaller reduction in credits for the various test protocols may be claimed if a State

can demonstrate . . . that based on past performance with the specific test type

and inspection standards employed, its test-and-repair system will exceed those lev-

els" (emphasis added).

In the rule, EPA only allows States to seek an equivalency designation by using

its past test-and-repair performance. The rule does not take into account new pro-

gram features mandated by EPA which will improve both centralized and decentral-

ized programs. For example, EPA has emphasized the integrity of automation; the

rule requires the same automation for the new enhanced programs for both central-

ized and decentralized sites.

The rule also requires items such as real-time data linkage, enhanced enforce-

ment mechanisms, increased program auditing, inspector training and licensing

(which we have been doing for some time in Virginia), repair training, waiver issu-

ance limitations, roadside inspections and on-going program evaluation. Even
though EPA has included these elements as necessary enhancements to the system,

it refuses to recognize that they will improve test-and-repair programs beyond past

performance levels.

If EPA can conclude, as they have done, that these improvements have value in

centralized programs, they should be able to calculate the benefits that these im-

provements will have on decentralized programs. By looking only to the future to

judge centralized programs and only to the past judge decentralized programs, EPA
has aggravated the inherent defects of the 50-percent discount for test-and-repair

programs.
Perhaps the most salient new technology affecting this issue is remote sensing.

Again, EPA has been dragged to this technology; they have not embraced it will-

ingly. Even now, they have yet to tell the States how much credit can be received

for various levels of commitment to remote sensing programs. Ideally, an in-use

92-530 0-96-3
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emissions control program would be based on identifying and correcting gross pollut-

ing vehicles. The tecnnology which could perform this identification—remote sens-
ing—is still relatively new and needs to become a bit more mature before it can be
used as the core of an in use emissions control program. But we are confident that
it will ultimately become sufficiently refined. With tnis in mind, we believe that pro-
grams should be designed to allow the phase-in of remote sensing and the phase-
out of scheduled testing.

In the long term, we need to move away from strict reliance on command and con-
trol techniques and devise ways to incorporate incentives to encourage beneficial be-
havior in society. First, we can give tax breaks for those businesses which purchase
enhanced testing equipment eitner before it is required or testing equipment that
is better than the required equipment. Second, we can offer financial incentives for

those testing station owners who run exemplary programs. Third, by utilizing re-

mote sensors as screening devices, we can waive the tests for thou drivers who keep
their cars running clean.

I'd like to offer a new approach to conflict resolution surrounding clean air issues.
For too long, EPA has enjoyed the virtually unfettered ability to dnve the regulatory
regime in whichever direction it chooses. Important factors in this control are the
computer models on which we all rely, and about which we sometimes have sub-
stantial disagreements. I believe, given the importance of these models, that some
thought should be given to creating a group, consisting of State representatives and
EPA senior officials, which will have the ability to make binding decisions on the
components of the models.

It appears to be exceedingly unlikely that EPA, which has clung tenaciously to

the 50-percent discount, will be willing not only to abandon it, but also to accept
the burden of demonstrating that individual programs ought not be granted pre-
sumptively equivalence, is the best agent to change the legal regime surrounaing
I/M. Therefore, we believe that Congress should reopen the CAAA and make
changes to the statutory foundation underpinning this program.

IV. CONCLUSION

Mr. Chairman, we in Virginia are committed to improving air quality and have
demonstrated this, but we need legislative relief from regulatory obstacles that pre-
vent us from pursuing this goal. As even one of EPA's principal staffers on this

issue acknowledged, "If we could turn back the clock, it is obvious EPA would rede-
sign its program." BNA California Environment Reporter Vol. 5, No. 7, pg. 108.
Well, we can turn back the clock and redesign the program, and I encourage you
to do just that.

Thank you for this opportunity to appear before you today. We look forward to

working closely with you in searching lor ways in the Clean Air Act may be im-
proved.

Statement of Mary D. Nichols, Assistant Administrator for Air and
Radiation, Environmental Protection Agency

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee. Good morning. I appreciate the
opportunity to appear before you today to address a most important air pollution

control program—the motor vehicle emissions inspection and maintenance program.
Air pollution continues to be a major public health problem in nearly every major

city across the United States. Many citizens who live and work in our urban areas
are exposed to unhealthy levels of smog and carbon monoxide pollution. The Clean
Air Act Amendments of 1990 established a carefully balanced and comprehensive
approach to reducing this health threat. Factories, power plants, large and small
businesses, automakers, fuel providers, and individual car owners have all been
asked to do their part. The vehicle inspection and maintenance (I/M) program is a
critical element in our effort to improve air quality. Motor vehicles typically contrib-

ute as much as one-half of the ozone-forming emissions and up to 90 percent of the
carbon monoxide emissions in urban areas. We have made tremendous progress in

reducing vehicle emissions but more people are driving more vehicles more miles
every year. Vehicle miles traveled have doubled over the past 20 years. We need
to keep finding ways to lower emissions just to keep up with this trend.

There are tnree critical elements to controlling motor vehicle pollution: cleaner
cars, cleaner fuels, and better maintenance. We have been working with the auto
manufacturers to improve new car technology and tremendous advances have been
made. New cars emit 90 percent less pollution today than they did 20 years ago.

The simple fact is, however, that cars deteriorate as they age, even the highly so-

phisticated computer controlled and fuel injected cars that are being produced today.
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It is not unusual for cars on the road today to emit from 2 to 17 times as much
as the new car standards to which they were designed and built. About 20-40 per-
cent of the vehicles on the road today need repairs to bring down emission levels.

The best way we know of to identify these gross polluters and ensure effective re-

pairs is a periodic inspection program—enhanced LmVI,

In the past 15 years, EPA has been working with States to design and implement
I/M programs that are effective, efficient and convenient for motorists. EPA did not
start out with a bias toward one type of I/M program or another. After the 1977
Amendments to the Clean Air Act, EPA policy gave equal emission reduction credit
to programs that had stations that only perform I/M tests (test-only) and programs
that allow auto repair shops to perform I/M tests (test-and-repair). Some States
chose to iniplement test-only networks and some chose to implement test-and-repair
networks. Since 1977, EPA has collected and analyzed many types of data on I/M
effectiveness. Some of these data were generated by State agencies or special study
commissions set up by legislatures, while other studies have been conducted by
EPA. EPA carefully reviewed all of this information and the inescapable conclusion
was that test-and-repair programs are much less effective than test-only programs.
The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 specified that serious, severe, and ex-

treme ozone nonattainment areas and all large cities in the northeast ozone trans-
port region implement enhanced I/M programs. About 80 cities in 23 States are re-

quired to implement enhanced programs. Moderate and marginal ozone areas are
required under the 1990 Amendments to continue existing basic I/M programs.
Some of these cities have since reached attainment of the air quality standards and
now about 90 cities are required to have-basic programs.

After the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 became law, EPA initiated an exten-
sive public participation and outreach process to develop a consensus on how to pro-

ceed with enhanced I/M regulations. EPA worked closely with the States, industry,
and other groups both before and during the rulemaking process. Public meetings
were held throughout the country before the regulations were proposed. Almost all

sectors—industry. States, and environmental groups—strongly supported a high
performance standard for enhanced I/M, one that would involve both advanced test-

ing procedures and separation of testing from repair to make the programs effective.

The regulations that EPA issued in November 1992 established a model I/M pro-

gram that can reduce motor vehicle VOC and CO emissions by about one-third. In
addition, it can reduce oxides of nitrogen emissions by about 15 percent. EPA also

worked hard to improve the cost effectiveness of I/M. By doing a better test but
doing it less often, substantial cost savings are achieved in the inspection process
while emission reductions are improved. As a result, enhanced I/M reduces VOC
emissions at a cost of about $500 per ton. This compares very favorably with other

measures, such as stationary source controls which cost up to $10,000 per ton of

VOCs reduced.
Maintaining our investment in motor vehicle pollution control equipment instead

of trying to get diminishing returns from factories and small businesses is a com-
mon sense approach. In fact, EPA estimates that implementing effective I/M pro-

grams instead of alternative controls on factories and small businesses would save

over $1 billion annually and would increase the number of people employed in the

automotive repair industry by 4,000 to 11,000. I have found that the vast majority

of Americans understand and accept their responsibility to maintain their cars in

a reasonable manner and not to remove or disable emission controls. The vast ma-
jority of motorists agree that spending about $20 and 15 minutes—about what it

takes for an oil change—is a small price to pay for cleaner air, providing the test

is accurate, fair, and convenient. New emission testing procedures mean that States

may choose to have cars checked only once every 2 years and test results are far

more accurate than ever before.

Let me describe the elements that make up the enhanced I/M program. The
IM240 test procedure is a central feature of the test but it is not really new. The
IM240 was derived from the Federal Test Procedure (FTP), which has been used

by the auto industry and EPA to certify new vehicles for more than 20 years. Like

the FTP, the IM240 tests a vehicle on a treadmill or dynamometer. The car is driv-

en onto the dynamometer and operated over a set driving cycle for several minutes

that simulate real-world city driving. This fully automated test was specifically de-

veloped to overcome the many problems of the basic I/M test that only measures

a car's emissions at idle. The IM240 has been successfully demonstrated in a pilot

program involving over 10,000 vehicles in real-world I/M testing and has been prac-

tically and economically implemented in I/M programs in Colorado Arizona. IM240
is only part of the test process. EPA has found that evaporative emission control

systems on cars in use were failing with surprising frequency and that very large

quantities of excess gasoline vapors were occurring as a result. This raw gasoline
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is a significant contributor to the ozone problem. So, two new functional checks of
the evaporative emission controls were developed to identify malfunctioning sys-

tems.
The most controversial I/>4 element of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 is,

without a doubt, the requirement that enhanced I/M programs be "centralized" (that

is, test-only) unless a State can demonstrate that a "decentralized" (test-and-repair)

program is equally effective. The basis for this requirement is well supported by the
experience of the 1980's. Test-and-repair I/M programs suffered from severe operat-
ing problems and repeated attempts by States to correct these problems were not
successful. The most aggressive efforts were probably made in my home State of

California. The State developed a huge enforcement bureaucracy and spent large
amounts of money to oversee and enforce the test-and-repair system over the last

decade. Aggressive enforcement in California ranges from monetary fines, to suspen-
sion of testing, to jail time.

EPA relied heavily on the results in California in developing the so-called 50-per-

cent discount for test-and-repair I/M programs. EPA and other States have also con-
ducted audits of I/M programs, as have the General Accounting Office and EPA's
Office of Inspector General. Without exception, these audits have shown that test-

and-repair programs suffer from severe operating problems. EPA's covert audits
showed improper testing about 81 percent of the time and State audits involving

over 10,000 separate undercover car runs found similar results.

There has been no lack of trying to make test-and-repair I/M programs work. For
example, the State of New York required stations to buy cutting edge technology
equipment—fully automated and connected by modem to the Department of Motor
Vehicles for rapid data capture and oversight. The testimony provided by New York
officials during EPA's pubiic hearing on L^ laid out in stark terms the overwhelm-
ing obstacles that exist in the test-and-repair system.
The fundamental problem is a conflict of interest in which inspectors have strong

incentives to pass cars that should fail and in need of repairs. EPA asked States
to come forward with ways to make a test-and-repair system effective so that we
could build it into our I/M regulations. EPA even proposed a trial period in which
States could further attempt to make test-and-repair systems work. The response
we got was a resounding, No! States did not know of any way to make the test-

and-repair system effective and they argued that we should not allow a trial period

because it would not lead to success and would instead simply delay getting needed
air quality improvements. California EPA, for example, wrote to U.S. EPA and said,

"We urge EPA to delete the one-more-try-at-test-and-repair program option from the
final rule. . .

." The South Coast Air Quality Management District (Los Angeles)
wrote, "We believe that EPA should require centralized test-only facilities."

Given these consistent comments from State officials, EPA worked hard to crafl;

a policy that recognizes the law's intent and the limitations of test-and-repair pro-

grams.
There are advocates of alternatives that will tell you otherwise: either that there

is a magic bullet that can make test-and-more effective or that test-only I/M is just

as bad as test-and-repair. We disagree with both assertions. Our interest is achiev-

ing the air quality goals in a practical and cost-effective manner. We do not have
a vested interest in now that is accomplished, but we are concerned that continuing
ineffective programs will not only mean wasted resources and public dissatisfaction,

but it will also mean we do not accomplish the goal of protecting public health.

EPA realizes that some State test-and-repair programs may be achieving greater

effectiveness than these typical levels. EPA will give more credit to States that can
show greater effectiveness with actual operating data. EPA has begun discussions

with the States of Utah and Virginia and is reviewing data from the two States on
the effectiveness of their test-and-repair programs. The purpose of this work is to

arrive at a decision on the appropriate credits for test-and-repair programs in the

two States based on State data and an EPA-stakeholder protocol on idle-test data.

We expect to reach a decision on the credits for the two State programs by the end
of the summer.

In an effort to provide additional flexibility to States, EPA is in the process of

modifying its I/M regulations to create a new, "low enhanced" performance standard
that will be substaijtially less stringent than the current "high enhanced" perform-
ance standard. These regulatory changes were proposed in the Federal Register on
April 28, and a public hearing was held on May 17. Under this new approach.

States will not have to implement test-only programs if they do not need the high
level of emission reductions that such programs provide. They will have the option

to implement test-and-repair systems, as long as they can find enough emission re-

ductions elsewhere to achieve the 15-percent reduction in VOC emissions and, even-
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tually, attainment of the ozone or carbon monoxide standards as required by the
Clean Air Act.

In February 1995, EPA issued new I/M emission credits for auto technician train-
ing and certification, and an alternative to the IM240 test procedure. These credits
will help States provide incentives to the repair industry to upgrade its skills, train-
ing, ana equipment to meet the challenges presented by the ever-changing new tech-
nologies on modern cars. Our new policy also allows hybrid programs which combine
test-only and test-and-repair components. The hybrid approach offers greater public
convenience, possibilities and supports businesses currently involved in I/M testing
and repair of vehicles. Several States are pursuing this approach, including New
Jersey and Georgia. The Clean Air Act and EPA regulations require that enhanced
I/M programs include a certain amount of "on-road testing." Although States have
flexibility in the tjqje of on-road testing they conduct, many are planning to install

roadside remote sensors.

To conclude, enhanced I/M is a critical component of this Nation's efforts to im-
prove air quality. A good enhanced I/M program is cost-effective and practical. By
its very nature, however, it affects car owners directly, and therefore is a visible tar-

get for critics of any new government program. The fact remains, however, that if

we as a society value clean air we need to assure that the emission controls on the
millions of cars and trucks used in urban areas are working. A periodic emissions
check is the best way we know to accomplish this goal. Keep in mind that EPA rec-

ommends the I/M test only be performed once every 2 years and some States exempt
from testing cars that are less than 4 years old.

For the majority of motorists who keep their cars reasonably well-maintained,
about 70 percent of the population, the 15-minute biennial test will be the full ex-

tent of their involvement with I/M. Their cars will pass and they will be on their

way. Even for the motorists whose cars fail, there are indirect benefits. The most
common engine problems cause a car's fuel consumption to increase. By fixing the

problem the motorist will actually end up saving some money at the gas pump.
These savings will largely offset the repair costs needed to pass the I/M test.

I hope I nave clarified for this subcommittee EPA's views on vehicle I/M pro-

grams. We have listened to the many comments we have received over the past
months and are responding with common sense revisions to our regulations. For
these reasons, I believe the Clean Air Act does not need to be amended in order

to provide States with the flexibility to implement effective I/M programs tailored

to local needs and conditions.

Thank you very much. I would be pleased to answer any questions you may have.

Statement of Thomas Getz, Director, Air Pollution Control Division,

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment

Honorable Ladies and Gentlemen of the Senate, thank you for the invitation to

speak before your subcommittee this afternoon, appreciate being here to share with

you information on Colorado's experience with both decentralized and centralized

l/M programs. In particular, I appreciate being able to present the Colorado Depart-

ment of Public Health and Environment's (CDPHE's) perspective on centralized vs.

decentralized emissions testing, and EPA's policy of granting only 50-percent credit

for State programs which do not rely exclusively on centralized (inspection-only)

testing.

background

Colorado's enhanced I/M program has been designed to meet the air quality needs

of Colorado. It was designed with the basic tenet of protection of the public's health

and welfare in mind. The program conforms with the requirements of the Clean Air

Act (designed using U.S. EPA guidance), but foremost it represents a program which

represents the needs of Colorado.

The State remains committed to maintaining the goals of the Clean Air Act. While

, we believe States should have the flexibility needed for design approaches which

best work in their State, we have not wavered from the intent or goals of the Clean

Air Act, and the need to achieve and maintain air quality standards.

In the metropolitan Denver carbon monoxide nonattainment area, an enhanced

I/M program utilizing the IM240 test for 1982 and newer vehicles has been in place

since January 2, 1995. This program is a centralized biennial inspection, with an

exemption for the first four model years. Pre-1982 vehicles are inspected at private

inspection-only stations using the Colorado 1994 idle test. A "basic" decentralized

program is used for vehicles in less serious nonattainment areas (Fort Collins-Gree-

ley, Colorado Springs).
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ACHIEVEMENTS

After some startup problems, Colorado's enhanced I/M program is beginning to

achieve the air quality goals set out for it. The program is detecting vehicles with
excess emissions, and is causing those vehicles to be repaired. A good reduction in

vehicle emissions is being seen for vehicles which fail and then are repaired. At the
present time vehicles initially failing the enhanced I/M program are averaging 82.0
g/mi of carbon monoxide, and 4.5 g/mi hydrocarbon emissions. After repairs, these
same vehicles are averaging less than 34 g/mi of carbon monoxide and 2.5 g/mi of
hydrocarbon emissions. This is a 58-percent and 44-percent reduction of emissions
respectively. As the program is phased-in, these final average emissions will be fur-

ther decreased, thereby increasing the effectiveness of the program even more. It

is our view that the centralized inspection program clearly offers the most cost effec-

tive approach to reducing CO emissions in the metropolitan Denver area.
The major problems with the introduction of our program occurred due to the lim-

ited number of inspection stations completed at the start of the program, equipment
durability, and staff experience. Excessive wait times for some motorists thus oc-

curred, with some vehicles being incorrectly inspected. As the system has been built

out to the initial design, and equipment and personnel problems have been miti-

gated, the problems encountered during the startup of the program have dramati-
cally decreased. Average customer wait times have been reduced, and there have
been a declining number of violations of the 15-minute average wait time standard.
Compared to Colorado's old decentralized program, the new program is much

more effective at detecting problem vehicles. Vehicles such as mid-80's Ford Escorts
which have high failure rates, were largely missed by the older decentralized pro-
gram. In identifying these and other excess emitting vehicles, the IM240 test is

proving to be a reliable and effective test. Additionally, the use of this test is allow-
ing the development of proper repair procedures for problem vehicles, such as the
Ford Escort.

CENTRALIZED VS. DECENTRALIZED l/M CREDITS

Colorado is operating both centralized and decentralized I/M programs. Colorado
also has had long experience with decentralized programs, and the problems con-
nected with them, such as incorrectly conducted inspections, and the conflict of in-

terest which results from test-and-repair inspection stations. Based upon this expe-
rience, the CDPHE encourages that air quality credits be based on true air quality
benefits received.

We favor an approach which provides credits for real world air quality reductions.
Centralized test-only programs which provide greater air quality benefits than oth-

ers, such as decentralized test and repair programs, should receive more credit. It

is our opinion that the EPA's 50-percent discount is reasonable, based on the cur-

rently available scientific information.
The State believes that it is important to promote the public health and welfare

goals incorporated within the Clean Air Act. The air quality standards are based
on good science and are designed to protect the public's health. We need to maintain
them.
We also must recognize the need for flexibility in technology, and the need for

flexibility of the States to take approaches which fit their specific needs. For Colo-
rado, the IM240-based program is best suited for our needs, which are based pri-

marily on carbon monoxide exceedances. For other States with ozone problems this

may not be the case. Each State however, should be given the opportunity to de-
velop their own approaches which meet the standards set forth in the Clean Air Act.

The credit for these programs should be based on air quality benefits received, with
science-based alternative credits available for innovative strategies.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In summary, Colorado has developed its enhanced I/M program based on the most
technically correct information available, and is veir hesitant to compromise the cri-

teria used in that development. As such, the CDPHE recommends the following:
• The U.S EPA should continue to develop appropriate procedures to evaluate the

effectiveness of centralized vs. decentralized programs, and based on this, ap-
propriate discounts should be developed.

• Standards set by the Clean Air Act should be maintained.
• States should have maximum flexibility in adopting approaches (and flexibility

in technology) which meet those standards.
• Air quality credits must be based on true air quality benefits received, with

science-based alternative credits for innovative strategies.
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• The conflict of interest of test-and-repair is eliminated in centralized (inspec-

tion-only) stations and credit should be given for this.

• The EPA's 50-percent discount for test-and-repair programs is justified at this

time, pending lurther study in this area.

Statement of Lynn Scarlett, Chairperson, California Inspection and
Maintenance Review Committee

i. introduction

On behalf of the Inspection and Maintenance Review Committee of the State of

California, I am pleased to testify regarding current Federal regulatory require-

ments for State inspection and maintenance (I/M) programs in non-attainment
areas.

California's I/M Review Committee is committed to: (1) recommending inspection
and maintenance policies that will achieve measurable vehicle emission reductions
in California; and (2) ensuring appropriate evaluation of the State's I/M program to

determine program effectiveness.

The I/M Review Committee's fundamental goal is cleaner air in California; its

focus is on how to design I/M programs to achieve the most cost-effective achieve-

ment of that goal.

II. BACKGROUND

California's I/M Review Committee, appointed in 1994 by the Governor and the

State's legislature, has three primary functions:
• to review results of two pilot projects undertaken by the State of California to

examine I/M program options;
• to make policy recommendations to the State of Csdifornia regarding its I/M
program; and

• to evaluate the performance of the State's I/M program.
Pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement signed on March 21, 1994, between the

State of California and the United States Environmental Protection Agency
(USEPA), the State funded two pilot studies to examine several issues relevant to

understanding IM program performance. The first of these studies, performed by
the California Air Resources Board, evaluated claims by EPA that a transient, load-

ed-mode IM240 inspection test was superior to other test options in properly identi-

fying vehicles that exceeded allowable emission levels. The second study, performed
by the State's Bureau of Automotive Repair, evaluated the prospects of deploying

remote-sensing devices (RSD) on a community-wide basis to ' read" the emissions of

a significant percentage of vehicles in a geographic area and to accurately identify

gross emitters.

Initial results of these two pilot studies show three important findings: (1) identi-

fication of high-emitting vehicles does not vary significantly by test type; (2) test

type does not significantly affect repair effectiveness; and (3) remote-sensing devices

set up over a 10-week period performed at least one "reading" of nearly one-half

(over 400,000) of the vehicles registered in the test area of metropolitan Sacramento.
'This "coverage" would appear to be adequate for use of remote-sensing as a deter-

rent to tampering and as a means of identifying high emitters during periods be-

tween any regular vehicle testing. ^

These conclusions are at odds with numerous other studies of remote sensing in

which the device has been shown successfully to identify excess emissions. The Aus-

tin/Heirigs study suffers from a number of analytical shortcomings. For example,

the authors fail to explore the impacts in California's remote-sensing pilot study of

comparing IM240 test results with remote-sensing results taken three months ear-

lier. That 3-month interval was critical for a variety of reasons: At a minimum,
when remote-sensing tests were undertaken, non-oxygenated gasoline was being

sold in the test area; during the IM240 test phase, oxygenated gasoline was being

sold. The latter reduces CO emissions by 15 percent to 20 percent on average. One
would, therefore, not expect high correlations between the IM240 test data and the

RSD data.

'One recent widely reported assessment of California's remote-sensing pilot study in Sac-

ramento offers a misleading indictment of the potential effectiveness of remote-sensing. That

study, "The Effectiveness of IM240 Testing, ASM Testing, and Remote Sensing Based on the

California I/M Pilot Projects," by Thomas C. Austin and Phihp L. Heirigs (Sierra Research, Inc.),

states that remote sensing "is incapable of detecting the most common forms of tampering,

prone to a high rate of false failures, and unable to identify most of the excess emissions that

exist in the fleet. .
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III. POLICY AND REGULATORY ISSUES

Motor vehicles are a significant source of air pollution in California. Emissions
from motor vehicles may account for some 60 percent of hydrocarbon emissions, half

of all nitrogen oxide emissions, and as high as 90 percent of carbon monoxide emis-
sions. However, studies conducted over tne past several years have demonstrated
that government agencies' official inventories greatly underestimate mobile source
emissions. In urban areas, for example, mobile sources and their associated emis-

sions may account for as much as 80 percent of hydrocarbon emissions. Despite out-

standing gains in new-vehicle technologies, which have resulted in dramatic reduc-

tions in average emissions from new cars, a subset of vehicles on the road continues
to contribute substantially to air emissions.

Achie'/ing desired air-quality standards in the State therefore requires that in-use

emissions from these high emitters be reduced. As indicated in the work of Dr.

Douglas Lawson, Dr. Donald Stedman, and others, vehicle emissions are highly

skewed, with a small percentage of vehicles accounting for a very large percentage
of total emissions. Programs that identity high-polluting vehicles and reduce their

emissions are, thus, an important component of achieving improved air quality in

California.

California's I/M Review Committee is committed to recommending measures that
will assist the State in implementing a successful inspection and maintenance pro-

gram. The I/M Review Committee defines such a program as one that can be diiem-

onstrated to achieve required reductions in vehicle emissions in the most cost-effec-

tive manner possible.

Program Success: EPA Perspective. To date, EPA has focused primarily (though
not exclusively) on three variables as relevant to program success:

• Test Type. Implicit in EPA literature and regulations on I/M programs is the
view tnat test type is a critical determinant of program success. Specifically,

EPA has argued for increasingly sophisticated test types, with an emphasis on
a transient, loaded-mode, dynamometer test (IM240) to replace idle tests.

Results of California's pilot test comparing IM240 with other test modes under-
mine claims that test-type is a critical variable for program success. EPA has begun
to acknowledge that alternative test modes might function as effectively as the

IM240.
• Locus of Test. EPA literature and regulations assume that separating test func-

tions from repair activities significantly improves program success. Thus, for

full program credits EPA requires test-only programs and assumes that pro-

grams combining test-and-repair functions will be half as effective as test-only

(usually centrally operated) programs.
A California I/M Review Committee assessment of this assumption demonstrates

that empirical data do not support EPA's claims for test-only programs. At best, we
can conclude that neither test-only nor test-and-repair programs have worked well

to date; and, though no testing program appears to have worked particularly well,

some test-and-repair programs nave worked better than some test-only programs
and vice versa. Thus, other factors that affect human behavior and incentives to

comply appear to be more critical to determining degree of program effectiveness.

• Repair Cost Limits. EPA literature implies that past programs with low repair-

cost limits were an important impediment to achieving significant emission re-

ductions from I/M programs.
No data are available to assess this assumption.
Alternative Perspective on Program Success. Test tjT)e and location of test do not

appear to determine program success or failure. Dr. Jerry Aroesty, et al., note in

a report for California's Senate Transportation Committee that "a preoccupation
with the process for screening and identifying vehicles misses the point: an effective

system must not only find the broken cars, but it must fix them. The measure of

success is total emission reduction, not merely identification rates."

A report prepared by Joel Schwartz for California's I/M Review Committee con-

cludes: "Whether an I/M program is centralized or decentralized has not been an
important factor in determining I/M program effectiveness." The report notes that

"trends in ambient ozone and CO levels between 1983 and 1992 show that, on aver-

age, regions with decentralized I/M and regions with centralized I/M had about the

same reduction in the two pollutants."

Program success is likely, instead, to be a function of a broader and more complex
set of issues. At least five components of I/M programs appear relevant to program
success.

2

2 Dr. Jerry Aroesty, et al. suggested four of these five components in their report, "Restructur-

ing Smog Cfheck: A Policy Synthesis," prepared for the California Senate Transportation Com-
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These include the abiUty of a program to:

• Identify high-emitting vehicles rapidly;
• Diagnose emission problems associated with high-emitting vehicles;
• Result in effective and enduring repairs of high-emitting vehicles;
• Verify that repairs occur and that emission reductions are maintained over

time;
• Provide a context in which consumers and automotive technicians have strong

personal motivations to properly maintain vehicles, avoid tampering of emis-
sion-control equipment, and secure enduring repairs and reductions in vehicle

emissions.
The current focus by EPA on pro-ams that use high-tech test equipment to per-

form periodic (annual or biennial) inspections on all vehicles in test-only stations:

(1) fails adequately to take into account motorist and mechanic behavioral responses
to test programs; (2) targets all vehicles equally rather than focusing on high
emitters from which one can anticipate achieving significant reductions after repairs

are performed; (3) ignores the need for real-world verification that emission reduc-

tions are being achieved.

rv. REGULATORY FRAMEWORK: CRITIQUE OF EPA MODEL AND ASSUMPTIONS

In its regulatory guidance document for I/M programs, EPA states that "States

have the flexibility to design their own programs if they can show that their pro-

gram is as effective as the model program used in the performance standard." Cali-

fornia's I/M Review Committee lauds a Federal Government commitment to State

flexibility.

However, EPA has failed to translate that commitment to flexibility into their reg-

ulations or program evaluation criteria. To determine program equivalence, EPA re-

lies on a mobile emissions model, not real-world evidence of program performance.
EPA Model. EPA's mobile emissions model includes variables for fleet composi-

tion, weather, vehicle speed and vehicle miles traveled, and other factors ;elevant

to modeling current and future vehicle emissions. In addition, the model includes

assumptions regarding the expected irnpact on vehicle emissions associated with a

select subset of I/M program features. The model includes few variables relevant to

consumer behavior associated with program type; and credits proposed for remote
sensing currently provide only crude accommodation of potentially positive impacts

from remote-sensing (ongoing on-road emission tests between scheduled testing) of

vehicles.

For a given State, showing program equivalence requires inputting into the model
a subset of specific features of a State's I/M program (along with other data regard-

ing fleet composition, miles travelled, etc.). Each I/M program feature is ^ven a nu-

merical value in the model regarding its assumed impact on air emissions. Some
program features, particularly relating to behavioral incentives and disincentives,

are not included at all in the model. The result is that these features are not in-

cluded in EPA's evaluation of a State's program and its potential (and actual) effec-

tiveness.

Where EPA does include features relating to behavior, numerical assumptions ap-

pear to be arbitrary and skewed toward assuming that centralized test-only pro-

grams result in near-perfect compliance. For example, EPA's model uses an assump-
tion of 96-percent compliance for test-only programs and also assumes a high degree

of repair effectiveness.

Using all inputs, the model is then run to estimate total emissions at different

points in time. These results are compared to results derived when EPAs "ideal"

program features are input into the model. The performance standard for any loca-

tion is not a set of measurable, real-world emissions reductions. Instead, a computer

modeling of EPA's ideal enhanced program is compared to a modeling of a State's

program to determine program equivalence. In short, the model is the performance

Why is this a problem for the State of California and other States? This perform-

ance standard poses a fundamental problem for States since the model is just that-

a model. Its utility as a measure of^ emission reductions is a function of how well

the model actually reflects real-world emission dynamics.
Evidence presented to California's I/M Review Committee suggests that the model

does not meet a "reahty test." Consider three points in particular:

mittee. In that report, they state, "everything we have learned about I/M in the past few years

shows that all of these phases must be effective for the entire system to operate properly and

economically." They note that focus on whether or not a program separates test from repair ac-

tivities "is an overly simplified approach to a far more complex problem and neglects the impor-

tant behavioral, technical, and social dimensions of an I/M system."
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(1) Model results regarding air emissions do not match well with actual ambient air
data and other empirical evidence regarding vehicle air emissions.

Dr. Douglas Lawson has noted that "top-down" comparisons of ambient data with
the modeled emission in\entory show that hydrocarbons are 2 to 2.5 times higher
than the modeling inventory predicts. Likewise, in "tunnel studies" in which an
urban vehicle fleet's emissions were measured in tunnels, hydrocarbon and carbon
monoxide measurements of vehicle emissions were 2 to 4 times greater than pre-

dicted by the model.
Moreover, as Dr. Jerry Aroesty has noted, "modem emissions control systems

often exhibit unstable and highly variable emissions characteristics when they dete-
riorate. . . . The implications are . . . that estimates of I/M performance based on
crude, highly aggregated emission system deterioration models fail to reflect varia-
bility and other real world failure modes. " Dr. Aroesty concludes that "even today,

the official' models still appear to be playing catch-up with the data."

(2) Numerical values of specific inputs into the model are not always based on empir-
ical evidence.

The most important of these factors is the 50-percent discount that EPA applies

to decentralized (test-and-repair) programs. As an input into the model, all test-and-

repair programs receive a discount of 50 percent for emission reductions relative to

reductions estimated to occur with centralized (test-only) programs.
EPA has stated that this discount was derived pursuant to data from tampering

surveys and audits of State programs. EPA used these data to compare centralized
and decentralized programs. Their published reports of these data conclude that de-

centralized programs are half as effective as centralized (test-only) programs.
California's I/M Review Committee disputes this claim. In an inaependent review

of the tampering surveys and State audits, California's I/M Committee finds:

• little oifTerence in vehicle tampering rates among areas with test-only programs
and those with test-and-repair programs;

• no empirical evidence from State audits that test-only programs function better
than test-and-repair programs. Specifically, (1) EPA analyzed data that in-

cluded errors in favor of centralized programs; (2) its audits, which were not
designed to compare program types, included (possibly unintentional) meth-
odological and other biases against decentralized programs; (3) EPA did not col-

lect audit data that could be used to assess I/M emission reductions associated
with program types.

• ambient air data discussed by EPA and used to compare test-only with test-and-

repair programs in its "I/M Briefing Book" (but not used in its initial develop-
ment of the 50-percent discount) did not correct for differences in vehicle mile-

age among States, included selection bias in the vehicles evaluated in test-only

sites, and did not show that cars in test-only areas were uniformly cleaner than
in test-and-repair areas.

^

(3) Some potential program elements are not incorporated into the model at all, or
are only given very crude numerical credits within the model.

In particular, the model is ill-suited to incorporating program elements that affect

consumer and automotive technician behavior. For example, the State of California
and other States have considered adding on-road use of remote sensors as part of

their I/M programs. The model does not to calculate emission credits for: (a) any
deterrent effect against tampering that remote-sensing might have; (b) any incentive

effect remote-sensing might have on consumers to seek lull vehicle repairs during
a periodic smog check to avoid being "caught" by a remote sensor at a later date;

(c) any "oversight" effect remote sensing might have on automotive technicians

whose repairs could be challenged if motorists were "caught" by a remote sensor
after repairs had been completed; and (d) any "second-check" effect remote sensing
might play in identifying vehicles that passed a periodic test but soon after again
became high emitters. (That these program elements may be difficult to model does
not reduce or eliminate their potential significance for program success. The dif-

3 The I/M Review Committee analysis of data cited by EPA shows that EPA's comparisons of

fleet emissions in Arizona and California do not support concluding that test-only programs per-

form better than test-and-repair programs. While many other factors mav influence differences

in fleet emissions between California and Arizona, even an analysis of Arizona and California

fleet emission data show a more complex picture than that offered by EPA. Our analysis of the
Arizona and California data showed that vehicles in Arizona (test-only program) have CO emis-
sions that are about the same as in California (test-and-repair program). Arizona cars are clean-

er for hydrocarbons; California cars are cleaner for nitrogen oxides. Adjusted for emissions
standards, the Committee finds that California cars are cleaner for CO; Arizona is cleaner for

hydrocarbons, and the fleets are the same for nitrogen oxides.
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ficulty in isolating the effects of these behavioral variables in a model underscores
the importance or measuring program results by using real-world air emission ob-
servations).

Rethinking Program Evaluation. What is the bottom line of this discussion regard-
ing EPA's modeling? On February 1, 1995, at a meeting of California's I/M Commit-
tee, EPA reaffirmed that State I/M program performance would be evaluated
against the model. EPA has continued to base program approval and State Imple-
mentation Plan (SIP) credits on modeling outputs. The emphasis on modeling places
at a significant disadvantage those States that prefer to rely primarily on decentral-
ized test-and-repair facilities. This disadvantage accrues to States despite no sub-
stantive evidence that centralized test-only programs necessarily perform more ef-

fectively than other program designs.
In light of the importance EPA gives to the model, the I/M Review Committee

asked that EPA perform a "reality check" of the model to determine how well the
model results mirror real-world air emissions for a given area. EPA underscored
that no reality check of the model is possible, since the model is simply a series of
aggregated and averaged assumptions that mav not reflect any specific real-world
situation. EPA suggested that the only way to cneck the model would be to examine
the specific assumptions or parameters that make up the model.

California's I/M Review Committee finds:

(1) that current real-world evidence indicates that the model results diverge sub-
stantially from observable ambient air data and urban tunnel study data;

(2) that examination of at least one important model parameter-that of the 50-

percent discount for test-and-repair programs relative to test-only programs
shows no empirical evidence for the model's assumption regarding test-only

and test-and-repair programs.
EPA is requiring of States that their program performance be evaluated against

model results that are at least in part based on fiction rather than fact. Use of the
modeled results as the "gold standard" against which State programs are evaluated
has serious consequences for both State flexibility and potential program effective-

ness.

First, there is no real-world evidence that EPA's "ideal program" will, in fact,

achieve the reductions shown by EPA's model. Thus, State programs are being
asked to show equivalence to an unsubstantiated model. Success is defined by the
model rather than by achievement of real-world emission reductions. The end result

may be that States will expend large sums of money implementing programs that
show equivalence with EPA's model but achieve little real-world emission reduc-
tions.

Second, while EPA appears in principle to agree that the State of California can
undertake a real-world evaluation of its programs to determine whether programs
have been successful, this evaluation in no way affects the initial allocation of SIP
credits. Under a current California proposal for a hybrid program that includes
some test-only and some test-and-repair facilities, EPA has indicated that the State
will not receive full SIP credits. This failure to give the State full SIP credits occurs

despite the existence of any agreed upon evidence to demonstrate that test-only pro-

grams outperform well-designed test-and-repair programs. This failure of EPA to

give full credit to California for its proposed program, which incorporates a variety

of sophisticated program elements designed to ensure real-world emission reduc-

tions, makes EPA's announced flexibility more apparent than real.

Third, States have little incentive to introduce program components that may im-
prove program performance unless those elements are already parameters within

EPA's model. Since EPA significantly downplays or omits behavioral aspects that
affect program success, program elements (such as use of remote-sensing as a deter-

rent, incentive, emissions monitor, and oversight mechanism) that provide incen-

tives for consumers to seek "clean cars" rather than merely smog certificates are in

effect discouraged. (As noted earlier, that these program elements may be difficult

to model does not reduce or eliminate their potential significance for program suc-

cess. The difficulty in isolating the effects of these behavioral variables in a model
underscores the importance of measuring program results by using real-world air

emission observations).

Remedy: What Do States Need?

At issue in the current I/M debate between EPA and the States is not whether
clean air goals ought to be pursued. The State of California and its I/M Review
Committee are fully committed to achieving clean-air goals.

At issue is whether the State of California and other States will be able to imple-

ment I/M programs that have some prospect of achieving air emission reductions in

the most cost-effective manner.
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This challenge requires:
• State flexibility. EPA currently pays lip service to the concept of flexibility.

However, its reliance on a model that includes unverified assumptions, omits
important parameters, fails to give credit for all possible program elements, and
has been snown to be an inaccurate reflection of real-world emissions, signifi-

cantly narrows program options for States.
• Program evaluation. Currently, no systematic, real-world program evaluations

exist for all State programs. Program success is measured against a model, not
empirical evidence that a program has achieved some prescribed reductions in

emissions. That developing protocols for measuring such reductions is difficult

offers an insufficient excuse to discard altogether any effort at empiricism.
• Attention to personal behavior. EPA has over-relied on technocratic aspects of

program design, emphasizing such matters as equipment test type and identi-

fication of vehicle emissions. The State of California has over 20 million vehicles

on the road, many millions of drivers, and over 9,000 service-station operators
that repair vehicles. Key to any program success will be whether institutional,

technical, and economic aspects of I/M programs provide a situation in which
individuals have incentives to drive clean-operating vehicles and automotive
technicians have both incentives and opportunities to repair "broken" vehicles.

EPA posits that separation of test from repair activities will deter fraud. Empiri-
cal evidence does not appear to sustain this view. Hence, States need to be able to

focus on other options, such as that offered by remote sensing and other program
enforcement elements, to create conditions where consumers nave a motivation to

minimize vehicle emissions. Measuring program success by use of real-world data
(rather than a model) allows for the impact (if any) from these behavioral aspects

to "count" fully in program evaluation.
• Attention to high-emitting vehicles. Most—about 80 percent—of vehicles on the

road are relatively clean. EPA continues to assume that the best program is one
that measures emissions from all cars. Doing so has two adverse effects: (1)

money spent to identify all emissions absorbs resources that could be expended
to ensure that high-emitting vehicles are repaired (or removed from the road);

and (2) targetting all vehicles equally opens up the prospect that, through the
test and repair procedures, marginal emitters may actually be rendered less

clean—a prospect observed in California's El Monte pilot study and elsewhere.
States need the latitude to decide where they will get the "biggest bang for the
buck," again, measuring program performance by examining real-world evi-

dence rather than a EPA model.
A minimal first step to providing States with broader program flexibility would

be achieved through elimination of EPA's 50-percent discount for test-and-repair

programs. A second step, still operating within the confines of a modeling approach
to assessing program equivalence, would be to fundamentally revisit and revise that

model to better take into account a wide variety of program variables not now con-

sidered and not now given a numerical "credit" value. Ultimately, however, program
effectiveness should be assessed through real-world data. The third step, thus, is to

align I/M programs with other air emission programs in which real-world emissions
data are used to evaluate performance and determine program adjustments.

In conclusion, I would like to thank the Senate Subcommittee on Clean Air, Wet-
lands, Private Property and Nuclear Safety for having held these hearings.

Statement of Michael P. Walsh, Consultant, Arlington, VA

Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. My name is Michael P. Walsh. I am a me-
chanical engineer and an independent consultant in the field of motor vehicle pollu-

tion control and energy. Several years ago, I was the Director of the EPA motor ve-

hicle pollution control program and I am currently a technical advisor to many coun-
tries around the world in the design and implementation of their motor vehicle pol-

lution control programs. During 1993, I was asked by the California legislature and
the California Air Resources Board to serve as Chairman of a technical Peer Review
Panel, to assess the results of an analysis of I/M carried out by the Inspection and
Maintenance Review Committee and I will draw in part on that effort in making
my presentation today.
Over the course of the past 25 years, the emission rate for on-highway cars in

the United States has declined dramatically. As newer vehicles equipped with ad-

vanced emissions controls have replaced older, higher polluting ones, there has been
a clear downward trend in emissions of all three pollutants. This is especially en-

couraging in light of the continued rapid growth in vehicles and vehicle miles trav-

eled by cars during this same period; in 1990 there were 50 million more cars on
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U.S. highways than there were in 1970. Had emissions per mile not been reduced,
passenger cars in 1990 would have emitted 65 percent more CO, HC, and NOx than
they did in 1970. In other words, as illustrated in Table A, instead of passenger car
CO having been reduced from 68 million metric tons to 27, these emissions would
have climbed to 112 tons.

Table A—Emissions Trends in the U.S. (1970-1990)

Passener Cars (Tons Per Year)
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Sources of Emissions In The
United States - 1993

Road Traffic Off Road Vehicles m All Other

NMHC PM-10

Our continuing air pollution problem is of concern primarily because it poses seri-

ous public healtn risks. Ground-level ozone, for example, damages lung tissue, re-

duces lung function, and sensitizes the lungs to other irritants. Exposure to ozone
for 6 to 7 hours at relatively low concentrations has been found to reduce lung func-
tion significantly in normal, healthy people during periods of moderate exercise.
This decrease in lung function is often accompanied by such symptoms as chest
pain, coughing, nausea, and pulmonary congestion.
Animal studies have demonstrated that repeated exposure to ozone can produce

f)ermanent structural damage in the lungs and accelerate the rate of lung function
OSS, as well as the lung aging period. Each year ground-level ozone is also respon-
sible for several billion dollars worth of agricultural crop yield loss. Studies also in-

dicate that current ambient levels of ozone are responsible for damage to forests and
ecosystems.
The hazards of air pollution fall most heavily on the young. For example, in a re-

cently released report, the American Lung Association estimates that over 27 mil-
lion children under 14 years of age are potentially at risk for developing breathing
disorders such as asthma attacks caused by ozone air pollution. Over 50 percent of
the children in this age bracket according to the study are presently at risk. In addi-
tion it should be noted that minorities and the poor are disproportionately rep-
resented in this group.
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The previous figures show typical in-use emissions performance relative to emis-
sions standards for cars over the past two decades and illustrate that while in use
emissions have gradually improved as standards have been tightened, actual in use
emissions for CO and HC remain approximately twice as high as they should. While
several factors contribute, the main problem is poor or improper maintenance on in-

use vehicles.

The 1990 Clean Air Act Amendments address this problem in several ways such
as requiring more durable emissions control systems to reduce their deterioration
and mandating onboard diagnostic systems to highlight failed components when
they occur. However, these improvements will be phased in over many years and
won't have their full impact until about 2010. In the meantime, today's vehicles are
absolutely dependent on properly functioning emission controls to keep pollution lev-

els low. Minor malfunctions in the emission control system can increase emissions
significantly. Major malfunctions in the emission control system can cause emissions
to skyrocket. A relatively small number of vehicles with serious malfunctions fre-

quently cause the majority of the vehicle-related pollution problem. Unfortunately,
it is rarely obvious which vehicles fall into this category, as the emissions them-
selves may not be noticeable and emission control malfunctions do not necessarily
affect vehicle driveability. Effective I/M programs, however, can identify these prob-
lem cars and assure their repair. By assuring good maintenance practices and dis-

couraging tampering and misfueling, I/M remains the best demonstrated means for

protecting a national investment in emission control technology and achieving the
air quality gains which are needed.
As a general matter, maximum I/M effectiveness occurs with centralized I/M sys-

tems using loaded mode tests. These programs also cost much less overall and are
more convenient to the public.

In the remainder of my testimony, I would like to address three questions: What
is the real potential for centralized, test only I/M programs; can well done combined
test and repair systems be reasonably expected to achieve an equivalent reduction
to well done test only systems; and what is the appropriate role for remote sensing?

THE POTENTIAL FOR CENTRALIZED, TEST ONLY I/M PROGRAMS?

Over many years, the real world experience has consistently shown that central-

ized, test only inspections have advantages compared to combined test and repair

programs. As far back as the late 1970's, the programs in Portland, Oregon, Phoe-
nix, Arizona, and New Jersey stood out as superior to private garage systems in

terms of test accuracy and quality control. Over the course of the years, there have
been many changes and improvements in both test only and combined test and re-

pair systems but the centralized systems usually continue to excel.

In the most recent demonstration of centralized I/M capability, in 1992, the prov-

ince of British Columbia implemented an emissions inspection and maintenance
(I/M) program in the Lower Fraser Valley (LFV) area which incorporated then state-

of-the-art inspection procedures. ^ It was the first I/M program to measure hydro-

carbons (HC), carbon monoxide (CO) and the oxides of nitrogen (NOx) using the ac-

celeration simulation mode (ASM) test, which is a loaded mode test simulating vehi-

cle acceleration. The inspection also included an idle test and an anti-tampering
check to further assure that high emitting vehicles were identified and repaired.
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cantly reduced HC, CO, and NOx of the failed vehicles in all model year groups.

^

Overall, about 88 percent of the repairs were effective in reducing emissions.'*

Based on the audit results, overall emissions were reduced by approximately 20
percent for HC, 24 percent for CO, and 2.7 percent for NOx.^

In addition to the emissions reductions, the audit program found that fuel econ-
omy for the failed vehicles improved by approximately 5.5 percent for an estimated
annual savings of $72 per year per vehicle.

The audit program also demonstrated that the centralized program was resulting
in a very high quality test program. For example, after reviewing over 2 million
tests, the auditor concluded tnat in only 1.1 percent were incorrect emissions stand-
ards applied. Not one instance was found where a vehicle was given a conditional
pass or waiver inappropriately.^ About 1 percent of the failed vehicles were found
to be receiving waivers even though their emissions are excessive, i.e., they exceed
either 10 percent CO, 2,000 ppm HC, or 4,000 ppm NOx. If the cost limits were in-

creased such that this percentage were halved, the auditor concluded that HC and
CO reductions from the program would each increase by about 5 percent.

Available data also indicates that many vehicles are repaired sufficiently that
they remain low emitting. For example, almost 53,000 vehicles which failed the test

the first year were repaired well enough to pass the following year.
Overall these data confirm the conclusions that I/M programs when properly per-

formed in a centralized facility using a loaded mode test are achieving a substantial
reduction in emissions. These reductions are approximately equal to those predicted
by EPA's mobile emissions model and are accompanied by substantial fuel savings.
According to the auditor, improvements to the program such as including evapo-
rative testing, reducing or eliminating cost waivers, adding the IM240 test, or tight-

ening the standards could all increase the overall benefits significantly. I would ex-

pect that in a year or two, when we have the full opportunity to evaluate programs
such as that in Colorado which incorporate some of these advances, we will find that
these additional reductions are being achieved.

CAN COMBINED TEST AND REPAIR PROGRAMS ACHIEVE THE SAME BENEFITS AS TEST
ONLY?

Combined test and repair I/M programs are seen by many people to have advan-
tages over test only systems—more convenience, lower cost, more flexibility, etc.

Most importantly, if the same facility repairs a failed vehicle and conducts the
retest, the potential for the so called ping-pong effect is minimized. However, after

analyzing all the available data, our Panel in California concluded that there are
several inherent advantages to a test only system compared to combined test and
repair:

1. The potential for good quality control—properly calibrated instruments, correct

inspection procedures, etc.—will be much greater in a smaller number of lanes
which focus on one job than on a much larger number of lanes which have respon-
sibility to not only test vehicles but repair them.

2. The ability to prevent fraud will be much greater. As noted in meetings our
Peer Review Panel nad with representatives of the Los Angeles District Attorney,
"it is inherently easier to police 200 lanes than 8,000 lanes".

3. If advanced test procedures with the greatest potential for maximum emissions
reductions are used, the cost effectiveness of test only will be much greater than
with a combined test and repair system. Even using lower cost tests, it seems un-
likely that lower throughput test and repair facilities could be as cost effective as
test only systems.

State covert audits carried out throughout the 1980's on over 10,000 vehicles have
demonstrated the problem of improper testing in decentralized programs.

I know of no currently available data from which to conclude that the inherent
problems associated with the combined test and repair program could be overcome
sufficiently to achieve equivalent, cost-effective emissions reductions as with test

only systems. It is not that there aren't some very good individual service facilities

3 "Audit Results: Air Care I/M Program", Prepared For B.C. Ministry of Environment, Lands
and Parks and B.C. Ministry of Transportation and Highways, Radian, December 9, 1994.

''In its recent evaluation of its I/M program, which is probably the most advanced but cer-

tainly the most intensely enforced decentralized I/M program in the world, California found that
only about 50 {percent of the repairs were effective in reducing emissions, as measured by the
full Federal test procedure.

^ These reductions are almost identical to those predicted by the EPA Mobile 5a Emissions
Model, 20 percent, 20 percent, and 1 percent, respectively for HC, CO, and NOx.

^ If the vehicle is taken to an authorized technician and spends at least $200 on repairs, it

can receive a conditional pass or waiver even if it does not meet the emissions standards
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or that State and local officials haven't tried very hard to make these systems work.
However, even the best of these systems such as the one which has run in Califor-
nia for the last several years, has been found inadequate. For example, the I/M Peer
Review Panel identified some of the inherent problems:

1. In the over 8 years since the Smog Check program was introduced, there is

no evidence that there has been any improvement in the performance of the pro-
gram in identifying and repairing defects which only show up with functional or vis-

ual testing. This is true in spite of a massive enforcement effort which dwarfs that
carried out by any other I/M program in the country.

2. A previous assessment of the program carried out in 1986 identified many of
the same problems which exist today and extensive efforts to upgrade the program
including 'substantial efforts to upgrade from BAR84 to BAR90 analyzers" have not
succeeded in correcting the problems.

3. The need for functional and visual testing will not be eliminated by the shift

to loaded mode testing; air injection systems, PCV systems, evaporative emissions
control systems, and malfunction indicator lights are among the remaining systems
that still require inspection.

4. Based on the 1110 vehicle sample, crankcase ventilation and evaporative relat-

ed problems alone are a factor in 15 to 20 percent of all vehicles that should fail

an I/M test and less than one third of these vehicles are being properly identified
and corrected in the current program.

5. The potential for fraud is inherently higher in large numbers of stations.

Argvmients have been made by proponents of combined test and repair systems
that test only systems can (and currently likely do) have problems with accurate in-

spections and potential fraud. Our Panel agreed that this is true. However, the
Panel also concluded that "there is a fundamental difference between the feasibility

of ensuring proper inspections in a high volume testing network and a decentralized
[test and repair] program." The Panel agreed with the California I/M Review Com-
mittee that with 98 percent fewer inspection facilities to monitor ... it is reason-
able to expect the effectiveness of inspections in centralized facilities to approach
100 percent". As noted above, in the recent evaluation of the BC program, central-

ized programs can and do work.

CAN REMOTE SENSING REPLACE "CONVENTIONAL" I/M?

Proponents of remote sensing have advocated it's use as a tool to screen cars for

subsequent in-depth inspections. They argue that it is uneconomic to test all cars

when only a fraction are expected to be high emitters and remote sensing can iden-

tify the broken vehicles on the road. It is clear that remote sensing has an advan-
tage of being able to test large numbers of vehicles quickly and relatively cheaply.

However, the critical issue is how well it can be used to test a broad cross section

of the overall vehicle population for all pollutants on a routine basis without exces-

sively disrupting the free movement of goods and people.

There are several logistic and technical concerns in this regard. The primary con-

cern is over how to remotely sense the majority of the vehicle population. In its cur-

rent use, remote sensing requires that vehicles pass the sensor in single file. It is

not practical to constrict heavily traveled roadways to a single lane during rush
hours. Concepts of how remote sensors could be used in multiple-lane traffic situa-

tions have yet to be tested. Placement on single lane on and off ramps is a possibil-

ity, but this raises concerns over the proportion of the vehicle population that could

be covered by such a scheme. The recent Sacramento study appears to bear out

these concerns.
There are also concerns about the current limitations of remote sensing with re-

spect to the species detected. Remote sensing has been shown to identify vehicles

with excessive exhaust emission rates of hydrocarbons (HC) and carbon monoxide
(CO). However, remote sensing currently is not effective in identifying vehicles emit-

ting excessive quantities of oxides of nitrogen (NOx). Additional control of NOx
emissions appears to be necessary in order to bring many non-attainment areas into

compliance with the ozone standard.
Remote sensing is also unable to identify vehicles with excessive quantities of

evaporative emissions.
The Sacramento pilot study is the most comprehensive evaluation of remote sens-

ing to date. Two contractors operated several RSD vans over a 2-month period at

various locations. The vans collected data for about 500 days. One purpose of the

Sacramento program was to establish the relationship between average emissions

in stop-and-go driving (as measured by IM240), vehicle characteristics (e.g., make,
model, age, previous I/M test results), and emissions measured by RSDs. Another
was to determine how many vehicles could be detected by RSDs at a given time.
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Remote sensing test results were very poorly correlated with average emission
during stop-and-go driving (as measured by the IM240 test) according to one re-

port.'' "Using mobile vans equipped with remote sensing devices, measurements
could not be obtained on about 75 percent of pre- 1980 model vehicles during 500
van-days of testing." Further, using carbon monoxide (CO) standards of about 4 per-

cent and hydrocarbon (HO standards of 1,000 ppm, only about 10 percent of the
excessive HC and CO emission in the fleet were identified, the report concluded.

Fifty-eight percent of the vehicles tested were remote-sensing device (RSD) false

failures but had passed an IM240 test. "While the presence of a remote sensing pro-

gram is expectea to have some deterrent effect on tampering, it is clear that the
technology is incapable of detecting the most common forms of tampering, prone to

a high rate of false failures, and unable to identify most of the excess emissions that
exist in the fleet even using cut points that yield a relative high false failure rate,"

the report says.

Another analysis of the same data, however, indicated that remote sensing could
play a useful role in identifying gross polluters for further testing.^ Relying solely

on remote sensing data, the authors noted that "there is a tradeoff between the
amount of excess emissions identified and the percent of vehicles that are falsely

failed." However, using a high emitter profile in addition enabled them to reduce
false failures by about half without significantly affecting the percent of excess HC
identified.

Based on all the data I have seen, exhaust HC and CO emissions remote sensing
would seem to be a powerful data gathering tool which offers unique opportunities
for future emissions reductions. Further, it presents opportunities to heighten con-

sciousness of vehicle emissions and should aeter at least some tampering by those

so inclined. It should also help identify vehicles with failures that occur between
regularly scheduled I/M tests. Its role, therefore, as an adjunct to periodic I/M
should be significant. Remote Sensing is not, however, an appropriate substitute for

periodic I/M at the present time because practical difficulties regarding the com-
prehensiveness of testing have not been resolved and it is currently limited in its

ability to sense high NOx and evaporative hydrocarbon emissions.

Statement of Douglas R. Lawson, The Desert Research Institute, Reno, NV

Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee. For the record, my
name is Douglas R. Lawson, and I am a research professor at the Desert Research
Institute in Reno, NV. DRI, where I work, is a part of the University and Commu-
nity College System of Nevada. At the Desert Research Institute, we conduct air pol-

lution research programs for industry and government sponsors throughout the

world. I have carried out research on air pollution for more than 20 years and am
interested in obtaining clean air at the lowest cost. This afternoon I will discuss

some of the research I nave conducted for the past several years on the effectiveness

of motor vehicle inspection/maintenance programs and summarize some recent work
we have carried out for the California I/M Review Committee.
My presentation this afternoon consists of the following topics:

• a statement of the problem
• the use of mobile source emissions models
• a summary of mobile source emission characteristics
• real-world observations of I/M program effectiveness
• the test component of I/M programs
• the repair component of I/M programs
• conclusions

statement of the problem

Since the mid-1960's we have made significant strides in cleaning our air. Air

quality has improved, even though growth in the number of vehicles on the road
and the miles they are driven has increased substantially. However, despite thirty

years of increasingly stringent new car certification standards, about 90 cities in the

United States exceed the national ambient air quality standard for ozone, which is

one of the major components of urban smog. Ozone is not directly emitted by pollu-

tion sources, but it is formed through a complex series of reactions in the atmos-

^ "The Effectiveness of IM240 Testing, ASM Testing and Remote Sensing, Based on the Cali-

fornia I/M Pilot Project", presented at the 16th North American Motor Venicle Emissions Con-
trol Conference in Seattle, WA, Sierra Research, Inc.

8 "Evaluation of the CaUfornia Pilot Inspection/Maintenance (I/M) Program" Radian, Draft

Final Report, 31 March 1995.
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phere involving hydrocarbons, nitrogen oxides, and sunlight. In the past few years,

we have shown in urban locations tTiat mobile sources are the major contributor to

ozone. The ozone of which I am speaking can be called "ground level" ozone, and
it is responsible for health effects to people and damage to crops and forests. This
"ground level," or bad, ozone is not to be confused with upper air or "good" ozone
which serves to protect the Earth from the harmful components of solar radiation.
Carbon monoxide is an air pollutant that comes almost exclusively from motor ve-

hicles, and it is also responsible for human health effects. In 1994, 11 urban loca-

tions in the U.S. were in violation of the air quality standard for carbon monoxide.
Our recent research has also shown that high-emitting motor vehicles are also re-

sponsible for a number of toxic pollutants, such as benzene and tiny airborne par-

ticles, such as the kind you see from smoking vehicles.

Since 1966, motor vehicle manufacturers have reduced the emissions of new vehi-

cles by about 95 percent, but our air quality has not improved by that amount. Why
is it that we still have air in many urban areas that is not meeting the standards?
I believe the major reason is that inspection/maintenance (I/M) programs have not
functioned as the models have predicted, and I will present data today that support
this hypothesis.

Inspection/maintenance programs are designed to ensure that motor vehicle emis-
sion control systems are functioning properly throughout the lifetime of the vehicle.

Two major I/M program types have been carried out in the United States: central-

ized (generally run by a single contractor, where the test is separated from the re-

pair); and decentralized (where the inspections are carried out by private garages,

and generally the tests and repairs are performed at the same location). Some 1/

M programs require an annual test; others a biennial test; some require testing

upon change of ownership. Some programs require emissions testing only; others re-

quire inspections for tampering only (where the emission control system components
may be missing, modified or disconnected), and others require testing for both emis-
sions and tampering.

THE MODEL

In 1987 I was responsible for organizing and coordinating the largest urban air

pollution study in the United States. It was carried out in Los Angeles, the nation's

"Smog Capital". This $14 million study had a number of government and private

sector sponsors and was the first collaborative air pollution study of its kind. One
of the projects in that study was sponsored by the motor vehicle and petroleum in-

dustries, and it showed that the hydrocarbon emissions of motor vehicles driving

through a tunnel were about four times higher than model predictions, and that car-

bon monoxide emissions were about three times higher than model predictions. Ni-

trogen oxide emissions were slightly higher than the model predicted. These surpris-

ing results prompted several additional studies which independently confirmed the

tunnel study observations.

Why were these results so significant? They demonstrated that the models used
to predict mobile source emissions were inadequate, and that they greatly underesti-

mated the influence of motor vehicles on our cities' air quality. These models are

used to construct motor vehicle emission inventories which are used by government
agencies and others to design air quality strategies for reducing air pollution. Our
work and the research of others since 1987 has demonstrated that the current in-

ventories severely underpredict the dominating influence of motor vehicle emissions

on urban air quality. With erroneous emission inventories, regulatory agencies may
design misdirected and costly programs that produce only marginal improvements
in air quality.

The mobile source emission models also are used to predict the effect of inspec-

tion/maintenance programs on reducing emissions. However, none of the models

have been demonstrated to be accurate, and when they have been compared with

real-world data they have been shown to greatly underpredict vehicle emissions and

overestimate the effects of I/M programs. Therefore, it does not appear that the cur-

rent generation of models should be relied upon as the sole basis for designing pollu-

tion control strategies.

MOBILE SOURCE EMISSION CHARACTERISTICS

Twelve years ago, in 1983, a contractor reported to the State air pollution agency

in California that 12 percent of the vehicles were responsible for nearly half of the

carbon monoxide pollution. That consultant recommended that the agency study the

characteristics of those high-emitting vehicles because they were responsible for

such a large portion of the fleet's emissions. That recommendation remained unno-

ticed until the tunnel study and other real-world observations demonstrated that
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clearly half of the motor vehicle fleet's tailpipe carbon monoxide and hydrocarbon
emission readings, when the vehicles are in warm and stable operating conditions,

come from only 10 percent of the fleet. We have also learned that the highest
emitters come from all model years, and that relatively little pollution comes from
old vehicles because thej tend to be driven relatively little compared with the newer
cars. This tremendously skewed emissions distribution has important control strat-

egy implications: If those high emitters can be identified and repaired, tremendous
strides can be made toward improving our nation's air quality. This is what I/M pro-

grams are supposed to do.

REAL-WORLD VEHICLE DATA

In 1989 I was responsible for a study sponsored by the California Air Resources
Board in the Los Angeles area where we used a remote sensing device with the help
of the California Highway Patrol to pull over a number of high-emitting vehicles for

inspection. We found that more than 90 percent of the stopped vehicles failed an
I/M test when it was administered to those high emitters. This study showed that

when a remote sensing device is used to identify high-emitting vehicles, it can do
so with greater than 90-percent accuracy. Another study I coordinated in 1991 dem-
onstrated correlation between remote sensing readings and other emissions tests, in-

cluding the IM240 test, when the cars were given these tests on the same day.

These studies also demonstrated that the remote sensors provided accurate readings
for carbon monoxide and hydrocarbons. When remote sensors are used properly,

more than 90 percent of the cars they identify as high emitters will fail any other
type of emissions test when given on tne same day.

In the 1989 study I also learned that the State of California and the U.S. Environ-
mental Protection Agency had been conducting voluntary roadside tampering sur-

veys for several years. In these surveys, the agencies collected data from vehicles

as they were stopped for an unannounced roadside inspection where an emissions
test and an underhood inspection were given for tampered or broken emission con-

trol system components. These data have been used by the agencies to examine tam-
pering rates in vehicles, to examine trends in vehicle operating conditions, and to

evaluate the effectiveness of different I/M programs.

California Tampering Surveys

We first obtained the data collected in California's voluntary tampering surveys
and discovered some interesting results. We found that the overall tampering and
emission failure rates were nearly identical in portions of the State that had the

Smog Check program and portions of the State that did not. We examined the data
from more than 11,000 vehicles stopped at random over a several-year period and
could find no observable effect of the Smog Check program on reducing vehicle emis-

sions. We also observed that the vehicles' emissions were clean for the test, as

shown by the State's Smog Check records for those vehicles, but that their average
emissions were much higher on all other days.

What does this mean? Although we must go on record to say that we believe that

California's Smog Check program must do something, we cannot observe its effect,

in spite of annual program costs of nearly one-half billion dollars to California's citi-

zens. Our hypothesis is that the failure of the program to achieve the results as pre-

dicted by the model (the model predicts that the current program is reducing emis-

sions from vehicles by 18 percent for hydrocarbons, 15 percent for carbon monoxide,
and 7 percent for oxides oi nitrogen) is due mostly to human behavior and motorists'

desires to "pass the test."

California's experience is not unique, however.

EPA National Tampering Surveys

We also obtained data from EPA's national voluntary tampering surveys, which
consist of 60,000 vehicles stopped on the road in many U.S. locations between 1985
and 1992. This valuable survey, which is the most effective way to evaluate the ef-

fectiveness of I/M programs, was discontinued in 1992. With this data set, we com-
pared the effectiveness of different I/M program types from throughout the country.

We took special care to adjust the vehicle populations for year of manufacture and
number of miles driven. Our observation is that vehicles in centralized I/M program
areas have slightly lower tampering rates only some of the time when compared
with decentralized I/M program areas, but not always. As you recall, tampering of

the vehicle's emission control system, whether done intentionally or through neglect,

does lead to higher emissions. What is even more surprising is that neither program
type was much better than no program at all as far as tampering was concerned.

Meanwhile, EPA, on the basis of its model, discounts the benefit of an I/M pro-

gram by 50 percent if the program is decentralized. The real-world data show that
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there is little, if any, real-world basis for the benefit itself, much less for the 50-
percent discount on it.

THE "test" or "i" portion OF I/M

As we stated previously, much of the current debate in the I/M arena centers on
the method and type of emissions test to be used in I/M programs. In the 1990
amendments to the Clean Air Act, the EPA originally mancfated the use of a type
of treadmill test for cars called an IM240 test, because it lasts 240 seconds. The
EPA has recently modified their requirements somewhat; they may explain those
changes to you in these hearings.
During the past year, the California Air Resources Board carried out a pilot study

to understand which t3T)e of emissions test would be most effective in helping tech-
nicians diagnose and repair vehicles. We have compared the results from several dif-

ferent types of emission tests from that study, and we observe relatively little dif-

ference among those test types in measuring hydrocarbon, carbon monoxide and ni-

trogen oxides emissions, especially among high-emitting vehicles. The two-speed idle

test, ASM tests and IM240 tests were nearly equivalent in measuring hydrocarbon
and carbon monoxide; the ASM tests and IM240 test were equivalent for measuring
oxides of nitrogen.

"m" PORTION OF I/M

How good is the repair portion of I/M programs? In 1991 the California Air Re-
sources Board recruited a group of about 1,100 vehicles which previously had failed

the Smog Check inspection. These vehicles were sent to randomly selected Smog
Check stations in the Los Angeles area for undercover inspections and repairs. What
we learned from this study really surprised us. We found that only a few of the ve-

hicles in this data set were high emitters, and that the majority were only "mar-

final" emitters. Most people had previously thought that all failing vehicles were
igh emitters. Furthermore, we discovered that half of the "marginal" emitters had

increased emissions after repairs. We do not know all the reasons why this hap-
pened; the study was not designed to answer that question. Most of the emphasis
in today's I/M debates is on the type of test and how it should be performed. More
information is required for the most important component of I/M programs—the re-

pair component.

CONCLUSIONS

Although we have made good progress in reducing air pollution in the United
States during the past 30 years, we still are not in attainment of the national ambi-
ent air quality standards. In a series of independent experiments and analyses over
the past 8 years, several research groups throughout the country have demonstrated
that in-use emissions from mobile sources in urban locations are much higher than
the emission models predict. When we have made comparisons of mobile source
emission models and emission inventories with real-worla observations, we observe
that the models do not agree at all with real-world data. These findings suggest that

the models are not reliable for predicting emissions from mobile sources.

Several independent groups also have shown that when motor vehicles are in sta-

ble and warm operating conditions, a majority of their emissions come from just a

small percentage of those vehicles. This small group of high emitters spans all

model years; little pollution comes from the oldest vehicles.

This phenomenon has led us to our examination of current I/M program data. We
have examined data from more than 70,000 vehicles that have been stopped at ran-

dom throughout the United States, and we see that the different I/M program types

have not Been very successful in reducing vehicle emissions. We have analyzed
motor vehicle emissions and tampering rates in decentralized, centralized and non-

I/M program areas and, although we believe I/M programs must be doing some-
thing, we are able to observe only minor effects of I/M programs, regardless of the

program type. This observation shows that the 50-percent credit allowed by EPA in

its emissions model for centralized I/M programs is not justified or correct.

Our hypothesis is that the major factor in this failure of I/M programs appears

to be from human behavior and motorists' desires to cheat and to "pass the test."

We also have observed that the test type and mode of testing do not seem to be

the most important issues in dealing with the success of I/M programs—new pro-

grams that take account of the realities in human behavior must be designed. With
promising new technologies available to us, such as remote sensing, we can quickly

identify high-emitting vehicles, get them to repair facilities for prompt diagnosis and
repairs, and then follow up on those repairs with in-use surveillance methods. We
also recommend the acquisition of real-world data from roadside surveys, remote
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sensing, and tunnel studies in order to monitor I/M program effectiveness and to
provide for rapid changes to the programs if necessary and less reliance upon mobile
source emission models until they can independently be shown to be creaible, accu-
rate and reliable

Statement of Commissioner Richard E. Jackson, Jr., New York State
Department of Motor Vehicles

We appreciate this opportunity to provide New York State's perspective on the im-
pact of the federally-mandated "enhanced" vehicle emissions inspection and mainte-
nance (I/M) program. Under the Clean Air Act and EPA regulations, New York and
many other States are now facing the need to implement such an I/M program, or
face the imposition of severe sanctions against federally funded transportation
grants and economic development initiatives.

I want to state emphatically that Governor Pataki fully supports the goal of clean
air and is committed to implementing reasonable and cost effective methods of
achieving and maintaining clean air. However, we believe that the current EPA en-
hanced I/M niles, as well as the recently proposed changes to those rules, do not
adequately take into consideration the impact upon, or the acceptability to, the
State's motorists. The most technologically advanced and designed L/M program will

have minimal impact on air quality if the public refuses to participate. Recent sus-

Rension of the IM240 program in States such as Pennsylvania, Maryland, Texas and
laine, after contractors built test centers, clearly illustrates the level of public op-

position these programs have generated.
The eight million New York motorists who would be affected by EPA's current

I/M proposal, and the legislators who represent them, are acutely concerned about
the requirement that inspections be done at a facility that can only perform emis-
sions tests. This approach limits the number of private sector participants and the
number of test locations, since a test-only facility is constrained as to the services

and functions that can be performed. Failure to have significant private sector par-
ticipation will cause long lines and long distances to be traveled.

Twenty to thirty percent, or at least 800,000 motorists a year, are expected to fail

the emissions test. These motorists would then have to make two or more additional

trips between repair facilities and test facilities in order to meet their I/M obliga-

tions. This could mean at least 1.6 million extra trips each year in New York alone
which will add to the pollution burden from mobile sources.

EPA's determination that no test-and-repair system could receive more than 50
percent of the credit available for centralized test-only systems presumes that inde-

pendent auto repair and dealer facilities are incapable of adequately performing
emissions testing. However, we believe that these private sector entities are fully

capable of responsibly and accurately performing the federally required emissions
tests. During a recent consultation with the representatives of the businesses which
now perform emissions inspection and repair in New York, they argued that there
is a strong economic disincentive to falsely certify someone as passing an emissions
test if a failure would mean that a necessary, potentially expensive, repair would
be performed by the station.

In testimony presented to Congress in October 1993, the U.S. General Accounting
Office questioned whether the 50-percent credit EPA's regulations give for decen-

tralized test and repair networks is warranted. The GAO indicated that while the
data showed that test and repair programs have, in the past, been less effective,

there wasn't quantifiable support for the 50-percent reduction.

More recently, in February of this year, the California Inspection and Mainte-
nance Review Committee issued a draft report entitled "An Analysis of the EPA's
50 Percent Discount for Decentralized I/M Programs."
This draft report is very critical of the 50-percent reduction, and the methodology

EPA followed to arrive at it. The draft report concludes that the audits of improper
testing in current decentralized emissions programs "appear to have been biased
against decentralized I/M programs," and concludes that: '

. . . there is no empirical

or scientific basis for a discount for decentralized programs relative to centralized

programs."
More importantly, the draft report points out that although EPA has stated that

"The most critical aspect in evaluating an I/M program is the emission reduction

benefit it achieves," EPA has not conducted studies to measure whether such reduc-

tions have, in fact, occurred. The draft report goes on to note that the studies which
have been conducted by other entities have found that:

• In both centralized and decentralized programs, tailpipe emissions measure-
ment show little or no difference between I/M and non-I/M fleets.
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• In both centralized and decentralized programs, both ambient and tailpipe data
show little or no emissions reductions attributable to I/M.

• Nationwide average reductions in ambient CO and ozone levels over the last

decade appear to be independent of the tj^pe of I/M program in a given region.

Finally, EPA's continued perseverance with the 50-percent rule ignores the new
technolo^es which will allow States to more effectively enforce the test and repair
system. The more sophisticated dynomometer test that will be required permits
greater control of the test environment. For example, specific changes in the cycling,

controlled by the software, can be used to determine that a car is actually being
tested on a dynomometer. Companies are now developing methods to read engine
signatures which will also prevent vehicle switching during the test. The fixed na-
ture of the dynomometer as opposed to the BAJ190 equipment will allow tests to be
captured by video camera or computer video imaging. These materials will be useful

in providing evidence for the enforcing of the program and will act as a deterrent
to those who would cheat.

Clearly, the purpose of enhanced I/M should be to identify and repair high emit-
ting vehicles, not needlessly subject millions of vehicle owners to expense and incon-

venience with no concurrent improvement in air quality. In fact, in an article con-

tained in the May 19, 1995 issue of Science magazine, several scientists set forth

their conclusion that EPA's current approach of requiring testing of all vehicles in

a given area is vastly over-inclusive. Based upon on-road remote sensing, they dis-

covered that 7 percent of vehicles accounted for 50 percent of the on-road CO emis-
sions and 10 percent of the vehicles accounted for 50 percent of the on-road HC
emissions, and suggested that the most cost-effective means of achieving pollution

reduction is to identify and repair the 20 percent of vehicles which are severe pollut-

ers.

We believe, in addition, that the I/M program is over-inclusive because, under the
Clean Air Act, vehicle inspections are required in metropolitan areas located in

Ozone Transport Regions even if the areas are in attainment with air quality stand-

ards.

Considering that on-board diagnostic technology is rapidly developing to the point

where it can store and download emission-related problems on a vehicle's engine
management processor, we have to ask whether any resources spent on equipment
for enhanced I/M testing might not be an investment in certain obsolescence.

Because of negative public reaction to the implementation of I/M programs and
because of the uncertainty created by EPA's recent attempts at a more flexible ap-

proach to I/M program implementation. New York, in conjunction with other States,

has sought a moratorium of at least 2 years on the further implementation of the

Clean /Sr Act and imposition of sanctions. Such a moratorium has, for example,
been proposed in the House of Representatives in H.R. 46. During such a morato-

rium, a task force, including representatives from EPA and the States should, we
believe, work together to develop recommendations for changes to the Clean Air Act,

to achieve enhanced air quality in a publicly acceptable manner. We request your

support for such legislation.

Your willingness to investigate the repercussions of the I/M mandate are deeply

appreciated and, on behalf of the people of New York, we applaud your efforts.
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GAO
United States

General Accountiiih Office

Washington, D.C. 20648

Renoarces, Community, and
Economic Development Division

B-270501

November 16, 1995

The Honorable Lauch Faircloth

Chairman, Subcommittee on Clean Air,

Wetlands, Private Property, and Nuclear Safety

Committee on Environment and Public Works
United States Senate

Dear Mr. Chairman:

This interim report responds to your request for an assessment of the accuracy and

completeness of the information that the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)

provided to you on grants, interagency agreements, and cooperative aigreements

issued or used by the agency's Office of Mobile Sources. During hearings before

your Subconunittee on June 29, 1995, witnesses argued over the fairness of EPA's

decision to give states different emissions reduction credits under the Clean Air Act,

depending on the type of automobile enussions testing used by the state. The

credits are based, among other things, ori whether the state has a test-only or a test-

and-repair program. Test-only progrjims require the testing of automobile emissions

in facilities that do not repair vehicles, while test-and-repjiir programs permit the

facihties to do both. According to EPA's November 5, 1992, rule, a state having a

test-and-repair program would receive, for certain tests, only 50 percent of the

emissions reduction credits that it would receive if it had a test-only network.

In a July 20, 1995, letter to EPA's Assistant Administrator for Air and Radiation, you

asked EPA a series of questions about its inspection and maintenance programs for

automobile emissions testing. Included in the questions, you specifically requested

(1) a listing of the date, amount, and purpose of aU contracts, grants, interjigency

agreements, cooperative agreements, or other funding mechanisms issued or used

by the Office of Mobile Sources after November 5, 1992, and (2) the same

information from November 1989 to the present for 19 organizations that you

identified, including environmental groups and business coalitions. EPA repUed to

your request by letter dated August 18, 1995, and by a follow-up letter dated

September 1, 1995. Subsequently, you asked us to (1) determine the completeness

of EPA's list, (2) verify the information contained in EPA's responses, (3) describe

GAO/RCED-96-44R, EPA's Grants and Agreements
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the procurement procedures that EPA followed in awarding each procurement, and

(4) describe the scope of work for each task issued under the contractual

agreements and other funding mechanisms identified.

On October 27, 1995, we reported (GA0/RCED-9fr^R) to you on our assessment of

the accuracy and completeness of the information EPA provided to you on

contracts issued or used by the agency's Office of Mobile Sources. As with our

evaluation of EPA's response on contract data, your office asked for an interim

report on the completeness of EPA's Ust as it relates to grants, interagency

agreements, and cooperative agreements and verifying the information contained in

EPA's responses because of impending congressional oversight of the

inspection/maintenance program.' As agreed with your office, we will report to

you, at a later date, on the results of our review of the procurement procedures

followed by EPA in awarding each procurement, and a description of the scope of

work for each task issued under the contractual agreements identified.

DATA PROVIDED BY EPA ON GRANTS
AND AGREEMENTS WERE NOT COMPLETE

EPA's response to you on grants issued by its Office of Mobile Sources was
incomplete. EPA identified only four of the seven grants issued by the Office of

Mobile Sources to the organizations that you identified. In addition, EPA did not

identify 33 grants issued by the Office of Mobile Sources after November 5, 1992,

and 26 grants that were active as of that date which may have been used. In

addition, two grants issued by EPA's Office of Research and Development may have

been used to support research on mobile source pollution but were not identified in

EPA's responses to you. Additional irvformation on these grants follows.

EPA's August 18, 1995, reply to your Subcommittee indicated that its Office of

Mobile Sources had awarded four grants to 2 of the organizations you identified in

your request However, we found that the Office of Mobile Sources awarded seven

grants to 4 of the organizations you identified in your request.^ (The three grants

valued at $1.1 million and not identified by EPA are listed in enc. I.) We found that

none of the other organizations identified in your request received an Office of

Mobile Source grant during the period from November, 1989, through September 30,

1995. However, we found that after EPA replied to your request for data, its Office

of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance issued a grant, on September 18, 1995,

to the Coordinating Committee for Auto Repair for $800,000. The grant was for the

'Throughout this report, we refer to grants, interagency agreements, and

cooperative agreements as grants because EPA's database does not distinguish

among these funding mechanisms.

^Other EPA offices, including the Office of Research and Development, issued 104

additional grants to six of the organizations you identified.

2 GAO/RCED-96-44R, EPA's Grants and Agreements
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National Automotive Compliance Center to provide multimedia environmental

compliance information.

In addition, we found that after November 5, 1992, the Office of Mobile Sources

issued 33 grants valued at about $7.6 million that were not disclosed in EPA's

replies to you. (The 33 grants are listed in enc. II.) We also found that the Office

of Mobile Sources had issued three additional grants since EPA replied to your

request for data valued at over $1.6 million, including a grant to the West Virginia

University Research Corporation for the Alternative Fuel Vehicle Trairung Program
valued at $1.5 million. In addition, the Office of Mobile Sources had issued 26

grants that were active as of November 5, 1992; however, these grants were not

identified in EPA's response to you. The expiration dates of these grants ranged

from February 28, 1993, to October 10, 1996, and may have been used after

November 5, 1992. We will report to you at a later date the extent to which the

Office of Mobile Sources used each of the grants after November 5, 1992.

While you did not ask EPA to report on grants issued by offices other than the

Office of Mobile Sources, we identified two grants valued at about $1.4 million

issued by the Office of Research and Development that £^)pear to have supported

research on mobile source pollution. These grants were not identified by EPA in its

responses to you. (These two grants are listed in enc. III.) In addition, the Office

of Research and Development had eight grants jictive as of November 5, 1992, that

appear to have supported reseeirch on mobile source pollution. The expiration

dates of these grants ranged fi-om May 21, 1993, to June 21, 1995, and may have

been used after November 5, 1992. We will also report to you at a later date the

extent to which these grants were used after November 5, 1992.

AGENCY COMMENTS

We discussed the information contained in this report with the Director, Office of

Mobile Sources, who stressed that EPA interpreted Senator Faircloth's July 20, 1995,

letter to be requesting only inspection/maintenance expenditures by the Office of

MobUe Sources with the 19 organizations identified in the letter. The Director

attributed the omission of grants and agreements issued by the Office of Mobile

Sources to a different interpretation of Senator Faircloth's request The Director

emphasized that because the agency's staff were furloughed on November 14, 1995,

EPA was unable to verify the accuracy of the data contained in this report.

SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY

In conducting our work, we obtained documentation and interviewed officials from

EPA's Office of Administration and Resources Management to obtain a listing of all

grants, interagency agreements, and cooperative agreements awarded by EPA from

October 1988 to September 30, 1995. We reviewed the database hstings, which does

not distinguish among these funding mechanisms, and selected those grants and

agreements issued by the Office of Mobile Sources between November 5, 1992, amd

GAO/RCED-96^t4R, EPA's Grants and AgreemenU
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September 30, 1995. We also selected grants and agreements issued by the Office

of Research and Development for research on mobile source pollution. In addition,

we reviewed EPA's awards from October 1988 to September 30, 1995, to determine

whether any grants and amendments were awarded to the 19 organizations you
identified in your July 20, 1995, letter to EPA. We conducted our work in

November 1995 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing

standards.

As arranged with your office, unless you publicly announce its contents earlier, we
plan no further distribution of this report until 14 days after the daite of this letter.

At that time, we will send copies to the Administrator of the Environmental

Protection Agency and other interested parties. We will also make copies of the

report available to others upon request.

Please call me at (202) 512-6111 if you or your staff have any questions.

Sincerely yours.

Peterrf Guerfero

Director, Environmental Protection

Issues

Enclosures - 3

GAO/RCED-96-44R, EPA's Grants and Agreements
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Ordering Information

The first copy of each GAO report and testimony is free.

Additional copies are $2 each. Orders should be sent to the
foUowing address, accompanied by a check or money order
made out to the Superintendent of Documents, when
necessary. Orders for 100 or more copies to be mailed to a
single address are discounted 25 percent.

Orders by mail:

U.S. General Accounting Office

P.O. Box 6015
Gaithersburg, MD 20884-6015

or visit:

Room 1100
700 4th St. NW (comer of 4th and G Sts. NW)
U.S. General Accounting Office

Washington, DC

Orders may also be placed by calling (202) 512-6000
or by using fax number (301) 258-4066, or TDD (301) 413-0006.

Each day, GAO issues a Ust of newly available reports and
testimony. To receive facsimile copies of the daily list or any
list fi-om the past 30 days, please call (202) 512-6000 using a
touchtone phone. A recorded menu wiU provide information on
how to obtain these Usts.

For information on how to access GAO reports on the INTERNET,
send an e-mail message with "info" in the body to:

info@www.gao.gov



94

OWMl '^Tttci lt>.rM>Ai<. («> >OUiMM ixj niMtra, <K« juuv
anr iuM»ric«m. omo )uin< km. xniai
;oM«aK ii» »:>'t. onyimi— mcdututi. lUlMH
CTWO TX0IM4WWMW Iflniml States Senate

•Ttxtiij »«ii«.ST»go*(cTa»MiDoi<»CDuiiiii cOMMPrrei ON fnvtrtO"ii««r<rT ano nj«i4LV»0«Ka

MASHWGTDN. DC XSIO^TIS

Septexziber 14, 1995

The Honorable Ouxles A. Bowahcr

ConptroQer General

General Accounting OfEce

441 G Street. NW
Washington, D.C. 20S4S

Dear Mc. Bowsher

Enclosed is a copy of my correspondence widi the Envtraomental Protectian Agency

(EPA) about contracts, grants, interagency agreements, cooperative agreements, and other

ftmding mechanisms used by or issued mider the auspices of the EPA Office of Mobile

Sources subsequent to the Enhanecd Inspection and Maintenance (I/M) Role's issuance on

November 2, 1992. 1 am particularly concerned about extcndingwcontracts, grants, and other

fiiadiag mechanisms to groups dial fevor the EPA'a position offxcjiffaiizcd inspection and

naintenanco for Stote auto emission piogranu. Ii was my undemanding that States wore

given flexibility to design their own I/M programs as long as they meet emission reduction

goals and did not necessarily have to adopt a ceotnlvzed testing prograia In EPA's icaponsc,

^e Agency failed to address my question about possible use of funds to pay

environmajtalists, oiti2en groups, and others to influence Congress and/or States in favor of

ibPA's conirovQisial vehide emissions testing program.

Th« Subcoramlnee requests that your ^ency examine EPA's response of August 18,

1995 ana- verify die infomiatiQn contained in die listing of contiaaSt S39°> interagency

agreements, cooperative agreements, or other funding mechaniama, Pwiie aUo detaiuinc the

completeness of EPA's list and identify any other fUnding mechanisms (from November 1989

to the present) Aal nay have been awarded to the 19 environniEntal groupa. public citizni

and business coalitians listed in my Julfc?Oi 1995 latter to EPA's Assistant Administiator for

Air and Radiation (copy enclosed). In MiitiDn, fer each conttact, grant, interagency

agiwiuent, coopearative agreement, or other funding mechanism identified, ffcsonbe the

procurement procedures followed by EPA in awarding the ptocuremenL Ahbl please describe

Ihe scope of «»orie for "^'•h lawk issued ondcr tbc contt^tual agrcenjeoto and other fUnding

mechanisms ideatified.
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CODQptroDer General Bowsher

Septanber 14, 199S

Page two

Please keep our Staff Dinxtor, Mr. Sean Callinicos at (202) 224-3783, iofimned about

your progress.

*&fU
Faircioth.

Subooaanftee on Clc&n Air, Wetlands,

Prtvato Iropeity, and Nuclear Safe^

EacIocoieB
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07/13/95 09:11 0202 2604372 EPA CONG LIAISON

UNITED STATES ENVIRONME^JTAL PROTECTION AGENCY
WASHINGTON. D.C. 20460

JUL M B95

cerKSCf
MRMOMOMTION

TJ:e Konerable ^z'rj: K. Chaf«4
Cha^rrnan
Coonictce on Envircnmenc and rublic Wcz'ks
United States Senate
Washington. D.C. 20S10

Dear Mr. Chairman:

I would like co clarify and expand upon my responses to a
line of questioning you had at Chairman Faircloth's Subcommittee
hearing on June 29, 1995. The subject o£ the hearing was the
vehicle inspection and maintenance (I/M) program.

Durir.g z'r.t .-.carins ycu as<ez acc-t the status of
California's I/Y plan. As you know, if California had not
submitted a complete I/M plan by June 30, 199S, Clean Air Act

-^mandatory sanctions would have gone inco effect. I responded
that no formal decision had yet been made because the at^te bad
not yet submitted its plan to EPA, but the h^rid plan the scate.
had developed i.i draft would appear to be approvable xinder the
Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) I/M requirements. I did
not address the question of whether California's plan would
receive full credit as a high enhanced I/M program.

In fact, on June 30, California submitted its I/M plan to
EPA. EPA found the plsui complete and, thereby, stopped sanctions
from being imposed.. A letter was sent to the State from the EPA
Regional Office in isan Francisco informing them of these actions
later on June 30.

Under California's I/M program, 15 percent of vehicles will
initially go to test-only stations, while the remaining vehicles
will have the option of going to test-and-repalr stations. The
State will finalize the program design features of the second
phase of the program by December 31, 1997, including the number '

of vehicles td be sent to test -only stations. EPA believes the
State has the flexibility to implement such a phased program.

• The only remaining (Question is hbw much emission reduction
credits California's program will achieve. The initial phase is
consistent with EPA's recently proposed I/M flexibility rule, and
should exceed the low enhanced I/M performance standard.
Although the initial phase does not achieve full credit (i.e.,
doss not meet the high enhanced performance standard) , we are
.".cpefui the sccor.z. phase will zz sz. We will vzzk clcstly m.-J:.

State officials to evaluate the emission reduction potential of
the second phase design features

,
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I hope this clarifies my comments ac Che hearing abouc che
California I/M program. We will keep you and your staff informed
as. new developments occur. Thank you for your continued support
of clean air programs.

Sincere

KarV D! Nichols
Assifstant Administrator

for Air and Radiation
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Statement of Automotive Parts and Accessories Association

The Automotive Parts and Accessories Association is pleased to provide the follow-

ing testimony regarding the Environmental Protection Agency's enhanced emissions
inspection program. APAA is a trade association representing over 1,700 manufac-
turers, manufacturers representatives, distributors and retailers of automotive parts
and services. APAA strongly supports emission inspection as the most cost effective

method for reducing in-use vehicle emissions. Since most of our members do not per-

form emissions testing, APAA does not hold an official position regarding whether
inspection should be centralized or decentralized. However, our members do play an
important role in providing both the parts and services necessary to keep vehicle
emissions systems properly maintained and therefore APAA is greatly interested in

the future of the enhanced I/M program.

A. introduction

Mr. Chairman, if the Clean Air Act had been implemented as Congress had
planned, we believe that this Nation would now have in place a viable, publicly sup-
ported emission inspection program. Unfortunately, such a program does not cur-

rently exist in most States. Instead, we find the inspection program has been under
siege by Governors, legislators, industry and the public due to the high cost and
public inconvenience imposed by EPA's mandated centralized I/M 240 program.
What is worse is that the Agency has been unwilling to make the regulatory
changes to its I/M program necessary to address growing public opposition. Due in

large part to the Agency's intransigence, I/M has been threatened with either elimi-

nation or delay through actions being undertaken in the States and in Congress.
It is these dire circumstances that compelled APAA, along with 11 other auto-

motive related organizations, to send a letter warning EPA that changes are nec-

essary in order to put the I/M program back on track. The letter dated March 3,

which is attached to this statement, reiterates strong industry support for the emis-
sion inspection/maintenance program, but calls for changes to current EPA regula-

tions which will result in programs that are both effective and acceptable to the
public, States and industry.

The good news is that since the letter, the Agency has initiated efforts to provide
the States with a significant amount of flexibility in determining which type I/M
program will best meet the public and air quality needs of their State. For example,
California is poised to receive approval for one of the most comprehensive and inno-

vative emissions inspection programs, centralized or decentralized, anywhere in the
Country. APAA is particularly supportive of attempts by the State to profile high
polluting vehicles for test-only inspection. Since only a minority of the vehicles are

responsible for most of the pollution, it makes sense both politically and environ-
mentally to target those vehicles for the most rigorous inspection, while allowing
less onerous inspection for the vast majority of other car owners. In addition, the
California program will utilize remote sensing to further target high emitting vehi-

cles for emissions repairs. While certain technical questions regarding the accuracy
of this technology remain, remote sensing holds great promise for strengthening the

I/M program by providing car owners with a strong incentive to keep vehicles prop-
erly maintained all year long rather than just obtaining repairs prior to undergoing
regular inspection.

B. inspection programs should be judged by performance

Despite the Agency's progress in providing flexibility, we do not believe that emis-
sions inspection programs will reach implementation in many States unless EPA
eliminates the controversial 50-percent penalty for decentralized I/M program, such
that nonattainment areas may adopt and receive credit for an effective test and re-

pair programs. Instead of pushing a "one-size-fits-all" I/M program on the States,

the Agency should provide appropriate credit to each State program based on the

ability of that program to target and repair high emitting vehicles. Whether central-

ized or decentralized, the programs should be judged on the merits of each individ-

ual plan rather than by an arbitrary and out oi date credit assumption.
Once implemented, monitoring of program performance in the real world would

be an important component in the EPA I/M efTort. Should the State I/M program
fail to meet the expected performance, either the credit, the program or both would
need to be revised.

While APAA agrees with the Agency that past decentralized emissions inspection
programs have not been effectively administered by the States; improvements in

test equipment, administration and enforcement could eliminate many of the past
program deficiencies. Yet, no where in any of the EPA literature have we found any
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discussion of proposals to improve decentralized programs. It appears that the
Agency has been so enamored with centralized I/M 240, that they believe no other
network could come close and therefore all reasonable alternatives should be aban-
doned. We feel that this view has been both unfair and unrealistic. While this nega-
tive view toward decentralized I/M appears to be changing, we wish that the Agency
would expend the same energy it has invested in developing and defending central-

ized I'M 240 toward generating methods for assisting the States improve the effec-

tiveness of their test and repair programs.
In advocating a performance based I/M standard, we are not calling for the elimi-

nation of EPA's ability to ensure that State emissions inspection programs are effec-

tive in reducing in-use pollution from motor vehicles. Clearly, if we are to require
the public to undergo the inspections, they must be meaningful.
The same public backlash that EPA suffered for making the programs too rigor-

ous, will be repeated if the public perceives that the programs are not effective in

reducing in-use pollution. In addition, the States and the repair industry will have
spent an extensive amount of time, energy and money establishing a testing pro-
gram which will fail to produce the necessary emissions reductions to meet Federal
Clean Air Act standards.
EPA I/M requirements also must consider the fact that in the very near future,

the testing of on-board diagnostic systems will be the most effective method for

measuring vehicle emissions in-use. This new sophisticated technology has the capa-
bility of monitoring nearly all emissions related functions of the vehicle and testing
could be conveniently conducted by most vehicle service facilities at a minimum cost

to both the consumer and the inspection facility. It seems unreasonable for the
Agency to require States and businesses to expend large sums of money implement-
ing expensive and unwieldy I/M programs which may become unnecessary as vehicle
equipped with the OBD system become more prevalent.

C. EFFECTIVE REPAIRS IMPORTANT TO I/M PROGRAM SUCCESS

Just as important as the inspection element of I/M is the need to ensure that the
vehicles which are found through testing to be polluting are repaired and that they
are kept properly maintained. In fact, the language in the Clean Air Act mandates
that car owners spend up to $450 for repairs in order to pass an emissions inspec-
tion program. The need to include a high waiver amount was due to the fact that
many States had repair minimums which were too low to ensure that vehicle emis-
sions systems were being properly repaired. By enacting the waiver provision. Con-
gress felt that if significant emissions reductions were to be achieved as a result of
I/M, car owners must spend the necessary funds to obtain all necessary repairs.

Based on the importance of repairs, to achieving emissions reductions, APAA
urges the current waiver requirement be maintained. However, it also is critical

that EPA and States pursue opportunities to help motorist who are unable to afford

the repairs that are necessary to bring the vehicle into compliance.
Assistance for indigent car owners could be accomplished with funds from testing

fees or from stationary sources which would provide repairs in exchange for emis-
sions credits.

APAA also strongly supports efforts by States and EPA to ensure that technicians
will have the ability to repair vehicles failing emissions inspection programs. We
particularly commend efforts by EPA to implement the service information avail-

ability provisions mandated by Section 202(m)(5) of the 1990 Clean Air Act Amend-
ments. The rule, which was signed by EPA Administrator Carol Browner on July
26, 1995, requires car companies to provide technicians with all information nec-

essary to use new on-board diagnostic systems and to make emissions related re-

pairs. We believe that such requirements will be of major assistance in providing
technicians access to the training and information necessary' to work on today's high
tech vehicles.

D. TECHNICIAN CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS ALSO SHOULD BE PERFORMANCE BASED

However, APAA is concerned about the growing number of States which are re-

quiring technicians to undergo a minimum number of training hours in order to be
certified to repair failed vehicles. While we support training as an important ele-

ment in the success of the I/M program, many I/M technicians already have suffi-

cient training and real life experience to work on most vehicles. Training mandates,
such as the program adopted in Connecticut, impose extensive burdens on small and
medium size shops which must surrender their technicians for long periods of time
in order to undergo training. If a technician already is properly trained, a training
mandate is redundant and places an unnecessary drain on snop resources.
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APAA contends that like I/M programs, State training efforts should be perform-

ance oriented. While the State does play a role in ensuring that training is available

for technicians so desiring, it should be up to the individual technician or shop to

determine how the technicians will meet the performance requirement. Technicians
which already have undergone training or have sufficient real life experience to

work on I/M failures, should be able to take a test in order to become certified.

E. CONCLUSION

If anything has been learned from the past 4 years, it is that public policy cannot
be developed in a vacuum. While EPA may have had the best of intentions in put-

ting together the enhanced inspection program, the failure to consider whether the

program would be accepted by the public has turned out to be fatal. However, based
on the apparent change of attitude at EPA. APAA strongly believes that an oppor-

tunity still exists to build an effective emissions inspection program which is con-

venient and will bring about significant pollution reductions from motor vehicles.

We further understand that there has been a major reorganization in the Office

of Mobile Sources at EPA and that new staff are being brought in to address the

I/M issue. Without a doubt, a fresh look at the Agency s I/M program is definitely

called for and we applaud the decision by Office Director, Margo Oge, to make the

necessary changes.
Mr. Chairman, we stronglv urge the Congress and industry to put aside past dif-

ferences and to work with the new personnel in order to bring about much needed
revisions to the I/M implementation program, as soon as possible. For APAA's part,

we stand ready to do whatever is necessary to work with both the Congress and
the administration to obtain timely implementation of a workable and effective en-

hanced emissions inspection program.
Thank you for the opportunity to provide this statement and we would be more

than willing to respona to any questions you might have regarding this statement.
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March 3, 1995

Ms. Carol Browner

Administrator

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

401 M Street, S.W.

Washington. D.C. 20460

Dear Ms. Browner:

We are writing to reiterate our strong support for emissions inspection/maintenance (I/M)

programs as a cost effective method for reducing in-use vehicle emissions. Implemented

conveniently and effectively, well designed 1/M programs can significantly reduce emissions and

be accepted by the motoring public.

As you are aware, many states are considering or have already passed legislation to delay

implementation of their I/M programs, in large part due to growing public and service industry

opposition to EPA's mandated test-only performance standard. In addition, several bills have

been introduced in the U.S. Congress addressing I/M. For example. Congressman Gekas has

introduced legislation that would mandate an equivalent decentralized enhanced performance

standard, delay program implementation, and provide relief to areas in the Ozone Transport

Region. Senator Gregg also offered legislation which could delay implementation of I/M

programs while rules are promulgated permitting decentralized testing. Congressman Delay's

bill would repeal the mandatory requirement for I/M programs.

While legislation may in the end be necessary, we believe that the Agency already

possesses sufficient authority to make changes that result in I/M programs that are more

acceptable to the public, states and industry. Regulatory action by EPA is preferred over

reopening the Clean Air Act, especially given the unavoidable delay and unpredictability

associated with potential legislation.

We therefore urge the Agency to work with the states and industry to issue revised I/M

regulations/guidance as soon as possible. This action should occur no later than August, 1995,

with full state implementation by August, 1996. At minimum, we believe these revisions must

include the following elements to ensure political and public acceptance.

Elimination of the controversial 50% credit penalty for decentralized I/M

programs to permit any nonattainment area to adopt and receive credit for

effective test and repair programs

Sufficient additional time for states to finalize or revise their I/M programs.

A requirement that states retaining centralized (test-only) I/M programs provide

for pilot testing. Limited "tnal runs" of public vehicle fleets are necessary to

ensure that programs operate at peak performance before they open to the public.

o An efficient and timely redesignation/reclassification process for eligible areas.
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In addition, we urge you to strongly promote to the states the development of waiver assistance

programs funded with testing fees as an effective means of reducing the potential impact of

cosily emission system repairs.

In closing, including the above elements in the rulemaking could eliminate the perceived

need for significant legislative action. We look forward to working with the Agency to develop

regulations that provide for acceptable, effective, and timely I/M programs.

We thank you for your immediate attention.

Sincerely,

Automotive Engine Rebuilders Assoc.

330 Lexington Drive

Buffalo Grove, IL 60089-6998

Contact: Barry Soltz

Coalition for Auto Repair Equality

119 Oronoco Street

Alexandria, VA 22314

Contact: David Parde

Auto International Assoc.

1317 F Street, NW, Suite 550

Washington, DC 20004

Contact: Chris Kersting

Motor & Equipment Manufacturers Assoc.

1325 Pennsylvania Avenue, Suite 600

Washington, DC 20004

Contact: Paul Haluza

Automotive Parts and Accessories Assoc.

4600 East-West Highway

Bethesda, MD 20814

Contact: Aaron Lowe

National Automobile Dealers Assoc.

8400 Westpark Drive

McLean, Virginia 22102

Contact: Douglas Greenhaus

Automotive Parts Rebuilders Assoc.

4401 Fair Lanes Court, Suite 210

Fairfax, VA 22033

Contact: William Gager

Petroleum Marketers Assoc, of America

1901 N. Fort Myer Drive, Suite 1200

Arlington, VA 22209-1604

Contact: John Huber

Automotive Service Industry Assoc.

1555 WUson Boulevard, Suite 300

Arlington, VA 22209

Contact: Tyler J. Wilson

Service Station Dealers of America

9420 Annapolis Road, Suite 307

Lanham, MD 20706

Contact: Jim Daskal

Automotive Warehouse Distributors Assoc.

1 100 Connecticut Avenue, Suite 1 100

Washington, DC 20036

Contact: George Tobin

Specialty Equipment Market Assoc.

1317 F Street, NW, Suite 550

Washington, DC 20004

Contact: Chris Kersting
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Statement of Jim Horn. State Representative, State of Texas

introduction

My name is Jim Horn end I have served as a State representative in Denton
County since 1981. I am here to testify to the fact that the State of Texas needs
the support of Congress in developing a successful and publicly supported auto
emissions testing program.

Prior to the inception of federallv mandated auto emissions testing, Texas experi-

enced a long-term downward trencf in air pollutants. Upon the passage of the Clean
Air Act Amendments of 1990, Texas acted in good faitn and set about formulating
a plan to reduce air pollutants by the federally mandated deadline. Despite this co-

operation from the State of Texas, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has
snown no flexibility toward the State in regards to methods used to bring air quality

into compliance. Due to the lack of full credit for remote sensing mechanisms and
for decentralized testing stations, the EPA forced Texas to implement a testing pro-

gram on January 1st of this year using the controversial IM240 test at inconvement
central testing stations. I have yet to receive definitive data as to the improved ef-

fectiveness of Doth the IM240 test and the centralized stations.

Instead, I have heard quite the opposite, both from the people of Texas and from
the General Accounting Office (GAO) which conducted an internal governmental
study of the EPA's I/M approach and of their lack of study of alternative options
to the IM240 test.

EPA Administrator Carol Browner and her agency contend that they are flexible

in their dealings with States, yet they refuse to accept that a more convenient and
publicly supported plan could be used in Texas. Despite the GAO findings and the
findings of tne Bar-90 test program conducted in Dallas/Fort Worth, the EPA has
denied Texas credits for successful alternative testing programs besides the IM240
and they refuse to acknowledge the recent improvement in air quality. The EPA
chooses instead to penalize Texas, a State which has done everytning in its power
to improve air quality, for not going along with exactly what the agency wants.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

In Texas, Houston experienced excessive ozone levels for 85 hours during 37 days
in 1989; 75 hours during 37 days in 1991; and 53 hours during only 25 days in 1994.

Houston has seen a nearly 40-percent drop in dangerous ozone levels since 1988,
and only four incidents in 1994 stayed at dangerous level for a prolonged period of

time. Dallas experienced excessive ozone levels at different times on 31 days during
the 3-year period from 1984-1986; 6 days during the 3-year period from 1991-1993;
and 2 days during 1994. Dallas County and the city of Fort Worth experienced zero

days of excess ozone levels during 1994 according to the Texas State Inspection As-
sociation ("Emissions Testing," February 1995, ii). Since 1986, Dallas has experi-

enced an 80-percent drop in dangerous ozone levels.

These statistics further show that these two major metropolitan areas were out
of compliance less than 1 percent of the time. At this time, Dallas/Ft. Worth and
El Paso have complied, or are nearly in compliance, with Federal levels. Cities like

Houston have also implemented their own testing sites over the past 20 years and
these testing sites have kept up with the changing demographics of the State as op-

posed to EPA test sites, some of which have not been updated since 1972.

In determining the non-attainment zones, the EPA used questionable data. As
most any expert in the field will tell you, heat has a direct effect on ozone levels,

and in evaluating the testing data the EPA failed to take into account the record-

breaking temperatures of 1988. The EPA also failed to take into account several

other factors which contribute to an urban area's air quality levels. These include

percentages of pollutants produced by automobiles as compared with those produced
by factories and small businesses such as printers and ory cleaners. For example,
vehicles in the Beaumont-Port Arthur fell under the testing mandate despite the
fact that vehicles account for only 6 percent of the emissions recorded in that area.

Also absent from the non-attainment determination factors is the fact that air

does not observe international boundaries. For example, El Paso, which is located

on the border with Mexico, has been deemed by the EPA to be a non-attainment
area. El Paso's smog problem is unique due to its proximity with the city of Juarez.

Juarez's emission levels are far above the United State s EPA standards which
caused the city of El Paso to be considered "moderately" non-compliant. Tens of

thousands of American citizens in the El Paso area were therefore subjected to a
test, and required to pay a fee, for a problem they did not create. However, the EPA
refused, until recently, to exempt El Paso from the same standards they applied to

non-border cities.
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Data collected by both the EPA and city-sponsored testing sites supports the fact

that auto emissions in Texas have been significantly reduced over the past 10 years.
A large part of this reduction can be attributed to testing programs already in place.

THE DALLAS/FORT WORTH BAR-90 TEST

In the Dallas/Fort Worth metroplex area, cars, city buses, and light trucks ac-

count for nearly 60 percent of emissions. Since 1990, Dallas conducted a decentral-
ized, inspection-based emissions test using the Bar-90 method test. This test was
conducted in conjunction with an automobile's annual inspection and met with high
public approval. As of the end of 1994, 1,400 Bar-90 testing stations were operating
in the Dallas/Fort Worth area. These machines successfully tested an average of 1.6

millions vehicles per year. With a cost of $40,000 per testing apparatus as compared
to $150,000 for each IM240 unit, the Bar-90 test is more economical and has yet
to be proven less effective than the IM240 test. While the IM240 test may be nomi-
nally more effective in detecting the marginal polluter, numerous statistics show
that between 10 and 15 percent of the cars on the road produce 80 percent of the
pollution emitted by automobiles. These cars are the gross polluters, and it would
seem logical to develop a program which would target these cars without inconven-
iencing 85 percent of the public. The Bar-90 testing program in Dallas does exactly

that.

The Bar-90 tests, the improved vehicle maintenance that thev have promoted,
and improved technology of newer vehicles have largely accounted for the dramatic
decrease in air pollutants in the Dallas/Fort Worth metroplex. The Bar-90 test has
proven its effectiveness over a 4-year period, a period much longer than the one the

EPA used to designate the non-attainment areas, yet the EPA still refuses to accept
it as a viable solution to the air contaminant problem.

PROBLEMS RELATING TO THE IM240 TEST IN TEXAS

The EPA has consistently pushed the IM240 testing program as the most effective

and, in many cases, the only method of reducing auto emissions. However, in Sep-
tember, 1992, the same year the EPA was initially forcing States like Texas to come
up with State implementation plans (SIPs) or face economic sanctions in the form
of withholding highway funds (States were later given until November, 1993), the

GAO found numerous problems associated with the IM240 program. The most nota-

ble problem is the fact that of the cars tested by the GAO, 25 percent failed an ini-

tial IM240 test but passed a retest with no repair. In Texas, roughly 4 million vehi-

cles are scheduled to be tested each year. Of these vehicles, 20 percent are expected

to fail ("Air Pollution Threatens the Future of Texas," State-wide ad paid for by
Tejas Testing Technology, L.C., of Texas, p4). This means that 800,000 vehicles will

fail each year and 200,000 of those will fail unnecessarily. If the owners of these

200,000 vehicles spend even half of what the EPA required in the Clean Air Act
of 1990 (CAA) to bring the cars into compliance ($225), that figure would amount
to $45 million. That is $45 million dollars spent for absolutely no reason at all ex-

cept for the colossal stubbornness of the EPA in admitting that flaws exist in their

IM240 plan.

There is also evidence that cars tested using the IM240 test are exposed to great-

er risk of damage than cars which are tested using the Bar-90 tecnnology. In an
IM240 test, cars are placed on a dynamometer which rotates the cars' tires to simu-

late driving conditions of 60 mph. This requires the cars to be secured to the dyna-

mometer by chains and straps. During the short testing period in Texas, numerous
vehicles tested have been reported damaged. Of the vehicles tested during the 3-

week voluntary testing period from December 12 to December 31, 1994, over 100

vehicles were reported aamaged, some of them permanently. This figure does not

include damage to the cars which the customer may not be immediately aware of

This damage includes premature wear on the tires, chipped paint, and stress and
leaks in radiator and gas line and hoses as a result of using a pressure test. Fur-

thermore, many of the hoses which are removed during the IM240 test are damaged
when removed and subsequently replaced in damaged condition. This leads to the

auto leaving the testing center emitting more noxious gasses than before it was test-

ed.

One of the biggest complaints I have heard from my constituents is that the

IM240 test is not convenient. According to some of my constituents, they had to wait

in line for over an hour to have their car tested. The Texas Natural Resources Con-

servation Commission, which oversees the Texas testing program, claims that the

average time would have been 15 minutes once the technicians were more experi-

enced. However, I have heard testimony that in order to comply with OSHA stand-

ards and to complete these tests in an effective fashion it would take almost a half-
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hour to test each car. Furthermore, in Texas the initial testing program was only
offered at 27 facilities in Houston, 25 facilities in the Dallas/Ft. Worth area, three
facilities in Beaumont/Port Arthur, and four facilities in El Paso. Each testing cen-

ter in Houston must test on the average 220 cars per day, and the centers in Dallas
must test over 250 cars per day. Thats roughly 30 cars per hour. Each station has
on the average four testing lanes, which means to handle the amount of cars in need
of testing each lane must test a car every 8 minutes. We've seen repeated data that
the test can barely be conducted in 15 minutes, much less in 8 minutes. So from
the testing's very conception it was not set up as a convenience to the consumer.
The inconvenience of the IM240 program continues to mount in light of the fact

that the test facilities were only open from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. during the week. This
apparently meant that an individual would have to take off work to have their car
tested. Further, in Houston all but one of the testing stations were established in

the suburbs. This means that only one station with approximately four lanes han-
dles the dense inner-city population.

After having to take time off work, travel a sometimes considerable distance, then
wait over an nour, a vehicle owner must then be subjected to the true insanity of
this program—their vehicle's failure. Upon failing, the vehicle has to be repaired at
another location and then has to be retested. The cost to repair a car in Texas was
initially capped at $450 and due to public pressure was lessened to $150. Further-
more, there was no guarantee that a car which failed, and was then supposedly
"fixed", would pass a retest. I have actual documentation of cars which initially

failed one or two of the three noxious gasses for which a car is tested and upon
retesting failed passage for two or all three emissions including those emissions for

which the car had previously passed. In one instance, one of my constituents ini-

tially failed the nitrous oxide section, and after having spent $85 to have their car
fixed failed both the nitrous oxide and hydrocarbon sections of the test. In another
instance reported in the Houston Post, Don Dunick took his 1983 Ford Fairmont
seven times to five different testing centers and never received the same results
(Plesa, "Doubt, confusion cloud future of auto emission test program," December 25,

1994). These findings are consistent with those found in tne GAO report, page 5.

The IM240 test has been sold to the States by the EPA as a foolproof method of

reducing air pollution. The EPA claims the IM240 test is far superior to any other
test. The facts presented in my testimony, in the GAO report, and in a University
of California Irvine study have not shown this fact to be true. The University of

California-Irvine study found that the dynamometer-based tests were only slightly

more effective than tailpipe-based tests, and that "the consequences of this dif-

ference are not large" (Henderson, Reason, March 1994, pi). A radio show host and
a car dealer in Denver found that the differences between the IM240 test and the
Bar-90 test were significant and not in favor of the IM240. They intentionally set

up several cars to fail the IM240 test and then subjected the cars to both tests. The
IM240 test passed all of the cars and the Bar-90 test detected all of them for what
they were, gross polluters (Tillie Fong, "Emissions testing is a scam . .

.," Rocky
Mountain News, January 6, 1995, p32A).
The IM240 is just as susceptible to human and mechanical error as any other test

because just as no two people (therefore no two test operators) are the same, neither
are no two automobiles the same. However, the EPA would like to think that they
are. The EPA categorically requires every municipality in the designated non-attain-

ment zones, with the exception of those in California, to use the same computer-
generated model to evaluate improvements in their air quality. This means that ac-

cording to the computer there's no difference between Boston and Austin. The com-
puter model also relies on preformulated averages which many experts have agreed
are decidedly skewed on the side of the gross polluters. According to Patrick Bedard
in a recent article on auto emissions in Car and Driver, "the average ... in the
case of on-road emissions ... is skewed so far off the middle of the group that it

no longer describes the typical participant. So programs aimed at averages will

never produce the intended results" ("Still Smoggy,' April 1995, pl07). Therefore,

States are stuck in a situation where they are always reaching for an unattainable
goal because the data the goal was based on, and the data tne EPA continues to

insist on using, was flawed.

THE NEED FOR DECENTRALIZED TESTING STATIONS

Auto emissions testing from its conception at the national level by the EPA, to

its implementation at the local level by testing companies such as Tejas Testing
which operates in Texas, is based on the premise that the average American does
not care about the quality of the air they breathe. Not only do they not care about
the air and their environment, they will go to great lengths to circumvent any plan
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put in place to improve the air, the environment, and their quaUty of hfe. The EPA's
assumption behind requiring centraUzed testing stations is that Americans on both
sides of the testing process, the testers and the ones being tested, are inherently

dishonest and will make every attempt to defraud the tests and/or the repair proc-

ess to make or save a few dollars. The EPA's distrust of the average citizen extends
so far that Texas was required to institute a registration-based testing program
which assesses a $.25 fee for every motor vehicle registered in the State. According
to the EPA, this is to assure that residents in non-attainments areas don't register

their cars in areas that don't fall under the SIP. This pervasive distrust on the part

of the EPA is estimated to cost Texans $3.5 million annually.
Once again, the EPA fails to recognize that Americans have gladly been doing

their part to improve air quality. Most notably, consumers spend $2,000 on average
for emissions controls on every new car purchased. The American Automobile Asso-
ciation's report "Clearing the Air" found that automobile's have played a decreasing
role in the production of urban pollutants over the past 25 years and that this fact

"is due primarily to the success of tightening Federal tailpipe emission standards,
cutting hydrocarbon and NOx levels by 96 percent and 76 percent, respectively, over

the past 25 years" ("Clean Air Controls," October 4, 1994, p2). Consumers haven't

revolted against the emissions controls program for cars because it is a program,
unlike the centralized IM240 testing program, that has been proven effective.

Despite the claims by the EPA that the centralized testing facilities are necessary

to combat fraud, there is evidence that the tests conducted by Tejas Testing in

Texas were altered to pass or fail individual vehicles. One of the employees at a

Tejas Testing facility in Dallas relayed to our office events whereby cars were
passed by entering into the computer erroneous information relating to vehicles

mileage, make and model. It's apparent that operators do exert control over the

IM240 test results.

Further compounding the problem is the fact that the testing facilities are unable
to diagnose the source of the emission problem for a particular vehicle. Thus, a cen-

tralized testing program leads to what has been termed the "ping-pong" effect. This

problem too was discovered by the GAO (p2). Owners must travel back and forth

between test and repair facilities in a tireless attempt to be certified. Mechanics at

separate sites must therefore go through a lengthy and costly guessing game to try

and fix a problem they themselves have never seen (see also GAO, p7). This is yet

another reason why decentralized test and repair facilities would better benefit the

public. The car owner would benefit by not having to travel between facilities, and
the mechanic would benefit by being able to immediately retest the car to insure

the car has been brought into compliance.

THE FIFTY-PERCENT CREDIT DEBATE

While the EPA claims it gives States the flexibility in determining their testing

methods, Mike Eastland, Executive Director of the North Central Texas Council of

Governments, contends that "we [in Texas] were never really given a choice" (Dallas

Morning News, January 2, 1995, plOA). Numerous other State officials involved in

the State Implementation Plan (SIP) process echo Mr. Eastland. William H.

Quortrup, an environmental engineer and member of the Texas Air Control Board
in 1993 when it approved centralized testing, says that "We were hammered to go

central . . . We had to accept [centralized testing]. It was wrong. It will always

be wrong" (Loftis, "Residents slam auto emissions testing," Dallas Morning News,
March 11, 1995). Tarrant County Commissioner Marti VanRavenswaay, who serves

as the chair of the North Central Texas Council of Government's clean-air panel,

contends that local officials were also forced into using centralized testing, despite

the fact that they "had the right idea the first time" in implementing decentralized

tests ("Residents slam . . .") such as the Bar-90 tests which were so successful in

Commissioner VanRavenswaay's county and Dallas Countv.
The EPA system rates each air pollutant reduction method using a credit system.

Each non-attainment area must have a certain number of credits to come into com-

pUance. The centralized testing method is rated so heavily that many areas, Texas
included, had no choice but to use it so that they would have enough credits to sat-

isfy the EPA's requirements. This is despite the fact that, according to John Hall,

chairman of the TNRCC, some areas could meet Federal standards without the

stringent centralized testing program (Plesa, "EPA to give States more leeway on
emission tests," Houston Post, December 10, 1994).

The EPA has also said in the past they will not give Texas full credit for any test-

ing program which is not centralized. Thus, if hard, scientific data collected during

a 1-year period showed emission levels down by 20 percent, the EPA would only

give Texas credit for a 10-percent reduction. This is yet another example of how the



108

EPA intentionally skews data so States are forced to comply with their regulations
and implementation plans.

The refusal of the EPA to give Texas full credit for decentralized tests other than
IM240 has resulted in a major loss of revenue for many small business previously
involved in the successful Bar-90 test program. Some of these businesess have had
to lay off as many as eight or ten employees. Prior to 1995, Texas' commitment to

clean air in the form of investment in Bar-90 and Bar-84 test machinery totaled
some $21 million (data reported by State Representative Elvira Reyna in a letter

to U.S. Representative Sam Johnson, February 21, 1995). The cost of State inspec-
tion stickers has also been reduced by almost $10 to offset the $23 charge for the
IM240 testing and make the testing program more palatable to consumers. Approxi-
mately 1,300 small businesses are involved in the decentralized State inspection
testing program (Reyna), and with this reduction in inspection fees the income these
businesses can generate from inspection stickers has been cut in half. The central-
ized testing system has confused motorists who do not know if they need to continue
getting annual safety inspections or not. Furthermore, according to many a garage
owner, centralized testing "has threatened their financial survival" (Loftis, "New
emissions plan may decentralize tests," Dallas Morning News, February 11, 1995).
Auto emissions testing has been touted as a necessary reform that will help busi-
ness, but how can anybody tell me that cutting a business' earning potential in half,

or closing down that business, is helpful?
In addition to not granting full credit for decentralized testing sites, the EPA has

told our TNRCC that they would give Texas fewer emission reduction credits if the
cars which failed were not repaired by "certified emissions technicians". I have
heard from many a mechanic who feel that a number of the cars which fail don't
need to be repaired at all. Even technicians at the testing facilities have told cus-
tomers that if they were to drive their cars around so that their catalytic converters
can get hot their car's would pass. Therefore, many of these cars can come into com-
pliance with minimal repairs like changing the car's oil and/or spark plugs. To re-

quire that all repairs be done by a certified technician is ridiculous. It should make
no difference who repairs the vehicle so long as the car complies with set emission
standards. Again, it is the EPA who required the usage of certified technicians be-
cause of their inherent fear that any mechanic not certified would defraud the test-

ing system, yet I have already given evidence that "certified" testing technicians de-
frauded the system by entering erroneous data into the test computer.

REMOTE SENSING TECHNOLOGY AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO THE IM240 TEST

Despite the encouraging downward trend in air pollution since the mid-1970's,
the EPA has insisted that States implement an onerous and irrational testing pro-

gram which uses IM240 equipment. What the EPA wants to do is hunt squirrels
with the 4th Armored Division. Why? Because it seemed like the best idea in 1990.
Only now we're 4 years down the road and technology has changed dramatically.
As early as 1992, the GAO found that two-speed dynamometer procedures used in

IM240 tests "are not effective in measuring emissions from . . . vehicles because
they do not simulate actual driving conditions" (p4). What newer technologies exist

that would clean the air and be consumer friendly? If the EPA gets its way. States
may never know because they are given no credits or monetary incentives to try

new programs such as using remote sensing and instituting programs to salvage ve-

hicles which are gross polluters and have proven to be irreparable. Only recently
has the EPA acknowledged that remote sensing technology, which does use actual
driving conditions, could receive reduction credits. EPA's "head in the sand" ap-

proach to these initiatives does not help States who are trying to improve the air

quality without unduly burdening their citizens. Again, we can all agree that clean
air is the objective; however. Federal micromanaging is not the solution.

The EPA claims that it has provided the States with flexibility under the Clean
Air Act, yet I hardly call allowing the use of remote sensing technology .5 percent
of the time in Texas flexible when the remote sensors have the capability of testing

1,000 cars per hour with little inconvenience to the motorist. Remote sensing tech-

nology has the capability to test the vehicles in a real-world situation. According to

proponents of remote sensors, they would test each car approximately six times per
year as opposed to the once every other year format of the IM240 test. Nearly every-
one can see that testing a car 12 times in a 2-year period is much more likely to

catch instances of high emission than testing that same car only once in 2 years.

Everyone, that is, except the EPA which refuses to admit real-world data and con-

tinues to hold States to their flawed computer models.
By weighing each possible solution differently from State to State the EPA has

forced States like Texas to adopt programs which will not garner public support. As



109

a State official, I have a hard time facing my constituents and telhng them that

there is a less oppressive program that will reach compliance but that we can't im-
plement it because some bureaucrat in Washington contends that they know what
IS best for Texas. Most importantly, in this technologically advanced age of media,
news travels fast. Citizens in Texas know that as of March 13, 1995, two States are

suing the EPA over the testing program mandates. They know that at least five

States are resisting implementing the IM240 program, and that of these five States,

two, New Jersey in particular, have made no attempts to even submit SIPs ("Inspec-

tion/Maintenance Programs: A State-by-State Analysis," American Legislative Ex-
change Council, March 13, 1995, p4-5). In the case of New Jersey, the EPA has not
followed through by imposing sanctions. Citizens in Texas see that other States are

not being punished for not following along with the EPA and they write to my office

saying that in actuality, Texans are being punished more for doing what they were
supposed to do. Why should a car driver in Texas have to wait in long lines, make
numerous trips between stations, and spend money on unnecessary repairs when
someone in New Jersey or Vermont or Maine or Virginia, States with as many emis-
sions problems as Texas, does not have to? The EPA's unequal treatment of the

States has led to the massive public outcry against the IM240 testing program im-
plemented in Texas, and I for one cannot disagree with a single voice out there who
refuses to take such treatment from the Federal Government.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

I would like to conclude my testimony by repeating several key facts. Since 1988,

emissions pollution has dropped by 40 percent in Houston and by 80 percent in Dal-

las/Fort Worth. Publicly supported, decentralized, inspection-based Bar-90 tests

have been proven effective in reducing air contaminants in Dallas/Fort Worth.
IM240 tests have not been proven significantly more effective than Bar-90 tests, but
have instead been proven susceptible to operator error, vehicle damage, and burden-
some time constraints placed on vehicle owners. Additionally, centralized testing

has not been proven more effective than decentralized testing, but has instead

added mass confusion to the testing process by necessitating that vehicle owners
make at least three separate trips between test and repair facilities if their vehicle

fai' . Last, the EPA has weighed the reduction credits structure heavily in favor of

centralized testing and has given Texas no leeway in pursuing other options such

as the already effective Bar-90 tests and the newer remote sensing technology.

I have spoken with Governor Bush and he has continually requested more flexibil-

ity from the EPA with regards to implementing a testing program in Texas which
will be given full credit. A stringent, EPA-mandated program will not be deemed
successful if it requires more sacrifice from our already overburdened businesses

and taxpayers. Contrary to the EPA's belief citizens have willingly gone along with

many efforts to improve the quality of the air around them. They pay more for new,

efficient cars, and, in the Dallas area, they submitted their vehicles to a yearly in-

spection. Again, let me emphasize that the programs we have in place are already

reducing emission levels and will continue to do so in the future because they have

f;arnered the public support. Any program, such as the EPA-mandated centralized

M240 tests, embarked upon without the public support is certainly doomed to fail-

ure and we can all agree that failure in the area of improved air quality is an option

none of us can live with.

Statement of the Steve Kopperud, Senior Vice President, American Feed
Industry Association

The American Feed Industry Association (AFIA) applauds you and your sub-

committee for holding today's oversight hearing on inspection and maintenance pro-

grams required under the Federal Clean Air Act (CAA). We wish this to be AFIA's
formal submission for the record of the hearing.

AFIA is the national trade association representing more than 70 percent of the

primary formula livestock and poultry feed sold annually in the U.S. AFIA's more
than 730 member companies also include the suppliers of feed ingredients, aniinal

drugs, equipment, as well as companies providing goods and services to the feed in-

dustry. AFIA companies represent more than 3,000 facilities in all 50 States, em-
plojdng more than 175,000 people. By Federal definition, nearly 85 percent of

AFIA's members are small businesses.

AFIA has been active over the years in working to make implementation of the

Federal CAA practical for our member facilities. In the last year, for instance, AFIA
has participated in three major Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) rule-

makings. We are also active in a number of coalitions which bring together indus-



110

tries and individual companies with a common goal of practical application of the
CAA.
AFlA's comments to the subcommittee will focus on four areas of EPA/CAA in-

spection and maintenance pro-am standards. These are the following:

1. Potential versus actual emissions;
2. AP-42 (Air Pollution Emission Factors);

3. Field Citation Program, and
4. Regulations governing awards under Sec. 113 of the CAA.
In addition, AFIA will comment in support of S. 490, an amendment to the CAA

by Sen. Charles Grassley (R-IA), that recognizes not only the unique nature of agri-

cultural facilities as they are regulated under the CAA, but also addresses serious
flaws in the CAA rulemaking which holds these facilities to unrealistic standards.

POTENTIAL VS. ACTUAL EMkSSIONS

The CAA amendments of 1990 established new thresholds and emission goals for

all major air pollutants. All facilities which emit pollutants over established thresh-
olds are subject to new technology and permit requirements. These major sources
of air pollutants are defined by their "potential" to emit, not their "actual" emis-
sions.

AFIA believes the 1990 amendments are seriously flawed in this regard, and cre-

ate unattainable compliance criteria for industry. Many, if not all, feed mill and
grain elevator facilities in the U.S. are affected by this classic example of theoretical

worst case" risk, all based upon a facility's potential to emit particulant matter of

10 microns or smaller (PMIO).
Most of these feed mills and grain elevators do not come close to qualifying under

CAA Title V definitions, based on actual emissions. However, these facilities are
forced into expensive, unnecessary and time-consuming compliance processes and
paperwork based on the assumption they operate 24 hours a day, 365 days per year,
without any emission controls. It would be difficult to find such a facility in the feed
industry.
AFIA's calculations-based upon operations of the largest feed mills in the country-

reveal actual emissions to be less than 25 tons per year (TPY) of PMIO. However,
if these same plants were to operate without emission controls, and at full capacity
continuously, their potential emissions would exceed 1,500 TPY of PMIO. These con-

ditions are totally unrealistic. Mature market conditions, along with the use of rou-

tine state-of-the-art engineering controls, prevent these facilities from achieving
these potentials.

For the reasons stated above, AFIA strongly supports S. 490, an amendment to

the CAA introduced by Sen. Charles Grassley (R-IA). Rep. Jim Nussle (R-IA) has
introduced identical legislation in the House. The Grassley amendment corrects the
"potential-versus-actual" inequity of the CAA by providing regulatory relief for feed,

grain, or rice mills, grain elevators, and grain processing facilities.

5. 490 gives specific direction to EPA to use realistic criteria when determining
if grain-handling facilities are required to obtain operating permits and pay fees

under the CAA amendments of 1990.

As noted, EPA requires agricultural facilities to calculate emissions as if they op-

erate 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. S. 490 would require EPA to acknowledge
the "maximum realistic operation" of facilities. The maximum realistic operation of

a facility incorporates seasonal shifts—unique, in many cases, to agricultural facili-

ties-and is based on actual hours of operation.

S. 490 would also assist agricultural facilities subject to EPA's new source per-

formance standards and operating permits. Currently, any agricultural facility

—

with more than 2.5 million bushels of storage capacity—is subject to EPA's source
performance standards regardless of how much grain it actually handles, the sea-

sonal nature of its business, or its dust control processes. In addition, any facility

subject to EPA's new source performance standards is automatically required to ob-

tain an operating permit. S. 490 exempts "non-major" source facilities from these
unrealistic standards and permits.
AFIA strongly supports Sen. Grassley's efforts to provide for realistic measure-

ments, not theoretical ones. S. 490 corrects regulation which is unnecessary and
without scientific basis. At the very least, regulations must be based on real-world

operating characteristics of these facilities.

Compounding this problem is the fact many States regulate air pollutants using
Total Suspended Particulants (TSP) as the measurement of CAA emissions. TSP,
which is calculated by weight, is a much larger measure. Using TSP almost auto-

matically causes all operating facilities with air emissions to quality as major
sources. In fact, some States set the major source threshold levels below 100 TPY.
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For example, Minnesota sets its threshold at 25 tons of TSP. This qualifies virtually

every facility within the State as a major air pollution source.

Some have suggested an alternative automatic major source classification would
be the use of the synthetic minor permit, which specifically limits allowable emis-

sions to a declared maximum per facility. This permit scheme would apply limita-

tions to annual emissions. However, in reality this system works no better, if only

because of the costs involved.

For example, in Indiana, Synthetic minor permits cost $3,000 in application fees,

plus $1,500 in fees each year. AFIA estimates there are approximately 400 feed

mills in Indiana Application fees plus first-year permit fees would total $1.8 million

in this State alone. The domestic feed industry can't afford the cumulative effect of

these fees, especially since the industry's emissions record demonstrates no harm
to humans or the environment.
The subcommittee must also understand that any regulation which increases the

cost of production to a feed company, automatically increases the cost of production

to that company's farmer customers. Given that feed represents 70 percent of the

on-farm cost of producing meat, milk and eggs, any increased production cost trans-

lates to higher food prices at the supermarket .

AP-42 (AIR POLLUTANT EMISSION FACTORS)

AFIA believes the use of TSP criteria by the States and the resulting conclusion

that surrounds State administration of the CAA amendments of 1990 is due in large

to the lack of scientific data quantifying emission levels from various point sources.

EPA, at its facility in Research Triangle Park, NC, publishes an air emissions doc-

ument, AP-42, for various industries, including grain elevators and grain processing

plants. Currently, many of the factors contained in the document are outdated, and

not representative of routine control technologies used today.

AFIA believes these factors to be archaic and over-stated, causing emission cal-

culations to also be over-stated, and quantifying many facilities falsely as major

sourcGS.

In addition, most of the data contained in AP-42 is for TSP, not PMIO. States

are using the TSP emission factors to calculate emissions rather than basing major

source classification on PMIO simply because they have not been provided better

numbers. Congress requires EPA to regulate PMIO; however, EPA has no PMIO
emission factors which can be applied. EPA is forced to use the next "best" factors-

the outdated, archaic, and artificially high emission factors for TSP.
In essence, Congress required Federal and State EPAs to enforce air emission

standards which cannot be administered effectively. At the same time, this bureau-

cratic catch-22 places regulated industry in an automatically "guilty" status based

upon theoretical levels of emission.

AFIA has been working with EPA, Research Triangle Park, in its efforts to re-

draft AP-42 to bring it in line with contemporary technologies. However, sample

data simply does not exist. Stack tests are very expensive to conduct, and there is

no incentive for industry to proceed with such testing if the Federal and State ad-

ministration of the program remains confused at best.

EPA should work with industry to find incentives—tax credits, etc.—to establish

point source testing programs in affected industries to create the data that will re-

store confidence in AP-42. Then, and only then, should the States move forward

with permit applications, using current and accurate PMIO emission factors as the

basis for determining what facility qualifies as a major source of air pollutants.

FIELD CITATION PROGRAM

EPA published a proposed rule on May 3, 1994, to adopt a program for the issu-

ance of citations resulting from minor violations of the CAA. This would create an

inspection and abatement program similar to that of the Occupational Safety &
Health Administration (OSHA).
AFIA responded to the rulemaking with comments stating the proposed penalties

are too extreme for so-called minor violations. It is inevitable inconsistencies in en-

forcement will result due to discretion being used in determining which violations

are minor and the associated level of fines. Pre-hearing conferences, similar to those

used by OSHA, should be a routine step in the review process, and not left to the

discretion of the EPA area administrator.
AFIA recommended that, if promulgated, EPA must develop a list of minor viola-

tions and corresponding penalties. This list should be published and made available

for public review and comment. This will enable all States to administer the pro-

gram equitably.
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REGULATIONS GOVERNING AWARDS UNDER SEC. 113 OF THE CAA

In the same proposed rule (May 3, 1994), EPA proposed authorizing the EPA ad-
ministrator to accept petitions and to pay citizens who "blow the whistle" on indus-
trial violators of the CAA.
AFIA believes concerned citizens will report CAA violations without the Federal

Government offering "bounties." AFIA responded to the rulemaking, commenting
that such a "bounty hunter" provision would encourage volumes of so-called peti-

tions to be filed, with many making false accusations for any number of reasons un-
related to protecting the environment. This would require government and industry
to spend valuable time and money researching the validity of such petitions.

Industry has been victimized by false complaints in regulatory enforcement in the
past. Regarding OSHA compliance, OSHA's own numbers show more than 30 per-
cent of all complaint inspections performed uncover no violations, and more than 50
percent find no willful, repeat, or serious violations. This occurs without the incen-
tive of a "bounty." EPA must avoid the same costly enforcement mistake.
AFIA has recommended to EPA that enforcement dollars would be better spent

through planned and targeted inspections. AFIA has also long held that cooperative,
negotiated rulemaking between the enforcement agency and the regulated industry
is far more efficient—-Doth for the government and the industry—than the adversar-
ial relationship which currently exists.

AFIA appreciates the Subcommittee's consideration of its views during this impor-
tant oversight process. Please feel free to contact us at any point where we may be
of additional assistance.

Statement of the National Automobile Dealers Assocl\tion

The National Automobile Dealers Association (NADA) is a national trade associa-
tion representing almost 20,000 franchised automobile and truck dealers, who are
primarily engaged in the retail sale of new and used motor vehicles, both foreign
and domestically produced.
NADA member dealerships are directly impacted by EPA's inspection and mainte-

nance (I/M) proposal to the extent that they perform inspections, service and repair
emission-control systems, and sell emissions-related parts and equipment. Dealers
share the goal of achieving strong, well-administered I/M programs that will make
an important contribution to air quality. NADA is committed to working with EPA
in an attempt to develop appropriate and reasonable performance standards, and
has urged EPA to provide States with the maximum possible flexibility to adopt a
decentralized "enhanced" I/M program.

LOW ENHANCED PERFORMANCE STANDARD

NADA applauds EPA's proposal for a new "low enhanced" performance standard.
This revised proposal will prove helpful to two distinct groups: (1) the Northeast
Ozone Transport Region (OTR) since within an OTR enhanced I/M is required if the
population exceeds 100,000 people, regardless of their attainment status, and (2)

areas where opting to implement low enhanced I/M could provide the extra credit

toward reaching and maintaining attainment (for example Utah).

HIGH ENHANCED PERFORMANCE STANDARD

NADA also supports EPA's proposal to provide more flexibility in the "high en-

hanced" performance standards and supports the requirement of a visual compo-
nents check. Flexibility on this issue will enable many areas to implement workable
and politically acceptable programs capable of meeting clean air goals.

While NADA supports EPA's recent willingness to be flexible, several outstanding
issues have not been fully and adequately addressed. Providing true flexibility re-

quires that EPA:
• Eliminate or reduce the 50-percent credit penalty for decentralized, test and re-

pair programs. Recent studies conducted by the California I/M Review Commit-
tee and Georgia Tech suggest this is an arbitrary and unjustified penalty. The
elimination or reduction of this penalty could benefit several States working
hard to achieve their clean air goals.

• Allow States flexibility to adopt "high enhanced" performance standards based
on test equipment other than I/M 240 and test networks and other than central-

ized, test-only. EPA should circumscribe the universe of test equipment options
and issue technical guidelines for those options as soon as possible.

• Provide credit for and encourage high emitter profiling. Effectively using infor-

mation to target those segments of the in-use vehicle fleet most likely to con-
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tribute to excess emission will save State resources and reduce public burdens,
thereby helping to achieve clean air goals in a more politically acceptable man-
ner.

• Issue detailed regulations on steady State, loaded mode testing equipment (i.e.,

ASM, RG-240, etc.).

• Recognize State programs designed to reduce I/M program intrusiveness. These
include:
• randomly selecting less than 100 percent of the in-use fleet subject to

I/M testing;

• properly administering remote sensing programs; or
• incorporating an On Board Diagnostics (OBD) III concept.

• Require those States electing to implement centralized I/M testing to pretest

those programs using government and non-government fleets for pilot testing.

Limited "trial runs" for public vehicle fleets are necessary to ensure that pro-

grams operate at peak performance before they open to the public.

WAIVERS

NAX)A takes exception to EPA's proposal to delay and reduce the $450 waiver re-

quirement. It is illogical for EPA to fine tune test networks and equipment type only
to make it easy for people whose vehicles fail these tests to obtain waivers.
EPA should not focus on delaying the implementation of the statutory waiver re-

quirement or expanding the availability of hardship exemptions. Instead, the rule

should bolster the use of "cash for clunker" programs and other market-based incen-

tives designed to either get these vehicles fixed or get them off the road. For exam-
ple, for low income households, assistance could be available from stationary sources
and other regulated entities. Businesses could receive an appropriate emissions re-

duction credit in return for repairing vehicles, consistent with President Clinton's

Number 1 item of the 25 most important environmental regulation reinvent ion pri-

orities.

NADA favors EPA's proposal to allow pre-inspection repairs to count toward the
waiver amount. This change would make the waiver accessible to the motorist who
spends money keeping the vehicle running clean all the time and in anticipation of

an I/M test.

OTHER ISSUES AND CONCLUSION

NADA supports EPA's proposal to allow additional credit for technician training

and certification. At the same time, EPA should take steps in its final regulation

to stress that under no circumstances should technician training and/or any particu-

lar technician training curricula be made mandatory.
NADA also supports EPA's proposals on simplified evaporative emission testing.

NADA generally supports the proposals to raise the population "floor" for basic

I/M and redesignation of nonatainment areas.

NADA understands that the most critical element to a successful I/M program is

public acceptance. EPA should aggressively pursue its public information/public edu-

cation initiatives. Greater efforts in this area will help to build public support for

I/M programs.
In conclusion, it is NADA's position that EPA has sufficient authority to make the

modifications that will result in I/M programs that are more acceptable to the

States, industry, and the public. If EPA adequately addresses these important is-

sues. Federal legislative action will likely prove unnecessary.
NADA thanks Senator Faircloth and the Clean Air, Wetlands, Private Property

and Nuclear Safety Subcommittee for the opportunity to present written testimony
on this matter.
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